
CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Conference Room, Fifth Floor, 121 N. 9th Street 
July 18, 2016 12:00 p.m. 

 
A G E N D A 

 
I.   CALL TO ORDER…………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Hale 
 
II.  AGENDA CHANGES/ADDITIONS………….………………………......................................Chairman Hale 
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA 
 A. Expenses 

1. Approval of Paid Invoice Report – June 2016 
 

      B. Minutes and Reports 
      1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from May 9, 2016 
      2. Approval of Meeting Minutes from June 13, 2016 

 
 C. Other 

1. Approval of Resolution 1454 Approving Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC T1 Participation  
Agreement (NTE $65,000; Board Reviewed 06/13/2016)  

 
 
IV. ACTION ITEMS  

A. CONSIDER: Resolution 1453 Environmental Remediation Reimbursement Agreement- For 
remediation at 620 S. 9th Street (10 minutes)………… ………………………………….Shellan Rodriguez 
 
B. CONSIDER: Resolution 1455 T3 Transformative Assistance Participation Agreement and 
Purchase and Sale Agreement with  BVGC Parcel B, LLC (20 
minutes)……………………………..…………………………………….............................Shellan Rodriguez 
 
 

V. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

A. Operations Report (5 minutes)…………………………………………..……………..John Brunelle 
 
B. Updated Parking Garage Design Standards (10 minutes)…………………………..Max Clark 
 

 
 

VI. ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This meeting is being conducted in a location accessible to those with physical disabilities. Participants may request 
reasonable accommodations, including but not limited to a language interpreter, from CCDC to facilitate their 
participation in the meeting. For assistance with accommodation, contact CCDC at 121 N 9th St, Suite 501 or (208) 
384-4264 (TTY Relay 1-800-377-3529) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12:05 
 
 
 
 
 
12:15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12:35 
 
 
12:40 

 
 
 
12:50 
 
 

 

 

 

















MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
121 N. 9th St., Conference Room 

Boise, ID 83702 
May 9, 2016 12:00 p.m. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  
 
Chairman Hale convened the meeting with a quorum at 12:04 p.m. 
 
Present were: Commissioner David Eberle, Commissioner Dana Zuckerman, Commissioner Pat 
Shalz, Commissioner Stacy Pearson, Commissioner Ryan Woodings, Commissioner Lauren 
McLean, and Commissioner John Hale. Commissioner Bieter was absent. 
 
Agency staff members present were: John Brunelle, Executive Director; Todd Bunderson, 
Development Director; Max Clark, Parking and Facilities Director; Mary Watson, Contracts 
Manager; Doug Woodruff, Project Manager; Shellan Rodriguez, Project Manager; Matt Edmond, 
Project Manager; Karl Woods, Project Manager; Laura Williams, Project Specialist;  Sarah 
Jones, Administrative Assistant, Deah LaFollette, Executive Assistant. Also present was Agency 
legal counsel, Ryan Armbruster. 
 
II. AGENDA CHANGES/ADDITIONS: 
There were no changes/additions to the agenda. 
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA: 
Commissioner Eberle moved to approve the consent agenda. Commissioner Shalz seconded 
the motion. 
 
The consent agenda included: 
 

A. Expenses 
1. Approval of Paid Invoice Report – April 2016 

  
B. Minutes & Reports 

1.  Approval of Meeting Minutes from March 29, 2016 
2. Approval of Meeting Minutes from April 11, 2016 

  
C. Other 

1. Approval of Resolution 1441 Approval of T1 Participation Agreement for 
Riverstone Building (NTE $43,000, Board Reviewed 4/11/2016) 

 
2. Approval of Resolution 1442 Approval of T1 Participation Agreement for Idaho 

Self Storage (NTE $30,000, Board Reviewed 4/11/2016) 

 
3. Approval of Resolution 1443 Approval of T1 Participation Agreement for 

Paulsen Building (NTE $150,000, Board Reviewed 12/14/2015) 
  
Commissioner McLean abstained from voting on Resolution 1443 Approval of T1 Participation 
Agreement for Paulsen Building 
 



All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
 
IV. ACTION ITEMS  
 
A. Resolution of Commendation for Board Service 
 
Chairman Hale and Board Commissioners thanked outgoing board Commissioners Lauren 
McLean and David Eberle, for their service on the CCDC Board of Directors.  
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to approve Resolution 1447 and 1448. Commissioner Shalz 
seconded the motion. 
 
The motion carried 7-0.  
 
B. CONSIDER: Q2/YTD Thru March 31, 2016 Financial Report 
 
Ross Borden, Finance Director, gave a report 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to accept the year-to-date Financial Report through the 
second quarter of the current fiscal year, 2016. Commissioner  Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
C. CONSIDER: Ada County Assessor’s Annual Report 
 
Bob McQuade, Ada County Assessor, gave a report. 
 
No action required.  
 
D. CONSIDER: Public Hearing for Revised Garage Naming Policy 
 
Chairman Hale opened the public comment period at 12:27p.m. There were no public 
comments. Chairman Hale closed the public comment period at 12:33p.m. 
 
E. CONSIDER: Resolution 1445 Adopting Revised Garage Naming Policy 
 
Max Clark, Parking & Facilities Director, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to approve Resolution #1445 adopting a revised garage 
naming policy; and changing the names of the six public parking garages owned by CCDC to 
the intersection based names suggested. Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
F. CONSIDER: CCDC Capital Improvement Plan 2016-2020 Amendment 
 
Todd Bunderson, Development Director, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to approve the CIP Amendment as presented. Commissioner   
Shalz seconded the motion. 



 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
G. CONSIDER: Resolution 1440 Approve the Grove Plaza Renovation CMGC Contract 
Amendments: GMP-2 Additional Pre-construction Services and CMP-3 The Guaranteed 
Maximum Price for Construction Services 
 
Doug Woodruff, Project Manager, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution 1440, approving Amendment No.2 and 
Amendment No.3 to the CMGC Contract with McAlvain Construction. Commissioner Eberle 
seconded the motion.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
H. CONSIDER: Resolution 1414 Master Agreement By and Between Greater Boise 
Auditorium District and Capital City Development Corp 
 
Doug Woodruff, Project Manager, gave a report 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution 1414, approving the Master Agreement 
by and between the Capital City Development Corp. and Greater Boise Auditorium District. 
Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
I. CONSIDER: Resolution 1444 Approval of T2 and T4 Participation Agreement for public 
improvements associated with the proposed Apartments at 5th & Idaho 
 
Shellan Rodriguez, Project Manager, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution No. 1444 Approval of Type 2 General 
Assistance Participation Agreement and Type 4 Public Private Partnership Participation 
Agreement for the 5th and Idaho Apartments. Commissioner  seconded the motion.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
J. CONSIDER: Resolution 1412 Approval of T3 Participation Agreement for Simplot/JUMP 
 
Matt Edmond, Project Manager, gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to adopt Resolution No. 1412 authorizing the execution of the 
Type 3 Transformative Assistance Participation Agreement for the JR Simplot Company Offices 
and JUMP project. Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion.  
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 
K. CONSIDER: Resolution 1446 Approving the Termination Agreement and Mutual 
Release between CCDC and Civic Partners. 
 
John Brunelle, Executive Director, gave a report. 



 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved the adoption of Resolution 1446 approving the Termination 
Agreement and Mutual Release between Civic Partners, CCDC, and Ada County. 
Commissioner Eberle seconded the motion. 
 
All said Aye. The motion carried 7-0. 
 

V. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

A. Operations Report 
  
John Brunelle, CCDC Executive Director, gave a report. 
 
B. Strategic Parking Plan Summary & Next Steps 
 
Max Clark, CCDC Parking & Facilities Director, gave a report. 
  
VI. ADJOURN  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by 
Commissioner Zuckerman to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Shalz seconded the motion.   
 
All said Aye. The meeting was adjourned at 1:37p.m. 
 
 

- - - - 
 

 
ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION ON THE ____ day of _________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
John Hale, Chair 

 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Pat Shalz, Secretary 

 
 



MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
121 N. 9th St., Conference Room 

Boise, ID 83702 
June 13, 2016 12:00 p.m. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  
 
Chairman Hale convened the meeting with a quorum at 12:02 p.m. 
 
Present were: Commissioner David Scot Ludwig, Commissioner Dana Zuckerman, 
Commissioner Pat Shalz, Commissioner Ben Quintana, Commissioner Ryan Woodings, 
Commissioner Maryanne Jordan, Commissioner David Bieter, and Commissioner John Hale. 
Commissioner Pearson was absent. 
 
Agency staff members present were: John Brunelle, Executive Director; Todd Bunderson, 
Development Director; Max Clark, Parking and Facilities Director; Mary Watson, Contracts 
Manager; Doug Woodruff, Project Manager; Shellan Rodriguez, Project Manager; Matt Edmond, 
Project Manager; Karl Woods, Project Manager; Laura Williams, Project Specialist;  Sarah 
Jones, Administrative Assistant, Deah LaFollette, Executive Assistant. Also present was Agency 
legal counsel, Ryan Armbruster. 
 
II. AGENDA CHANGES/ADDITIONS: 
 
There were no changes.  
 
Chairman Hale welcomed three newly appointed Commissioners to the CCDC Board of 
Directors. Commissioner Maryanne Jordan, Commissioner Scot Ludwig, and Commissioner 
Ben Quintana. 
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA: 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to approve the consent agenda. Commissioner Shalz 
seconded the motion. Motion carried 8-0 
 
The consent agenda included: 
 

A. Expenses 
1. Approval of Paid Invoice Report – May 2016 

   
B. Other 

1. Approval of Resolution 1449 Approving Amended Professional Service 
Agreement for Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Architects, LLP (Add $49,962; original 

contract June 2015) 

 
2. Approval of Resolution 1450 Approving the First Amendment of the T3 

Agreement  with The Roost Project, LLC for Broad Street Improvements 
(Reduce by $95,000;  Board Approved T3 Agreement August 10, 2015) 

 



3. Approval of Resolution 1451 T4 Agreement Amendment for City of Boise Broad 
Street Geothermal Extension (NTE $500,000; original agreement May 12, 2015) 

 
4. Approval of Resolution 1452 Approving Amendment to the CM/GC Contract 

with Guho Corp. for Early Procurement of Geothermal Pipe and Fittings for 
Broad Street (NTE $288,690;  original CM/GC Contract executed March 27, 2016) 

 
 
IV. ACTION ITEMS  
 
A. CONSIDER: Designation of BVCG Parcel B, LLC as a Type 3 Project 
 
Todd Bunderson, CCDC Development Director, gave a report. Dave Wali, Gardner Company, 
and Jeff Wardle, Gardner Company also gave a report. 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to designate this project as a Type 3 special assistance 
project and direct staff to negotiate the finalized terms for the proposed BVCG Parcel B for 
future Board review and approval. Commissioner Shalz seconded. 
 
The motion carried 8-0  
 
 
B. CONSIDER: Designation of Clairvoyant Brewery, LLC as a Type 1 Project 
 
Shellan Rodriguez, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report 
 
Commissioner Zuckerman moved to direct staff to negotiate a Type 1 Participation Agreement 
for the proposed Clairvoyant Brewery, LLC for future Board review and approval. Commissioner 
Shalz seconded the motion.  
 
The motion carried 8-0 
 
 
V. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

A. Hayman House conveyance/Ash Street RFQ outline  
Shellan Rodriguez, CCDC Project Manager, gave a report 
 
B. Transportation Action Plan   
Max Clark, CCDC Parking & Facilities Manager, gave a report. Daren Fluke of the City 
Comprehensive Planning Team also gave a report. 
 
C. Parking Strategic Plan Updates 
Max Clark, CCDC Parking & Facilities Manager, gave a report 
 
D. Operations Report 
John Brunelle, CCDC Executive Director, gave a report. 
 
VI. ADJOURN  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:02p.m. 



- - - - 
 
ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION ON THE ____ day of _________________, 2016. 
 
 

_________________________________ 
John Hale, Chair 

 
_________________________________ 

Pat Shalz, Secretary 



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

Agenda Subject: 
Resolution No. 1454 
 
Approval of the Type 1 Streetscape Grant Participation Agreement for 
Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC reimbursement of public streetscape 
improvements for a brewery and tasting room retrofit located at 2800 W. 
Idaho Street in the 30th Street Area URD. 
 

Date: 
 
7/18/16 

Staff Contact: 
Shellan Rodriguez 

Attachments: 
1) Resolution No. 1454 

 
Action Requested: 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 1454 approving and authorizing the execution of the Type 1 Streetscape 
Grant Participation Agreement with Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC.   
 
 
Background: 
Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC is renovating a building into a brewery and tasting room on 
the corner of Idaho and 28th street in the 30th Street Area URD (West End). The building’s 
previous use was an auto repair and glass shop. The brewery will be approximately 3,800 SF 
will include a 5-barrel brewing area, 27-seat tasting room, an outdoor patio, and two offices.  

Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC is requesting CCDC participation through the Type 1 
Streetscape Grant Program for public streetscape improvements on West Idaho Street and 28th 
Street for approximately $65,000. Improvements include lighting, landscaping, and sidewalks. 
The streetscapes are designed to be consistent with the City Streetscape Standards Manual 
and they will be using the specified West End Furnishings. 

The Type 1 Program is designed to help smaller projects and is intended to “assist smaller 
projects on their own schedule often triggered by tenant improvements.” This is the first Type 1 
Application for the West End, and the project fits the program’s intentions as well as meets the 
Master Plan goals for the West End. The redevelopment of this smaller property helps build 
neighborhood character, an important aspect of the West End plan, will expand employment 
opportunities in the area, and will provide a fun and lively pedestrian experience. 

Project Summary & Timeline: 
- Located 2800 W. Idaho Street (30th Street Area URD/ West End) 
- 3,800 SF for brewery, tasting room, and offices 
- 3 surface parking spaces 
- $415,000 in Total Development Costs 
- February 2016: Approved, Design Review (streetscapes and grain silo construction)   



Page 2 
 

- September 2015: Building Permits issued (interior renovation) 
- June 13, 2016: CCDC Board designated at Type 1 Project 
- Fall 2016: Estimated Completion 
- July 2017: Agreement term ends (12 months from contract date) 

Fiscal Notes:  
Preliminary information indicates the project will be requesting approximately $65,000. 

This request falls within the budgeted amount for Type 1 Streetscape Grants specified in the 
2016-2020 CIP in the River Myrtle District for FY 2016.  

Preliminary estimates indicate the project will generate approximately $1,343 annually in tax 
increment revenue after completion beginning in fiscal 2018, with a total of approximately 
$21,492 over the life of the district. 

Staff Recommendation: 
Adopt Resolution No. 1454 approving and authorizing the execution of the Type 1 Streetscape 
Grant Participation Agreement with Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC.   

 
Suggested Motion: 
I move to adopt Resolution No. 1454 approving and authorizing the execution of the Type 1 
Streetscape Grant Participation Agreement with Clairvoyant Brewing Company LLC.   
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1454 - 1  

RESOLUTION NO.  1454 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE 
CITY, IDAHO:   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, 
APPROVING THE TYPE 1 PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE AGENCY AND CLAIRVOYANT BREWING 
COMPANY LLC; AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN, VICE-
CHAIRMAN, OR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE THE 
AGREEMENT AND ANY NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, SUBJECT 
TO CERTAIN CONTINGENCIES; AUTHORIZING ANY 
TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS TO THE AGREEMENTS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   

 
 THIS RESOLUTION is made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 
Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized 
under the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, Title 50, 
Idaho Code, and the Local Economic Development Act, as amended and supplemented, 
Chapter 29, Title 50, Idaho Code (collectively, the “Act”), a duly created and functioning urban 
renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho (hereinafter referred to as the “Agency”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Boise, Idaho (the “City”), after notice duly published, conducted a 
public hearing on the 30th Street Area Urban Renewal Plan (the “30th Street Plan”);   
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6868 on 
December 4, 2012, approving the 30th Street Area Plan and making certain findings;   
 

WHEREAS, CLAIRVOYANT BREWING COMPANY LLC (“Clairvoyant Brewing 
Company”) owns or controls certain real property (the “Site”) located in the 30th Street Urban 
Renewal District (“30th Street District”), as created by the 30th Street Plan;   

 
WHEREAS, Clairvoyant Brewing Company intends to renovate and retrofit a 3,800 s.f. 

auto garage and service center into a brewery and tasting room on the Site and desires to make 
certain public improvements (the “Project”); 

 
WHEREAS, the Agency has in place a Participation Program which includes the Type 1 

Assistance Program under which the Agency reimburses developers for construction of public 
improvements;  
 

WHEREAS, the Agency has determined that it is in the public interest to enter into a 
Type 1 Participation Program Agreement (“Agreement”) with Clairvoyant Brewing Company 
whereby Clairvoyant Brewing Company will construct the Project and the Agency will reimburse 
Clairvoyant Brewing Company for constructing public improvements as specified in the 
Agreement; 

 
WHEREAS, attached hereto as Attachment 1, and incorporated herein as if set forth in 

full, is the Agreement with Clairvoyant Brewing Company;  
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1454 - 2  

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds it in the best public interest to approve 
the Agreement and to authorize the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, or Executive Director to execute 
the Agreement. 
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, AS 
FOLLOWS:   
 
 Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct. 
 
 Section 2: That the Agreement, which is attached hereto as Attachment 1 and 
incorporated herein by reference, is hereby approved. 
 
 Section 3: That the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, or Executive Director of the Agency 
are hereby authorized to sign and enter into the Agreement and to execute all necessary 
documents required to implement the actions contemplated by the Agreement, subject to 
representations by the Agency staff and the Agency legal counsel that all conditions precedent 
to such actions have been met; and further, any necessary technical changes to the Agreement 
or other documents are acceptable, upon advice from the Agency’s legal counsel that said 
changes are consistent with the provisions of the Agreement and the comments and 
discussions received at the July 18, 2016, Agency Board meeting; the Agency is further 
authorized to appropriate any and all funds contemplated by the Agreement and to perform any 
and all other duties required pursuant to said Agreement. 
 
 Section 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval.   
 
 PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of Boise City, Idaho, on July 18, 2016.  Signed 
by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to the Board of 
Commissioners, on July 18, 2016.   
       

APPROVED:   
 
 
      By         
             Chairman 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By         
       Secretary 
 
 
 
 



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 1 

TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

THIS TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 
is entered into by and between the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of Boise, also known as 
the Capital City Development Corporation, an independent public body, corporate and politic, 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Idaho (“CCDC”), and Clairvoyant Brewing 
Company LLC, an Idaho limited liability company (“Participant”).  CCDC and Participant may be 
collectively referred to as the “Parties” and individually referred to as a “Party.” 

RECITALS 

A. Participant owns or controls certain real property located at 2800 West Idaho 
Street, Boise, Idaho (the “Project Site”) which is more accurately depicted on attached Exhibit 
A.  The Project Site is undergoing redevelopment including renovating and retrofitting an auto 
garage and service center into a 3,800 square foot brewery and tasting room (the “Participant’s 
Project”).    

B. As part of the Participant’s Project, Participant intends to construct certain street 
and streetscape improvements in the public right-of way adjacent to the Project Site (the 
“Streetscape Project”).  The Streetscape Project is more accurately depicted on attached 
Exhibit B. 

C. The CCDC Board of Commissioners and the Boise City Council have adopted 
the Downtown Design Standards and Guidelines (“Streetscape Standards”) to govern how 
sidewalk improvements are designed and installed in the Boise Central, River Myrtle-Old Boise, 
Westside Downtown, and 30th Street Area urban renewal districts.   

D. The Participant’s Project and the Streetscape Project are located in the 30th 
Street Area Urban Renewal District (“West End”).  The CCDC Board of Commissioners and 
Boise City Council have adopted the 30th Street Area Urban Renewal Project (the “Plan”) which 
includes streetscape standards for the West End.   

E. The Streetscape Project includes improvements to the public right-of-way that 
are consistent with the Streetscape and Furnishing Standards in the Plan.  The Streetscape 
Project will contribute to enhancing and revitalizing the West End.    

F. CCDC deems it appropriate to assist the development of the Streetscape Project 
to achieve the objectives set forth in the Plan and in accordance with CCDC’s Participation 
Program.   

ATTACHMENT 1

mwatson
Rectangle



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 2 

AGREEMENTS 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, which are incorporated into 
this Agreement; the mutual covenants contained herein; and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby 
agree as follows:  
 
 1. Effective Date.  The effective date (“Effective Date”) of this Agreement shall be 
the date when this Agreement has been signed by the Participant and CCDC (last date signed) 
and shall continue until: 1.) the completion of all obligations of each Party; or 2.) twelve (12) 
months from the Effective Date, whichever comes first.  At CCDC’s sole discretion an extension 
may be granted for a period not to exceed one year.   
 
 2. Construction of the Streetscape Project.  Participant agrees to construct the 
Streetscape Project consistent with the following: 
 

a. The Streetscape Project shall be constructed in accordance with the overall City of 
Boise (“City”) infrastructure plans, policies, and design standards and with the 
applicable portions of the Streetscape and Furnishing Standards adopted as part of 
the Plan. 

 
b. The Parties agree that the Streetscape Project is depicted on Exhibit B, with cost 

estimates for eligible items described in the Schedule of Eligible Streetscape and 
Infrastructure Costs in Exhibit C (“Estimated Eligible Costs”).  Any other public 
improvements that are constructed by the Participant as part of the Participant’s 
Project are not eligible for reimbursement pursuant to this Agreement.  Additionally, 
CCDC’s reimbursement obligation is limited to the amount set forth in Section 6 of 
this Agreement. 

 
 3. Initial Construction Funding.  Participant shall pay for all of the costs of 
construction for the Streetscape Project.  CCDC acknowledges that the Schedule of Eligible 
Streetscape and Infrastructure Costs attached as Exhibit C is an estimate by Contractor and 
that actual costs for the Streetscape Project, as well as each line item of cost, may be more or 
less than is shown. 

 
4. Notification of Completion; Inspection.  Upon completion of construction, 

Participant shall notify CCDC in writing and request a final construction inspection and/or a 
meeting with CCDC to determine if the Streetscape Project meets the requirements of this 
Agreement.  CCDC shall provide Participant with written confirmation that the Streetscape 
Project has been completed in compliance with this Agreement.   

 
a. At CCDCs sole discretion, CCDC may require proof of completion, such as a 

Certificate of Occupancy, before providing written confirmation of compliance.   
 

5. Determining Actual Payment after Completion of Construction.  Participant 
shall provide appropriate documentation (“Cost Documentation”) to CCDC that Participant has 
expended funds for eligible costs in order to receive payment under the terms of this 
Agreement. Any Cost Documentation shall be submitted within thirty (30) days of Participant’s 
notification to CCDC that construction of the Streetscape Project is complete and shall include: 

 



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 3 

a. Schedule of values that includes line items for the Streetscape Project 
improvements approved by CCDC for reimbursement so they are identifiable and 
separate from other line items (“Schedule of Values”). 

 
b. Invoices from Participant’s general contractor, subcontractor(s), and material 

suppliers for each type of eligible cost item (e.g. concrete, pavers, benches, 
historic street lights).  Invoices shall specify quantities and unit costs of installed 
materials and a percentage estimate of how much installed material was used for 
the Streetscape Project in comparison to the amount used for the remainder of 
Participant’s project (“Invoices”). 

 
c. Explanation of any significant deviation between the initial cost estimates in 

Exhibit C and the actual costs in the Cost Documentation as requested by CCDC. 
 
d.     Additional documentation or clarifications may be required and requested by 

CCDC.  
 
CCDC shall have the right to review the Cost Documentation and to obtain independent 

verification that the quantities of work claimed, the unit costs, and the total costs for eligible 
costs are commercially reasonable and consistent with the cost estimates provided by 
Participant to CCDC prior to construction.  In the event Participant fails to timely deliver the Cost 
Documentation, CCDC may, in its discretion, elect to terminate its payment obligations under 
this Agreement by providing Participant with written notice of such default.  Participant shall 
have thirty (30) days from such written notice to cure the default.  In the event Participant fails to 
cure such a default, CCDC’s payment obligations under this Agreement may be terminated in 
CCDC’s sole discretion. 
 

Within thirty (30) calendar days of CCDC’s receipt of the Cost Documentation, CCDC 
will notify Participant in writing of CCDC’s acceptance or rejection of the Cost Documentation 
and CCDC’s determination of the Actual Eligible Costs to be reimbursed.  CCDC shall, in its 
discretion, determine the Actual Eligible Costs following its review of the Cost Documentation, 
verification of the commercial reasonableness of the costs and expenses contained in such 
Cost Documentation, and comparison of the amounts in the Cost Documentation to the 
amounts in Exhibit C.  IN NO EVENT SHALL THE TOTAL FOR THE ACTUAL ELIGIBLE 
COSTS EXCEED THE AMOUNT ALLOWED BY SECTION 6.    

 
If Participant disagrees with CCDC’s calculation of the Actual Eligible Costs, Participant 

must respond to CCDC in writing within three (3) business days explaining why Participant 
believes CCDC’s calculation was in error and providing any evidence to support any such 
contentions Participant wants CCDC to consider.  CCDC shall respond to Participant within 
three (3) business days with a revised amount for the Actual Eligible Costs or notifying 
Participant CCDC will not revise the initial amount calculated.  At that point, the determination of 
the Actual Eligible Costs will be final.  CCDC’S DETERMINATION OF THE ACTUAL ELIGIBLE 
COSTS IS WITHIN ITS SOLE DISCRETION. 
 

6. CCDC’s Reimbursement Payment Amount.  In accordance with the 
Participation Program, CCDC agrees to reimburse Participant 100% of Actual Eligible Costs not 
to exceed $65,000.  Actual Eligible Costs do not include soft costs (e.g., architectural and 
engineering design, permits, traffic control, mobilization, and overhead).   

 



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 4 

7. Conditions Precedent to CCDC’s Payment Obligation.  CCDC agrees to 
reimburse Participant in the amount as determined in compliance with Sections 2.c., 5 and 6  no 
later than thirty (30) days after completion of all of the following: 

 
a. CCDC provides written confirmation to the Participant that the Streetscape Project 

has been constructed in compliance with this Agreement.  CCDC may require 
proof of completion at CCDCs sole discretion. 

 
d. CCDC receives Cost Documentation as described in Section 5 in a format 

acceptable to CCDC. 
 

Participant’s failure to comply with all Agreement provisions shall be a basis for 
termination of CCDC’s reimbursement obligation. 

 
8. Subordination of Reimbursement Obligations.  The Parties agree this 

Agreement does not provide Participant with a security interest in any CCDC revenues for the 
River Myrtle Plan Area or any other urban renewal plan area, including but not limited to 
revenue from any “Revenue Allocation Area” (as defined in Title 50, Chapter 29 of the Idaho 
Code) or any revenue from CCDC’s parking garages.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
in this Agreement, the obligation of CCDC to make the payments as specified in this Agreement 
shall be subordinate to all CCDC obligations that have committed or in the future commit 
available CCDC revenues, including but not limited to revenue from any Revenue Allocation 
Area or any revenue from CCDC’s parking garages, and may be subject to consent and 
approval by CCDC lenders. 

 
9.  Default.  Neither Party shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement 

except upon the expiration of forty-five (45) days [ten (10) days in the event of failure to pay 
money] from receipt of written notice from the other Party specifying the particulars in which 
such Party has failed to perform its obligations under this Agreement unless such Party, prior to 
expiration of said 45-day period [ten (10) days in the event of failure to pay money], has rectified 
the particulars specified in said notice of default.  In the event of a default, the nondefaulting 
Party may do the following: 

 
a. The nondefaulting Party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the 

defaulting Party and recover from the defaulting Party all direct damages incurred 
by the nondefaulting Party. 

 
b. The nondefaulting Party may seek specific performance of those elements of this 

Agreement which can be specifically performed and recover all damages incurred 
by the nondefaulting Party.  The Parties declare it to be their intent that elements of 
this Agreement requiring certain actions be taken for which there are not adequate 
legal remedies may be specifically enforced. 

 
c. The nondefaulting Party may perform or pay any obligation or encumbrance 

necessary to cure the default and offset the cost thereof from monies otherwise 
due the defaulting Party or recover said monies from the defaulting Party. 

 
d. The nondefaulting Party may pursue all other remedies available at law, it being 

the intent of the Parties that remedies be cumulative and liberally enforced so as to 
adequately and completely compensate the nondefaulting Party. 

 



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 5 

e. In the event Participant defaults under this Agreement, CCDC (the nondefaulting 
Party) shall have the right to suspend or terminate its payment under this 
Agreement, as more specifically defined in this Agreement, for so long as the 
default continues and if not cured, CCDC’s obligation for payment shall be deemed 
extinguished.  In addition, if CCDC funds shall have been paid, Participant shall 
reimburse CCDC for any such funds Participant received. 

 
 10. Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Agreement are for 
reference only and shall not be deemed to define or limit the scope or intent of any of the terms, 
covenants, conditions, or agreements contained herein. 
 
 11. No Joint Venture or Partnership.  CCDC and Participant agree that nothing 
contained in this Agreement or in any document executed in connection with this Agreement 
shall be construed as making CCDC and Participant a joint venture or partners. 
 
 12. Successors and Assignment.  This Agreement is not assignable except that 
the Participant may assign Participant’s rights or obligations under this Agreement to a third 
party only with the written approval of CCDC, at CCDC’s sole discretion which cannot be 
reasonably denied. 
 
 13. Notices and Receipt.  All notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be given by personal service, by United States mail, or by United States 
express mail or other established express delivery service (such as Federal Express) with 
postage or delivery charges prepaid and return receipt requested, or by electronic mail (e-mail) 
addressed to the appropriate Party at the address set forth below: 
 
If to Participant: Ryan Kowalczyk, Manager 

1625 West Bannock Street 
Boise, Idaho 83702 
208-890-1247 
Ry6000@gmail.com 

 
If to CCDC:  John Brunelle, Executive Director 

Capital City Development Corporation 
   121 N. 9th Street, Suite 501 
   Boise, Idaho  83702 
   208-384-4264 

jbrunelle@ccdcboise.com         
  
 14. Applicable Law/Attorney Fees.  This Agreement shall be construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho.  Should any legal action be brought 
by either Party because of breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees, court costs, and 
such other costs as may be found by the court. 
 
 15. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and 
agreement of the Parties.  Exhibits to this Agreement are as follows: 
 
  Exhibit A Project Site Map 
  Exhibit B Streetscape Project Plan 
  Exhibit C Schedule of Eligible Streetscape and Infrastructure Costs  

mailto:jbrunelle@ccdcboise.com


TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 6 

  
  16. Indemnification.  Participant shall indemnify and hold CCDC and its officers, 

agents, and employees harmless from and against all liabilities, obligations, damages, 
penalties, claims, costs, charges, and expenses, including reasonable architect and attorney 
fees (collectively referred to in this section as “Claim”), which may be imposed upon or incurred 
by or asserted against CCDC or its respective officers, agents, and employees relating to the 
construction or design of the Streetscape Project or otherwise arising out of Participant’s actions 
or inactions.  In the event an action or proceeding is brought against CCDC or its respective 
officers, agents, and employees by reason of any such Claim, Participant, upon written notice 
from CCDC shall, at Participant’s expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Participant shall have no obligation to indemnify, defend, or hold 
CCDC and its respective officers, agents, and employees harmless from and against any matter 
to the extent it arises from the active negligence or willful act of CCDC or its respective officers, 
agents, or employees.  

 
  17. Antidiscrimination During Construction.  Participant, for itself and its 

successors and assigns, agrees that in the rehabilitation and/or construction of improvements 
on the Project Site provided for in this Agreement, the Participant will not discriminate against 
any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity/expression, national origin or ancestry, marital status, age, or 
physical disability. 

 
  18. Maintenance. Participant recognizes CCDC has no specific authority to accept 

maintenance responsibility of the Streetscape Project or any improvements constructed by 
Participant and that no agreement has been reached with CCDC or City to accept any 
maintenance obligations for such improvements.  
 
 19. Promotion of Project.  Participant agrees CCDC may promote the Streetscape 
Project and CCDC’s involvement with the Streetscape Project.  Such promotion includes 
reasonable signage at the Site notifying the public of CCDC’s involvement with the Streetscape 
Project. 
 
 

End of Agreement 
[Signatures appear on the following page.]  





TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 8 

Exhibit A: Project Site Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 9 

Exhibit B: Streetscape Project Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



TYPE 1 STREETSCAPE GRANT AGREEMENT - 10 

Exhibit C: Schedule of Eligible Costs 
 

 



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
Resolution # 1453 Approval of Environmental Remediation 
Reimbursement Agreement for 620 S. 9th Street, The Afton Phase II 

Date: 
July 18, 2016 
 

Staff Contact: 
Shellan Rodriguez 
 

Attachments: 
1- Site Map 
2- Resolution #1453 
 

Action Requested: 
Approve Resolution #1453 to authorize staff to finalize the Environmental Remediation 
Agreement.  
 
Background: 
 
CCDC currently owns the parcel that is slated to become Phase II of The Afton, addressed as 
620 S. 9th Street. The site is a construction staging area for Phase I.  Phase I includes 28 
residential condominium units, 42 garage parking spots, and approximately 5,200 SF of retail 
space.   Phase II includes 36 condominiums, garage parking and approximately 3,000 s.f. of 
retail.  Developer has an option to purchase Parcel 2 from CCDC for $935,000 as per the 
Disposition and Development Agreement dated October 24, 2014.  
 
The Phase I construction is nearly 50% complete with a goal to be 100% complete in early 
2017.  Phase I’s construction costs exceeded the budget by approximately 20%. Of the 
overruns, about $200,000 was due to contaminated soil that requires additional disposal fees. 
The contamination was unknown to CCDC and the developer at the time of purchase and at the 
time the Re-use appraisal was completed. In total Phase I environmental analysis and 
remediation costs roughly $285,000, all of which was paid for by the developer.   
 
The developer is proposing to utilize the same financing structure for Phases II of The Afton. 
The lender, Bank of the Cascades, and investors are requiring assurances regarding soil 
contamination disposal costs are adequately addressed and that DEQ disposal requirements 
are met. The remediation costs of Phase II are estimated to be approximately $360,000, 
$40,000 in environmental testing and analysis by Strata Consulting and $320,000 in soil 
disposal costs in addition to typical soil grading and disposal.   Because the analysis has not 
occurred, risk remains that additional findings and costs will exist in relation to environmental 
contamination and these risks are the responsibility of the developer. 
 
In order for Phase II of the Afton to move forward, the developer has requested reimbursement 
of 100% of the remediation and environmental analysis costs. Staff is recommending up to 
$270,000 or 75% of the costs associated with additional disposal and environmental testing fees 
to be reimbursed upon completion. 
 
Contractually and based on the existing DDA the Agency is not required to complete or 
reimburse the developer for environmental remediation costs incurred to develop the project. 
The terms of the DDA will not change with the approval and execution of this Environmental 



Page 2 
 

Remediation Reimbursement Agreement in any way or will the existing license agreement 
allowing the developer to stage in the Phase II, CCDC owned area. 
 
Timing: 
CCDC will reimburse the developer for the environmental analysis and testing on Parcel 2 in the 
coming months. The remediation will likely be completed in late 2016 and CCDC will reimburse 
the developer contingent upon the remediation being approved as complete by any approving 
entities, such as the ID DEQ, the City and the County.  
 
Fiscal Notes: 
The Environmental Remediation Reimbursement Agreement will not exceed $270,000 and will 
be based on actual costs incurred for environmental testing, assessment, observation and 
remediation. Currently this is within the 2016-2020 CIP in FY 2017. 

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approving Resolution # 1453.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
I move to approve Resolution # 1453 authorizing staff to finalize the Environmental Remediation 
Agreement with 620 S 9th Street LLC.  
 
 



Attachment 1 – Map of Site 



RESOLUTION NO. 1453 - 1  
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1453 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO: 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN 
RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, APPROVING AN 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, 
AND 620 S. 9TH STREET LLC; AND AUTHORIZING THE CHAIR, VICE-
CHAIR, OR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND SECRETARY, RESPECTIVELY, TO 
EXECUTE AND ATTEST SAID AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO CERTAIN 
CONDITIONS; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND 
SECRETARY TO EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS REQUIRED TO 
IMPLEMENT THE AGREEMENT AND TO MAKE ANY NECESSARY 
TECHNICAL CHANGES TO THE AMENDMENT SUBJECT TO CERTAIN 
CONDITIONS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.    

 
THIS RESOLUTION, made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 

Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized 
under the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, 
Title 50, Idaho Code (the “Law”), a duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for 
Boise City, Idaho (hereinafter referred to as the “Agency”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Boise City, Idaho (the “City”), adopted its 
Ordinance No. 5597 on December 6, 1994, approving an Amended and Restated Boise Central 
District Urban Renewal Plan and making certain findings; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the River 
Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Plan (the “River Street Plan”);   
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5596 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the River Street Plan and making certain findings;   
 

WHEREAS, the City after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the First 
Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan River Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Project 
(Annexation of the Old Boise Eastside Study Area and Several Minor Parcels) and renamed 
River-Myrtle/Old Boise Urban Renewal Project (the “River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan”) and the area 
referred to as the “Project Area;”   
 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6362 on 
November 30, 2004, approving the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency adopted the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan through Resolution No. 
985 dated August 23, 2004; 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1453 - 2  
 

 WHEREAS, in order to achieve the objectives of the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan, the 
Agency is authorized to acquire real property for the revitalization of areas within the Agency’s 
boundaries; 
  
 WHEREAS, the Agency Board adopted Resolution No. 851 on February 12, 2001, 
authorizing the purchase of certain real property located at 620 S. 9th Street (the “Site”), in 
order to achieve the objectives of the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan;   
 
 WHEREAS, at a public meeting in October 2014, the Agency Board approved, pursuant 
to Resolution 1363, a Disposition and Development Agreement (“DDA”) between Agency and 
620 S. 9th Street LLC (“Developer”) for the disposition of Parcel I and Parcel II, as defined in the 
DDA; 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency and Developer subsequently executed the First Amendment to 
the Disposition & Development Agreement between Capital City Development Corporation and 
620 S. 9th Street LLC, an Idaho limited liability company; 

 
WHEREAS, the development of Parcel II pursuant to the DDA will require the 

remediation of environmental conditions on Parcel II;  
 
WHEREAS, Agency has not disposed of Parcel II to Developer and Agency and Developer 

have negotiated the terms of an Environmental Remediation Reimbursement Agreement, 
attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein as if set forth in full (the “Remediation 
Agreement”), by which Agency agrees to provide an environmental remediation allowance to 
Developer and grant Developer permission to access Parcel II prior to the Parcel II Closing for 
purposes of conducting environmental testing, assessment, and remediation;   
  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds it in the best public interest to approve the 
Amendment and to authorize the Chair, Vice-Chair, or Executive Director and Secretary to 
execute and attest the Remediation Agreement, subject to certain conditions, and to execute 
all necessary documents to implement the transaction, subject to the conditions set forth 
below.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct.   
 

Section 2: That the Remediation Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and incorporated herein as if set out in full, is hereby approved and adopted.   
 

Section 3: That the Chair, Vice-Chair, or Executive Director and Secretary of the 
Board of Directors of the Agency are hereby authorized to sign and execute the Remediation 
Agreement and, further, are hereby authorized to execute all necessary documents required to 
implement the actions contemplated by the Remediation Agreement, subject to 



RESOLUTION NO. 1453 - 3  
 

representations by the Executive Director and the Agency’s legal counsel that all conditions 
precedent to actions and any necessary technical changes to the Remediation Agreement or 
other documents are acceptable upon advice from the Agency’s legal counsel that said changes 
are consistent with the provisions of the Remediation Agreement and the comments and 
discussions received at the July 18, 2016, Agency Board meeting; Agency is further authorized 
to appropriate any and all funds contemplated by the Remediation Agreement and to perform 
any and all other duties required pursuant to said Remediation Agreement.   
 

Section 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval. 
 
 PASSED By the Urban Renewal Agency of Boise City, Idaho, on July 18, 2016.  Signed by 
the Chair of the Board of Commissioners and attested by the Secretary to the Board of 
Commissioners on July 18, 2016. 

 
      APPROVED:   
 
 

By:________________________________ 
      Chairman 

ATTEST: 
 
By:_________________________________________ 
      Secretary 
 
4820-7075-7685, v.  1 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 1 

 
 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 

THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

AND 
 

620 S. 9TH STREET LLC, 
an Idaho Limited Liability Company 

 
AFTON PROJECT 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 2 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT  

 
 THIS ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is entered into by and between the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of 
Boise, also known as the Capital City Development Corporation, a public body, 
corporate and politic, of the State of Idaho (“CCDC”), and 620 S. 9TH STREET LLC, an 
Idaho limited liability company (“Developer”).  CCDC and Developer may be collectively 
referred to as the “Parties” and individually referred to as a “Party.” 
 

RECITALS 
 
 A. CCDC is an urban renewal agency created by and existing pursuant to the 
Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 20, and the 
Local Economic Project Act, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 29, as amended and 
supplemented (collectively the "Act").   
 

B. On October 24, 2014, Agency and Developer entered into a Disposition 
and Development Agreement concerning the disposition of certain property (“Parcel II”), 
which is more accurately described and depicted on attached Exhibit A.   

 
 C. Capitalized terms in this Agreement not defined in this Agreement shall be 
as defined in the DDA. 
 

D. CCDC owns Parcel II and Developer has an option to purchase Parcel II. 
 

E. CCDC and Developer determined the purchase price for Parcel II based 
on a fair market value appraisal of Parcel II that made certain assumptions about the 
environmental condition of Parcel II. 
 

F. The development of Parcel II pursuant to the DDA will require the 
remediation of environmental conditions on Parcel II.  
 

G. By this Agreement, CCDC agrees to provide an environmental 
remediation allowance to Developer and grant Developer permission to access Parcel II 
prior to the Parcel II Closing for purposes of conducting environmental testing, 
assessment, and remediation. 
  

AGREEMENTS 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, which are 
incorporated into this Agreement; the mutual covenants contained herein; and other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:  
 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 3 

1. Effective Date.  The effective date (“Effective Date”) of this Agreement 
shall be the date when this Agreement has been signed by Developer and CCDC (last 
date signed).   
 

2. Recitals, Purpose of This Agreement, and Interest.  The Parties agree 
that the foregoing recitals are not mere recitations but are covenants of the Parties, 
binding upon them and forming a portion of the consideration for the agreements 
contained herein.  CCDC’s commitment herein is designed to comply with CCDC’s 
authority under the Act and the Plan and is intended to constitute an expenditure of 
CCDC funds for a public purpose and not be deemed a gift or donation of public funds.   

 
3. Environmental Remediation/Not-to-Exceed Reimbursement Amount.  

After the Effective Date and prior to the Parcel II Closing, Developer may access Parcel 
II for purposes of conducting environmental testing, assessment, and remediation.  
CCDC agrees to reimburse Developer, up to a maximum of Two Hundred Seventy 
Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($270,000.00) (the “Not-to Exceed Amount”), for costs 
incurred to test for, assess, and clean up any Hazardous Materials affecting Parcel II, 
including, without limitation, removal, treatment, containment or any other remedial 
action or reporting required by governmental authorities or as otherwise required to 
restore Parcel II (the “Remediation”). Nothing in this Agreement is intended to require 
Developer to conduct any Remediation. 
 

For purpose of this Agreement, “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any and all 
hazardous or toxic substances, materials or wastes as defined or listed under the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Solid 
Waste Disposal Act or any comparable federal or state statutes or any regulation 
promulgated under any of such federal or state statutes relating to the protection of 
human health or the environment. 

 
4. Approvals of the Remediation.  To the extent Developer desires to 

conduct any Remediation, Developer shall be responsible for obtaining necessary 
approvals for the Remediation from the governmental entities and other entities 
necessary, including to the extent necessary, but not limited to, City, the Ada County 
Highway District, Idaho Transportation Department, the Idaho Department of 
Environmental Quality, and other governmental entities having approval authority for the 
Remediation (“Approving Entities”).   

 
Developer shall keep CCDC advised of the approval process of the Approving 

Entities and advise CCDC immediately if any action of Approving Entities shall affect the 
scope and purpose of the Agreement.   

 
To the extent Developer desires to conduct any Remediation, the Remediation 

shall be designed, constructed, and installed in compliance with the requirements of any 
of the Approving Entities, as applicable. 

 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 4 

Developer shall provide copies of any requests for approval or work plans 
submitted to any Approving Entities and documentation from any Approving Entities 
concerning the approval of any such requests or work plans.  Developer has provided 
CCDC with  a copy of Developer’s Voluntary Remediation Agreement between 
Developer and the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality dated June 2, 2015 and 
CCDC has approved the same.   

 
4. Reimbursement.  The process for reimbursement shall be as set forth 

as follows: 
 

(a) Prior to commencement of the Remediation, Developer shall 
provide CCDC with a “Schedule of Values” for the Remediation, which shall include a 
description of the Remediation and the estimated costs for testing, assessment, and the 
Remediation. The Schedule of Values shall not exceed the Not-To Exceed 
Reimbursement Amount.  
 

(b) Developer shall invoice CCDC for reimbursement or payment of the 
costs of the Remediation as the same are incurred by Developer for the Remediation 
work actually completed.  Provided, other than costs for environmental testing, 
assessment, observation and reporting with respect to Parcel II CCDC will not 
reimburse Developer for any work not approved by the Idaho Department of 
Environmental Quality and contained within a voluntary work plan or other agreement 
between Developer and the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality concerning the 
Remediation.  With each invoice, Developer shall provide an updated Schedule of 
Values and set forth the amount CCDC has paid to that date and the anticipated 
remaining contributions from CCDC under this Agreement. 
 

(c) CCDC shall pay such invoices within thirty (30) days after receipt; 
provided, however, that if CCDC’s Executive Director disputes or disapproves any 
requested payment amount, the undisputed or approved amount shall be paid, and the 
Parties shall exert cooperative efforts to resolve the disputed or disapproved amount as 
soon as practicable.    

 
(d) CCDC may, in its discretion, withhold ten (10) percent of any 

invoiced amounts until such time as the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 
issues a certificate of completion or other written confirmation that Developer has 
completed the remediation required by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 
under the Idaho Land Remediation Act, Title 39, Chapter 72, Idaho Code. 
 

5. Indemnification.  Developer shall indemnify, defend, and hold CCDC and 
its respective officers, agents, and employees harmless from and against all liabilities, 
obligations, damages, penalties, claims, costs, charges, and expenses, including 
reasonable architect and attorney fees (collectively referred to in this Section as 
“Claim”), which may be imposed upon or incurred by or asserted against CCDC or its 
respective officers, agents, and employees relating to the construction or design of the 
Remediation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer shall have no obligation to 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 5 

indemnify and hold CCDC and its respective officers, agents, and employees harmless 
from and against any matter to the extent it arises from the active negligence or willful 
act of CCDC or its respective officers, agents, or employees.  In the event an action or 
proceeding is brought against CCDC or its respective officers, agents, and employees 
by reason of any such claim, Developer, upon written notice from CCDC, shall, at 
Developer’s expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, to the extent any Claims arise from or relate to the condition of Phase II prior 
to Developer’s exercise of the rights granted in this Agreement, Developer’s 
indemnification and other obligations under this paragraph shall not apply.  Without 
limiting the foregoing, Developer shall not be liable for any Claims or diminution in value 
arising or resulting from (i) discovery by Developer, its agents, contractors or employees 
of any pre-existing condition (including, without limitation, the existence of Hazardous 
Materials) in, on, under or about Phase II or (ii) any exacerbation of a pre-existing 
condition in, on, under or about Phase II, except to the extent, if any, said exacerbation 
results from the willful or negligent act or omission of Developer, its agents, contractors 
or employees. 

 
6. Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall, or through its contractor, 

agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors shall, at its sole cost, obtain and 
maintain in force for the duration of the construction of the improvements to the Site as 
part of the Remediation, insurance of the following types, with limits not less than those 
set forth below and in a form acceptable to CCDC, against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, the performance of 
the services hereunder by Developer, its agents,  representatives, employees or 
subcontractors:   

 
 a. Commercial General Liability Insurance (“Occurrence Form”) with a 
minimum combined single limit liability of $1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury 
and property damage; with a minimum limit of liability of $1,000,000 each person for 
personal and advertising injury liability.  Such policy shall have a general aggregate limit 
of not less than $2,000,000, which general aggregate limit will be provided on a per 
project basis.  The policy shall be endorsed to name CCDC and City as additional 
insureds.   
 

b. Workers’ Compensation Insurance, including occupational illness or 
disease coverage, in accordance with the laws of the nation, state, territory, or province 
having jurisdiction over Developer’s employees, and Employer’s Liability Insurance.  
Developer shall not utilize occupational accident or health insurance policies, or the 
equivalent, in lieu of mandatory Workers’ Compensation Insurance or otherwise attempt 
to opt out of the statutory Workers’ Compensation system.   
 

c. Automobile Liability Insurance covering use of all owned, non-owned, and 
hired automobiles with a minimum combined single limit of liability for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This policy shall be endorsed to name 
CCDC, including its respective affiliates, directors, and employees, as additional 
insureds.   



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 6 

 
 d. All insurance provided by Developer under this Agreement shall include a 
waiver of subrogation by the insurers in favor of CCDC.  Developer hereby releases 
CCDC, including its respective affiliates, directors, and employees, for losses or claims 
for bodily injury, property damage covered by Developer’s insurance or other insured 
claims arising out of Developer’s performance under this Agreement or construction of 
the Remediation.   

 
 e. Certificates of insurance satisfactory in form to CCDC (ACORD form or 
equivalent) shall be supplied to CCDC evidencing that the insurance required above is 
in force, that, to the extent commercially reasonable, not less than thirty (30) days’ 
written notice will be given to CCDC prior to any cancellation or restrictive modification 
of the policies, and that the waivers of subrogation are in force.  Developer shall also 
provide, with its certificate of insurance, executed copies of the additional insured 
endorsements and dedicated limits endorsements required in this Agreement.  At 
CCDC’s request, Developer shall provide a certified copy of each insurance policy 
required under this Agreement.   
 
 f. The foregoing insurance coverage shall be primary and noncontributing 
with respect to any other insurance or self-insurance that may be maintained by CCDC.  
The fact that Developer has obtained the insurance required in this Section shall in no 
manner lessen or affect Developer’s other obligations or liabilities set forth in the 
Agreement.   

 
7. Local, State and Federal Laws.  To the extent Developer desires to 

conduct any Remediation, Developer covenants that it will carry out the Remediation in 
conformity with all applicable laws, including all applicable federal and state labor 
standards. 

 
 
8. Default.  Unless a different cure period in the event of a default is 

provided herein, neither Party shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement except 
upon the expiration of forty-five (45) days (ten [10] days in the event of failure to pay 
money) from receipt of written notice from the other Party specifying the particulars in 
which such Party has failed to perform its obligations under this Agreement unless such 
Party, prior to expiration of said 45-day period (ten [10] days in the event of failure to 
pay money), has rectified the particulars specified in said notice of default.  In the event 
of a default, the nondefaulting Party may do the following: 

 
a. The nondefaulting Party may terminate this Agreement upon written 

notice to the defaulting Party and recover from the defaulting Party all 
direct damages incurred by the nondefaulting Party.  If CCDC 
terminates this Agreement, Developer shall cease any and all 
Remediation upon receipt of written notice of termination and take all 
commercially reasonable steps to cease incurring any costs for the 
Remediation. 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 7 

 
b. The nondefaulting Party may seek specific performance of those 

elements of this Agreement which can be specifically performed, in 
addition, recover all damages incurred by the nondefaulting Party.  The 
Parties declare it to be their intent that elements of this Agreement 
requiring certain actions be taken for which there are not adequate 
legal remedies may be specifically enforced. 
 

c. The nondefaulting Party may perform or pay any obligation or 
encumbrance necessary to cure the default and offset the cost thereof 
from monies otherwise due the defaulting Party or recover said monies 
from the defaulting Party. 

 
d. The nondefaulting Party may pursue all other remedies available at 

law, it being the intent of the Parties that remedies be cumulative and 
liberally enforced so as to adequately and completely compensate the 
nondefaulting Party. 

 
e. In the event Developer defaults under this Agreement, CCDC (the 

nondefaulting Party) shall have the right to suspend its payments 
under this Agreement for so long as the default continues.   

 
 

9. Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.  Except as otherwise expressly 
stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the 
exercise by any Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the 
exercise by it, at the same time or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the 
same default or any other default by the other Party.   

 
10. Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Agreement 

are for reference only and shall not be deemed to define or limit the scope or intent of 
any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or agreements contained herein. 

 
11. No Joint Venture or Partnership.  CCDC and Developer agree that 

nothing contained in this Agreement or in any document executed in connection with 
this Agreement shall be construed as making CCDC and Developer a joint venture or 
partners. 

 
12. Assignment.  Developer’s rights and obligations under this Agreement 

are not assignable.  Provided Developer may assign Developer’s rights or obligations 
under this Agreement to a third party with the written approval of CCDC, which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

 
13. Notices and Receipt.  All notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall 

be in writing and shall be given by personal service, by United States mail, or by United 
States express mail or other established express delivery service (such as Federal 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 8 

Express), postage or delivery charge prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to 
the appropriate Party at the address set forth below: 
 
If to Developer: 620 S. 9TH STREET LLC  
   1101 W. River St., Ste. 300  
   Boise, ID 83702  
 
If to CCDC:  John Brunelle, Executive Director 

Capital City Development Corporation 
   121 N. 9th Street, Suite 501 
   Boise, Idaho  83701 
       
 The person and address to which notices are to be given may be changed at any 
time by any Party upon written notice to the other Party.  All notices given pursuant to 
this Agreement shall be deemed given upon receipt.  For the purpose of this 
Agreement, the term “receipt” shall mean the earlier of any of the following: 
 

(i) date of delivery of the notice or other document to the 
address specified above as shown on the return receipt; 

 
(ii) date of actual receipt of the notice or other document by the 

person or entity specified above; or 
 
(iii) in the case of refusal to accept delivery or inability to deliver 

the notice or other document, the earlier of: 
 

(a) date of the attempted delivery or refusal to accept 
delivery, 

 
(b) date of the postmark on the return receipt, or 
 
(c) date of receipt of notice of refusal or notice of 

non-delivery by the sending Party. 
 

14. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall, except as otherwise 
provided herein, be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns 
of the Parties hereto. 

 
15. Applicable Law/Attorney Fees.  This Agreement shall be construed and 

enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho.  Should any legal action be 
brought by either Party because of breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision 
of this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees, 
court costs, and such other costs as may be found by the court. 

 
16. Severability.  If any provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason be 

held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 9 

provisions of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if 
such illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein. 
 

17. Entire Agreement, Waivers, and Amendments.  This Agreement, 
constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties concerning the 
remediation of Parcel II.  This Agreement integrates all of the terms and conditions 
mentioned herein or incidental hereto and supersedes all negotiations or previous 
agreements between the Parties with respect to all or any part of the subject matter 
thereof.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to modify the existing Construction 
License Agreement between the parties dated October 6, 2015.  All waivers of the 
provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by the appropriate 
authorities of CCDC and Developer, and all amendments hereto must be in writing and 
signed by the appropriate authorities of CCDC and Developer. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have signed this Agreement the day 
and year below written to be effective the day and year above written. 

 
 
 

 
{Signature page(s) to follow} 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 10 

Capital City Development Corporation (“CCDC”) 
 
 
By ___________________________________ 
     John Brunelle, Executive Director 
 
DATE_______________________ 
 
620 S. 9TH STREET LLC, an Idaho limited liability company 
 
By Hormaechea Development LLC, an Idaho limited liability company 
Its Manager 
 
 By _____________________________________ 
       Michael Hormaechea, Manager 
 
DATE_______________________ 



 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - 11 

Exhibit A 
 

Parcel II (MAP AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION) 
 
 

4836-9373-5729, v.  4 



Page lof 2

THE LANI) GROLI’, I’.c

October 16, 2014
Project No. 114106

THE AFTON
PROPOSED PHASE 2 DESCRIPTION

A portion of Lots 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16, Block 4 of Davis’ Addition to Boise City, according to the

official plat thereof, filed in Book 1 of Plats at Page 17, official records of Ada County, Idaho, and

including a portion of West Battery Street right-of-way, all being located in Section 10, Township 3

North, Range 2 East, Boise Meridian, City of Boise, Ada County, Idaho, more particularly described as

follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of South 8th Street and West River Street (formerly

Battery Street);

Thence North 54°55’54” West a distance of 40.00 feet on the centerline of West River Street;

Thence North 35°00’39” East a distance of 40.00 feet to the most southerly lot corner of Lot 10,

Block 4 of said Davis’ Addition;
Thence North 54°55’54” West a distance of 76.52 feet on the southwesterly lot line of said Lot 10,

Block 4 to a point of curve as shown on Record-of-Survey Number 8403 of Ada County Records;

Thence 103.34 feet on the arc of a curve to the left, said curve having a radius of 289.11 feet, a

central angle of 20°28’49”, a chord bearing of North 65°10’19” West, and a chord distance of

102.79 feet on the northerly right-of-way line of West River Street to a point of curve, as shown on

said Record-of-Survey Number 8403, said point being the POINT OF BEGINNING;

Thence 104.13 feet on the arc of a curve to the left, said curve having a radius of 289.11

feet, a central angle of 20°38’lO”, a chord bearing of North 85°43’48” West, and a chord

distance of 103.57 feet on the northerly right-of-way line of West River Street to a point of

reverse curve as shown on said Record-of-Survey Number 8403;

Thence 20.28 feet on the arc of a curve to the right, said curve having a radius of 10.00 feet,

a central angle of 116°11’45”, a chord bearing of North 37°57’OO” West, and a chord

distance of 16.98 feet on the northerly right-of-way line of West River Street to a point of

compound curve, as shown on said Record-of-Survey Number 8403;

Thence 67.70 feet on the arc of a curve to the right, said curve having a radius of 533.46

feet, a central angle of 07°16’17”, a chord bearing of North 23°47’OO” East, and a chord

distance of 67.65 feet on the easterly right-of-way line of South 9th Street to a point on the

southerly lot line of Lot 11, Block 4 of said Davis’ Addition, as shown on said Record-of-

Survey Number 8403;
Thence North 54°55’54” West a distance of 4.18 feet on the southerly lot line of said Lot 11,

Block 4 to the southwesterly lot corner of Lot 11, Block 4 of said Davis’ Addition, as shown

on said Record-of-Survey Number 8403;
Thence North 35°01’32” East a distance of 154.93 feet (formerly described as 155.00 feet)

on the easterly boundary line of Block 4 of said Davis’ Addition to the northwesterly lot

corner of Lot 16, Block 4 of said Davis’ Addition;

Sr’ PIannng I ndccp.’ A! C,v,i Fnq!n!?!;ng Gnif C’’ure ,rnoot!Rn & Ff?qinerincj (3ipbic CommLm,cat,nr? Sirvy;r

4G2 F. Shon D v, Mc. 100, Fcck, Tdah! 83616 • P 108.839,4041 F 208.939.4445. www.theIandgroupinc.com

srodriguez
Text Box
EXHIBIT A



P
age

2
of

2

T
H

E
L

A
N

E
)

G
R

O
L

I’,
IN

C
.

T
hence

S
outh

54°59’O
O

”
E

ast
a

d
istan

ce
of

139.26
feet

on
th

e
northerly

lot
L

ine
of

said
L

ot

16,
B

lock
4

o
f

said
D

avis’
A

ddition;

T
hence

S
outh

35°O
1’04”

W
est

a
d

istan
ce

of
77.29

feet;

T
hence

S
outh

5O
0O

1O
O

??
W

est
a

d
istan

ce
of

64.45
feet;

T
hence

S
outh

35°O
1’04”

W
est

a
d

istan
ce

of
33.78

feet
to

th
e

point
of

beginning.

PR
EPA

R
ED

BY:

TH
E

LA
N

D
G

R
O

U
P,

IN
C

.

Jam
es

R.
W

ash
b
u
rn

P
ia’m

n
o

i
i

cid
5
cap

c’
A

’
h
;r’rru

i
(i.;i

F
,?

’c
.’!ln

a
z

C
o
u
ry

’
irrJg

a
to

n
&

F
1?ginei’ouu

•
u

o
p

h
:c

C
o
m

!o
u

n
—

atIo
o

•
S

u
rc

”
n
ri

t
2

F.
Shc’rc

D
uvu,

Ste.
00,

F
0
o
,

d
ah

c
8
6
I6

P
2
0
.O

3
0

.4
0
4
]

F
2
0
P

0
S

9
,4

0
4
S

•
w

w
w

.th
elan

d
g
ro

u
p
in

c,co
m



/

/

/

/

DAVIS ADDITION
BOOK 1, PAGE 17 OF PLATS

BLOCK 4

Proposed Phase I
—— 000I100300 SCALE V Be

POINT OF
COMMENCEMENT

Proj1aSNo 154106

SSeoS Tao DAle of lOABeIB OStooe IA, 2014

NCORPORATED The Atton Oeoy

462 East Shore Dnve, Suite 160
lW

Phone 208.939.4041-Faa 206,939 4445 Proposed Phase I 5 No

Boise Idaho
1 of 2



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
 
Adopt Resolution  #1455, Approval of Type 3 Transformative Project 
Participation Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement with BVGC 
Parcel B.  

Date: 
 
7/18/2016 

Staff Contact: 
Shellan Rodriguez 

Attachments: 
Resolution #1455 
 

Action Requested: 
Adopt Resolution #1455 approving and authorizing the execution of the Type 3 Transformative 
Assistance Participation Agreement as well as the Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Parcel 
B Garage Unit. 
 

Background: 

Parcel B is a 5-acre site located between 11th and 13th Streets and Front Street and Myrtle 
Streets. It is currently an unimproved surface parking lot.  

The developer, Gardner Co., purchased the site from the Greater Boise Auditorium District in 
February 2016 with the intent to provide a mix of uses that will complement the surrounding land 
uses.  In addition to site control the developer worked closely with the City of Boise during the 
design phase to incorporate north/south and east/west internal service street connectivity. The 
project was approved at Design Review Committee on June 8, 2016, after attending various 
work sessions.  
 
The mixed-use project includes four quadrants and is estimated as a $48 million investment. 
The Northeast quadrant near the corner of Front & 11th Street includes a 644 +/- stall parking 
garage which is attached to a 12,000 s.f. office space.  The Southeast quadrant near the corner 
of Myrtle and 11th Street is proposed to have a 5,000 s.f. retail building with a patio and surface 
parking.  On the Southwest quadrant, near Myrtle & 13th Street a 100,000 s.f. stand-alone office 
building is proposed, the end user is unknown at this time. The Northwest quadrant, near the 
corner of Front & 13th Street, a future building pad will be slated for a multi-story commercial use 
for future development. 

The development was designated by the CCDC Board in June 2016 as a Type 3 Transformative 
project. The project assistance is configured in two main components: 1) CCDC purchases 250 
parking spaces in new parking structure when construction is complete using bond proceeds 
and 2) Reimbursement of no more than $4,288,625 in public street improvements, streetscapes, 
and public infrastructure/utility improvements necessary to the development. This 



Page 2 
 

reimbursement requires that the project be eligible to receive up to 100% of the increment  
generated through fiscal year 2025; the final year of the River Myrtle District term. The 
reimbursement will not exceed the amount of increment generated on the site. 

CCDC’s participation is proposed in two parts with two agreements as described below. 

1. Purchase and Sale Agreement for Parking Garage Unit 
a. Upon completion CCDC will purchase the upper most 250 parking spaces in the 

parking garage for $5 million dollars.  
 

1. If CCDC is unable to secure bond financing for the purchase of 
the garage unit upon completion of construction a lease-purchase 
option has been included. To account for the delay in payment by 
CCDC (relative to the bond) a reduced number of spaces will be 
available for lease and/ or purchase (200 spaces). CCDC would 
pay the same amount as planned for the estimated bond payment 
amount ($695,000) for five years followed which totals $3,475,000 
followed by a payment of $1,525,000 for a total of $5,000,000.  

2. The condominium declarations and the maintenance agreements 
are contemplated but not drafted and will be completed prior to 
purchase of the garage.  

3. Construction complete and CCDC purchase in October 2017. 
4. CCDCs parking consultant, Kimley Horn, has reviewed the garage 

design.  Some but not all of CCDCs desired standards are being 
incorporated into the structure.  

5. After CCDCs purchase the Developer will retain a Right of First 
Refusal for 10 years. 

6. The garage does not include “future proofing” for future vertical 
development.  Initial and minimum future proofing costs are 
$400,000 - $800,000 to be paid entirely by CCDC. The complete 
costs of future proofing the building are much greater, estimated 
at $1.5 million to $2.0 million plus the cost of actually constructing 
any additional parking estimated at a minimum of $30,000/space  
which would necessarily involve a loss of revenue in the garage 
throughout the construction period. 
 

2. Type 3 Transformative Participation Agreement for reimbursement of public 
improvements 

a. CCDC will reimburse developer for eligible public improvement costs including: 
12th Street connection central pedestrian crossing, pedestrian plazas, public art, 
landscaping,11th Street bike lane striping, and approximately 2,000 linear feet of 
streetscapes around the perimeter.  Also includes power and utility upgrades and 
relocations within the public right of way. 

b. Public Improvement’s reimbursed when improvements are completed and when 
increment is generated.  



Page 3 
 

c. 100% of the increment generated from the site will be programmed for 
reimbursement with scheduled payments from 2017-2025, not to exceed the 
agreed upon eligible costs.   

d. Public eligible costs associated with the public improvements are estimated at 
approximately $4.3 million. The improvements  have been approved by Design 
Review.  

e. The users of the proposed buildings are unknown, except for the Parking Garage 
with offices. 

f. No tax challenges provision or hard schedule of performance because 
underperformance adversely affects the reimbursement schedule.  

g. Any changes to the public improvement designs require CCDC’s written approval 
and any future design modifications going before Boise City require noticing to 
CCDC. 

h. Participant agrees to support and coordinate discussions with ITD regarding the 
Pioneer Pathway intersection on Myrtle. 

Fiscal Notes: 

Public Parking Garage Purchase Price: $5,000,000 to be paid upon completion of the facility, 
estimated to be October 2017, or FY 2018.  This purchase is contemplated within the five year 
CIP to be financed with a bond. 

Public Improvements: Up to $4,289,000 to be paid back annually after completion and as 
actual increment is received by CCDC. The reimbursement will likely occur annually for FY2018 
or until FY 2025. 

Total Requested Participation: $9,289,000 

Staff Recommendation: 

Adopt Resolution #1455. 

Suggested Motion: 
 
I move to Adopt Resolution #1455 authorizing the execution of the Type 3 Transformative 
Assistance Participation Agreement as well as the Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Parcel 
B Garage Unit.  
 
 
 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 1455 - 1  

RESOLUTION NO.  1455 
 
BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO:   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, APPROVING 
THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AGENCY 
AND BVGC PARCEL B, LLC,  AN IDAHO LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY, FOR THE ACQUISITION OF A CONDOMINIUM UNIT IN 
A TO BE CONSTRUCTED CONDOMINIUM PROJECT, SUCH UNIT TO 
BE A PUBLIC PARKING GARAGE; APPROVING A TRANSFORMATIVE 
ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AGENCY 
AND BVGC PARCEL B, LLC, FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS RELATED 
TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE CONDOMINIUM PROJECT AND 
ADJACENT DEVELOPMENT; AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN, VICE-
CHAIRMAN, OR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE THE 
AGREEMENTS AND ANY NECESSARY DOCUMENTS OR 
AGREEMENTS, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN CONTINGENCIES; 
AUTHORIZING ANY TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS TO THE 
AGREEMENTS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   

 
 THIS RESOLUTION is made on the date hereinafter set forth by the Urban Renewal 
Agency of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body, corporate and politic, authorized 
under the authority of the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, as amended, Chapter 20, Title 50, 
Idaho Code, a duly created and functioning urban renewal agency for Boise City, Idaho 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Agency”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, a public body, corporate and politic, is an urban renewal agency 
created by and existing under the authority of and pursuant to the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 
1965, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 20, and the Local Economic Development Act, being 
Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 29, as amended and supplemented for the purpose of financing 
the undertaking of any urban renewal project (collectively the "Act"); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Boise, Idaho (the “City”), after notice duly published, conducted a 
public hearing on the River Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Plan (the “River Street Plan”);   
 
 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 5596 on 
December 6, 1994, approving the River Street Plan and making certain findings;   
 
 WHEREAS, the City, after notice duly published, conducted a public hearing on the First 
Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan, River Street-Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Project 
(annexation of the Old Boise Eastside Study Area and Several Minor Parcels) and Renamed River 
Myrtle-Old Boise Urban Renewal Project (the “River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan”); 



RESOLUTION NO. 1455 - 2  

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, the City adopted its Ordinance No. 6362 on 
November 30, 2004, approving the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan and making certain findings; 
 

WHEREAS, BVGC PARCEL B, LLC (“BVGC”), owns or controls certain real property (the 
“Site”) located in the River Myrtle-Old Boise Urban Renewal District (“River Myrtle District”), as 
created by the River Myrtle-Old Boise Plan.   

 
WHEREAS, BVGC intends to construct a mixed use project consisting of retail space, 

office space, other commercial uses, and a parking garage within the Site (the “Project”).   
 
WHEREAS, the Agency has in place a Participation Program which includes Type 3 – 

Transformative Assistance Program under which the Agency provides assistance towards larger 
transformative public or private projects;  
 

WHEREAS, the Project fits within the definition of a Type 3 Transformative Project as 
defined in the Agency’s Participation Program  

 
WHEREAS, the Agency has determined that it is in the public interest to enter into a 

Transformative Assistance Participation Agreement with BVGC whereby BVGC will construct the 
Project and the Agency will reimburse BVGC for constructing specified public improvements as 
specified in the Agreement;  
 
 WHEREAS, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and incorporated herein as if set forth in full, is 
the Transformative Assistance Participation Agreement with BVGC, and attachments thereto 
(collectively the “Agreement”);   
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency deems it appropriate to approve the Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds it in the best public interest to approve the 
Agreement and to authorize the Chairman, Vice-Chairman or Executive Director to execute the 
Agreement; 
 
 WHEREAS, as part of the Project, BVGC will construct structured automobile parking 
with certain other commercial uses thereon (the “Garage”); 
 

WHEREAS, BVGC and the Agency have negotiated an agreement (the “Purchase and Sale 
Agreement”), attached hereto as Exhibit B, and incorporated herein as if set forth in full, 
whereby the Agency shall purchase a condominium unit in the Garage containing Two Hundred 
and Fifty parking spaces (“CCDC Garage Unit”) for Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00);   

 
WHEREAS, the Purchase and Sale Agreement provides for the Agency’s approval of the 

final design plans for the CCDC Garage Unit and the condominium declarations prior to closing 
and right of first refusal and certain contingencies that must be met prior to closing; 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 1455 - 3  

WHEREAS, the Agency deems it appropriate to approve the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds it in the best public interest to approve the 

Purchase and Sale Agreement and to authorize the Chairman, Vice-Chairman or Executive 
Director to execute the Purchase and Sale Agreement; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY OF BOISE CITY, IDAHO, AS FOLLOWS:   
 
 Section 1: That the above statements are true and correct. 
 
 Section 2: That the Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, and 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby is approved. 
 
 Section 3: That the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, or Executive Director of the Agency 
are hereby authorized to finalize the exhibits to the Agreement, sign and enter into the 
Agreement, and to execute all necessary documents required to implement the actions 
contemplated by the Agreement, subject to representations by the Agency staff and the Agency 
legal counsel that all conditions precedent to such actions have been met; and further, any 
necessary technical changes to the Agreement or other documents are acceptable, upon advice 
from the Agency’s legal counsel that said changes are consistent with the provisions of the 
Agreement and the comments and discussions received at the July 18, 2016, Agency Board 
meeting; the Agency is further authorized to appropriate any and all funds contemplated by the 
Agreement and to perform any and all other duties required pursuant to said Agreement. 
 
 Section 4: That the Purchase and Sale Agreement, a copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby is approved. 
 
 Section 5: That the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, or Executive Director of the Agency 
are hereby authorized to enter into the Purchase and Sale Agreement, and to execute all 
necessary documents required to implement the actions contemplated by the Purchase and 
Sale Agreement, including execution of the Right of First Refusal, subject to representations by 
the Agency staff and the Agency legal counsel that all conditions precedent to such actions have 
been met; and further, any necessary technical changes to the Purchase and Sale Agreement or 
other documents are acceptable, upon advice from the Agency’s legal counsel that said changes 
are consistent with the provisions of the Agreement and the comments and discussions 
received at the July 18, 2016, Agency Board meeting; the Agency is further authorized to 
appropriate any and all funds contemplated by the Purchase and Sale Agreement and to 
perform any and all other duties required pursuant to said Purchase and Sale Agreement. 
 
 Section 6: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval.   
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1455 - 4  

 PASSED by the Urban Renewal Agency of Boise City, Idaho, on July 18, 2016.  Signed by 
the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, and attested by the Secretary to the Board of 
Commissioners, on July 18, 2016.   
       

APPROVED:   
 
 
      By                                                             
             Chairman 
ATTEST: 
By                                                   
       Secretary 
 
4815-6409-8356, v.  1 



TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 

THE CAPITAL CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

AND 
 

BVGC PARCEL B, LLC 
 

PARCEL B PROJECT 
 
 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 1 

TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 
 

 
THIS TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT (the 

“Agreement”) is entered into by and between the Urban Renewal Agency of the City of Boise, 
also known as the Capital City Development Corporation, a public body, corporate and politic, of 
the State of Idaho (“CCDC”), and BVGC Parcel B, LLC,  an Idaho limited liability company 
(“Participant”).  CCDC and Participant may be collectively referred to as the “Parties” and 
individually referred to as a “Party.” 
 

RECITALS 
  

CCDC is an urban renewal agency created by and existing pursuant to the Idaho Urban 
Renewal Law of 1965, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 20, and the Local Economic Project 
Act, being Idaho Code, Title 50, Chapter 29, as amended and supplemented (collectively the 
"Act").   
 
 Participant is the owner of the real property located at 1101 W. Front Street, Boise, ID 
83702 (the “Project Site” or “Site”), which is more accurately described and depicted on 
attached Exhibit A.   
 

Participant plans to develop and construct on the Site a mixed use project consisting of 
retail space, office space, other commercial uses, and a parking garage (the “Project”).  CCDC 
is entering this Agreement in reliance on Participant’s construction of the Project. 

 
Preliminary concept plans for the Project are attached as Exhibit B (the “Concept 

Plans”).  The Concept Plans generally depict the Project, as approved by the Boise City Design 
Review Committee in Matter DRH16-00079.  CCDC understands the Concept Plans are 
conceptual only and are subject to final planning and design.   

 
Participant intends on constructing certain Public Improvements (as further described 

below), described and depicted on attached Exhibit C.  
 
 The Project is located in the River Myrtle-Old Boise Urban Renewal District (“River 
Myrtle District”), as defined by the First Amended and Restated Urban Renewal Plan River 
Street/Myrtle Street Urban Renewal Project (the “Plan”).  The Project will contribute to 
enhancing and revitalizing the River Myrtle District and will generate revenue allocation 
proceeds to CCDC for the duration of its existence (the “Reimbursement Period”).  

 CCDC has been asked to assist with the Project consistent with CCDC’s Participation 
Program (the “Participation Program”) adopted by CCDC and as subsequently amended or 
updated.  Under the provisions of the Plan and the Participation Program, CCDC may 
participate in the funding of certain improvements. 

 CCDC and Participant have negotiated the terms and conditions of CCDC’s participation 
in the Project. 

 CCDC, as set forth in this Agreement, agrees to reimburse Participant for the 
construction of certain streetscape improvements to the block faces in the public right of way 
adjacent to the Site and construction of certain other right of way and public and utility service 
improvements described and depicted on Exhibit C (collectively referred to hereafter as the 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 2 

“Public Improvements” as further described below) which are described and depicted on 
Exhibit D.   

Participant’s estimated timeline, value of the completed Project, and identification of the 
four elements that comprise the Project (parking garage, retail building, office building, and 
commercial building) is attached hereto as Exhibit E.  

 
AGREEMENT 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, the mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:  
 

1. Effective Date.  The effective date (the “Effective Date”) of this Agreement shall 
be the date when this Agreement has been signed by Participant and CCDC (last date signed).   
 

2. Recitals, Purpose of This Agreement, and Interest.  The Parties agree that 
the foregoing recitals are not mere recitations but are covenants of the Parties, binding upon 
them and forming a portion of the consideration for the agreements contained herein.  CCDC’s 
commitment herein is designed to comply with CCDC’s authority under the Act and the Plan and 
is intended to constitute an expenditure of CCDC funds for a public purpose and not be deemed 
a gift or donation of public funds.   

 
3. Cost of Construction.  The cost of the Project and the Public Improvements, 

defined below, shall be borne by Participant, subject to reimbursement as set forth herein. 
 
4. Permits and Approvals.  Participant shall, at Participant’s own expense, secure 

any and all permits or approvals which may be required by CCDC, City of Boise (“City”), or any 
other governmental agency relative to Site construction and operation.   

 
5. Public Improvements.  “Public Improvements” shall mean those 

improvements eligible and agreed to for funding by CCDC including certain streetscape 
improvements to the block faces in the public right of way adjacent to the Site, construction of 
certain other right of way, public improvements, and construction of utility service improvements, 
all of which are described and depicted on Exhibit D.  The Public Improvements are directly 
related to public facilities and are:  (a) critical to the redevelopment of the Site; (b) are in the 
best public interest; (c) provide for enhanced development of the Site; and (d) provide a higher 
quality of development that should assist CCDC in achieving redevelopment of other properties 
adjacent to the Site and meeting the objectives of the Plan.   

 
6. Construction of Public Improvements.  The Public Improvements shall be 

constructed in accordance with the overall City infrastructure plans, policies, and design 
standards.  Upon CCDC’s reasonable prior request, CCDC shall have the right and the 
opportunity to review Participant’s construction plans, budgets, and bids for the Public 
Improvements (collectively the “Public Improvement Construction Documents”).  Participant 
will utilize commercially reasonable contracting, budgeting, and bidding practices to ensure that 
the Public Improvements are constructed consistent with the Public Improvement Construction 
Documents and are undertaken in a commercially reasonable manner.  Participant shall be 
presumed to have utilized commercially reasonable contracting, budgeting, and bidding 
practices if its general contractor solicits or solicited competitive bids for the Public 
Improvements and such work is not performed by an affiliate or subsidiary of Participant. 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 3 

 
7. Commencement of the Public Improvements.  Participant shall commence 

construction on the Public Improvements on or before December 31, 2016.  In the event that 
Participant fails to commence construction of the Public Improvements on or before December 
31, 2016, CCDC may terminate this Agreement.  Participant will be deemed to have 
commenced the construction upon Participant’s receipt of a building permit from the City for the 
parking garage element of the Project.  The commencement date may be extended for up to 
one hundred eighty (180) days by Participant, upon written approval from CCDC, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Such dates shall also be extended for delays 
permitted under Section 39 herein and other matters outside the control of Participant.  
Participant’s construction of the Public Improvements may be phased consistent with the 
phasing of Participant’s construction of the Project.  Prior to commencing construction of the 
Public Improvements, Participant shall provide CCDC with a phasing plan for the Project and 
the Public Improvements (the “Phasing Plan”) which may be modified from time to time to 
reflect the actual progression of the Project and adjacent and appurtenant Public Improvements.  
Participant shall provide CCDC with an updated Phasing Plan as such plan is modified.  The 
Phasing Plan shall identify the “Phases” (each a “Phase”) of construction of the Public 
Improvements.  There shall be no more than four (4) Phases.  Construction of the Public 
Improvements shall be completed within thirty-six (36) months of the Effective Date, subject to 
Section 39. 

 
8. Antidiscrimination During Construction.  Participant, for itself and its 

successors and assigns, agrees that in the construction of improvements on the Site provided 
for in this Agreement, Participant will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, age, color, creed, religion, sex, gender, marital status, ancestry, 
or national origin. 

 
9. Approvals of Project and Public Improvements.  Participant shall be 

responsible for obtaining necessary approvals for the Project (including the Public 
Improvements) from the governmental entities and other entities necessary, including to the 
extent necessary, but not limited to, Boise City, the Ada County Highway District (ACHD), Idaho 
Transportation Department (ITD), and other governmental entities having approval authority for 
the Project (the “Approving Entities”).   

 
Participant shall keep CCDC advised of the approval process of the Approving Entities 

and advise CCDC immediately if any action of Approving Entities shall affect the scope and 
purpose of the Agreement.  Participant shall provide CCDC courtesy copies of any applications 
to Boise City for any modifications to the design of the Project, approved as DRH16-00079, and 
notice of any hearings on such applications before Boise City.   

 
The Public Improvements and the Project shall be designed, constructed, and installed 

in compliance with the requirements of any of the Approving Entities, as applicable, and shall 
meet the design approved as DRH16-00079 or as approved by any subsequent applications to 
Boise City.  Any changes to the designs for the Public Improvements require CCDC’s written 
approval, such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
 
Participant agrees that it will coordinate discussions between CCDC, Boise City, ITD, 

and ACHD regarding the potential realignment of the western pedestrian cross walk at the 
intersection of Myrtle Street and 11th Street so that the location of the western cross walk would 
more directly align with the northwest corner and the existing intersection of the Pioneer 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 4 

Corridor and Myrtle Street.  CCDC acknowledges that Participant does not control the ultimate 
approval of ITD and ACHD regarding the modification of this intersection and that such desired 
modification will likely result in significant cost and expense associated with the reconstruction 
and replacement of the crosswalk, signal masts, and other related structures.  Participant shall 
reasonably cooperate in designing, approving, and supporting such request to modify the 
location of the crosswalk.  Other than the incidental and marginal costs associated with 
coordinating such meetings, CCDC acknowledges that Participant shall not be responsible for 
any costs associated with such realignment.  If approval for the realignment is obtained at such 
time as to permit it being undertaken in conjunction with the other Public Improvements set forth 
in this Agreement, then CCDC and Participant may amend this Agreement to have Participant 
undertake the work associated with realignment in conjunction with the other Public 
Improvements and further amend this Agreement to include such work as a reimbursable 
expense.   

 
10. Warranty on Public Improvements.  Participant warrants that the materials and 

workmanship employed in the construction of the Public Improvements shall be good and sound 
and shall conform to generally accepted standards within the construction industry.  Such 
warranty shall extend for a period of one (1) year after acceptance of the Public Improvements 
by CCDC, provided nothing herein shall limit the time within which CCDC may bring an action 
against Participant on account of Participant’s failure to otherwise construct such improvements 
in accordance with this Agreement or the Public Improvement Construction Documents.  The 
one-year warranty period does not constitute a limitation period with respect to the enforcement 
of Participant’s other obligations under the Agreement. 

 
11. Maintenance.  Participant recognizes CCDC has no specific authority to accept 

maintenance responsibility of the Public Improvements and that no agreement has been 
reached with CCDC to accept any maintenance obligations for the Public Improvements.  
Provided however, that this Section 11 shall not limit or modify any obligation that CCDC 
assumes or may assume in the future in association with its purchase of a portion of the parking 
garage that is pursuant to a separate agreement. 

   
12. Notification of Completion; Inspection.  Upon completion of construction of 

each Phase of the Public Improvements, Participant shall notify CCDC in writing and request a 
final construction inspection and a meeting with CCDC to determine if the Public Improvements 
for such Phase meet the requirements of this Agreement.  Following the inspection and 
meeting, provided the Public Improvements for such Phase meet the requirements of this 
Agreement, CCDC shall provide Participant with written confirmation that the Public 
Improvements for such Phase have been completed in compliance with this Agreement within 
ten (10) days of the inspection.  The confirmation shall also identify any portion of the Public 
Improvements for such Phase that need to be completed or corrected and establish a time 
frame for their completion or correction.   

 
13. Estimated Costs for Public Improvements.  Participant has estimated the cost 

of the Public Improvements to be Four Million Two Hundred Eighty Eight Thousand Six Hundred 
Twenty Five Dollars ($4,288,625.00) (the “Estimated Costs”).  Attached hereto as Exhibit D is 
a schedule of Estimated Costs. 

 
14. Determination of CCDC Reimbursement Amount.  Upon completion of the 

construction of each Phase of the Public Improvements (as approved by the Approving Entities 
in compliance with Section 9) on the Site and City’s acceptance of such improvements (if 
applicable), Participant will dedicate and grant easements, as required, for all public 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 5 

infrastructure and utility infrastructure constructed to: (a) City; (b) to the other Approving Entities 
with jurisdiction over such public improvements; or (C) the public utility provider whose utility 
infrastructure has been constructed.   
 

Upon acceptance of the improvements and the dedication of the utility infrastructure 
improvements and other public improvements as set forth above, Participant, within a 
reasonable time, shall submit an invoice (“Invoice”) to CCDC for the Public Improvements 
together with an accounting of the actual costs to construct the Public Improvements and Cost 
Documentation, as defined below.  Submission of Cost Documentation may occur on a Phase 
by Phase basis upon completion of each Phase’s construction of Public Improvements under 
Section 7.  “Cost Documentation” shall include the following: 

 
a. Schedule of values that includes line items for each Phase’s Public Improvements 

approved by CCDC for reimbursement so they are identifiable separate from other 
line items (“Schedule of Values”) and correspond to the Estimated Costs 

 
b. Invoices, billings, and other proof of expenditures from Participant’s general 

contractor, subcontractor(s) and material suppliers for each type of eligible cost 
item (e.g. concrete, pavers, benches, historic street lights)(the “Proof of 
Expenditure”).  Proof of Expenditure shall be specific to Public Improvements for 
each Phase and, if necessary, specify quantities and unit costs of installed 
materials, and a percentage estimate of how much installed material was used for 
the Public Improvements in comparison to the amount used for the remainder of 
Participant’s project. 

 
c. Explanation of any significant deviation between the Estimated Cost and the actual 

costs in the Cost Documentation. 
 

CCDC shall have the right to review the Cost Documentation for each Phase of Public 
Improvements and to obtain independent verification that the quantities of work claimed, the unit 
costs and the total costs for eligible costs are commercially reasonable and consistent with the 
cost estimates provided by Participant to CCDC prior to construction.  In the event Participant 
fails to timely deliver the Cost Documentation, CCDC may, in its discretion, elect to terminate its 
payment obligations under this Agreement by providing Participant with written notice of such 
default.  Participant shall have thirty (30) days from such written notice to cure the default.  In 
the event Participant fails to cure such a default as to those Public Improvements that are the 
subject of such default notice, CCDC’s payment obligations for Public Improvements that are 
the subject of such uncured default under this Agreement may be terminated in CCDC’s sole 
discretion. 
 

Within fifteen (15) days of CCDC’s receipt of the Cost Documentation, CCDC will notify 
Participant in writing of CCDC’s determination of the actual costs to construct the Public 
Improvements for such Phase, CCDC shall notify Participant of the amount CCDC shall 
reimburse Participant for the Public Improvements for such Phase (the “CCDC 
Reimbursement”).  The CCDC Reimbursement shall be the lesser of the Actual Costs or 
the Estimated Costs.  Participant acknowledges CCDC will not reimburse Participant for 
an amount greater than the Estimated Costs, even if the Actual Costs are greater than the 
Estimated Costs. Participant acknowledges CCDC will not reimburse Participant for an 
amount greater than the tax increment generated on the Site and received by CCDC, even 
if the costs are greater than the tax increment generated. 

 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 6 

If Participant disagrees with CCDC’s calculation of the CCDC Reimbursement, 
Participant must respond to CCDC in writing within ten (10) days of CCDC Reimbursement 
explaining why Participant believes CCDC’s calculation was in error and providing any evidence 
to support any such contentions Participant wants CCDC to consider.  CCDC shall respond to 
Participant within ten (10) days with a revised amount for the CCDC Reimbursement which will 
not be less than the original proposed CCDC Reimbursement or notifying Participant CCDC will 
not revise the initial amount calculated.  At that point, the determination of the CCDC 
Reimbursement will be final.  

 
CCDC’s determination of the CCDC Reimbursements shall be made consistent 

with the requirements of this Agreement and shall be made in a commercially reasonable 
manner. 
 

15. Conditions to CCDC’s Payment Obligation.   
 

The following conditions must be met before CCDC has any obligation to reimburse 
Participant for the Public Improvements: 

 
a. City issues a Certificate of Occupancy or Temporary Certificate of Occupancy 

for any portion of the Project. 
 

b. CCDC provides written confirmation to Participant that the Public 
Improvements for the specified Phase of development have been completed 
in compliance with this Agreement. 

 
16. Deadline to Complete Project.  In order to be eligible for any CCDC 

Reimbursement for the Public Improvements under this Agreement, Participant must complete 
the Project consistent with the Phasing Plan identified in Section 7 above.  Upon written notice, 
the Project may be extended as set forth in Section 7 by: (a) modification of the phasing plan; or 
(b) by Participant’s extension as authorized in Section 7.  If Participant does not complete the 
Project within the time period set forth in this Section, CCDC shall have no obligation to 
reimburse Participant for the costs of the Public Improvements.  The Project shall be considered 
completed for the purposes of this Section upon Participant’s meeting the conditions of Section 
15 for the final phase of the Project and the final Phase of the Public Improvements. 
 

17. Payment Terms.  Participant shall initially pay for all of the costs of construction 
for the Public Improvements funded by CCDC associated with the Project.  By approval of this 
Agreement by CCDC’s Board of Commissioners, Agency has authorized reimbursement for 
CCDC Reimbursement as set forth below, and the other provisions of this Agreement.  

 
 On or before September 30 each year during the Reimbursement Period, CCDC shall 
pay Participant one hundred percent (100%) of the tax increment generated from the Site that is 
actually received by CCDC as of September 1 of that year (the “Annual Payment”).  
PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES THE TAX REVENUE ALLOCATION PROCEEDS MAY 
NOT BE SUFFICIENT TO PAY OFF THE CCDC REIMBURSEMENT ON OR BEFORE THE 
TERMINATION OF THE URBAN RENEWAL PLAN, AND ASSUMES THAT RISK.   
 
 CCDC shall have no obligation to make payments to the Participant for taxes collected 
and paid to CCDC beyond the term described herein.   
 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 7 

 CCDC may redeem, at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty, the then remaining 
outstanding balance of the CCDC Reimbursement. 
 
 In general, though exceptions exist for periodic adjustments to the property tax rolls, the 
value of construction activity occurring during a given calendar year that is completed by 
December 31 of that year will be added to the property tax rolls as of January 1 of the 
subsequent year and assessments on this value will be collected during the following fiscal year 
for Ada County.1  For example, a construction project completed in November of 2015 will add 
value to the property tax rolls for tax year 2016.  Taxes for tax year 2016 will then be collected in 
fiscal year 2017 (October 1, 2016 – September 30, 2017).  In general, if a project is not 
completed with a certificate of occupancy (a partial value but not a full value may be identified) 
by December 31st of any given year, the new value will not be added to the property tax rolls for 
following tax year but will instead be deferred another year. 

 
The current total assessed value of the Site, as determined by the Ada County 

Assessor’s Office, is $8,467,500 for tax year 2016.  
 
The “base value” for determining the tax increment money that is generated from the 

Site is $1,319,600.   
 
For purposes of this Agreement, Participant estimates the total value of the Project upon 

completion will be at least Forty-Six Million Dollars ($46,000,000) (the “Estimated Value”).  If 
the CCDC Reimbursement is not fully reimbursed by sum of the Annual Payments as 
further limited by the termination date of the Plan, CCDC will not be obligated to make 
any additional payments. 

 
Participant acknowledges that the sum of the Annual Payments may be less than 

the CCDC Reimbursement if the tax increment generated as a result of the Project during 
the Reimbursement Period is less than the CCDC Reimbursement. 

 
It is the specific intent of the Parties that the CCDC Reimbursement shall be paid from 

the tax increment monies, if any, which are paid to CCDC as a direct result of the Project and 
any future development constructed on the Site.  The parties acknowledge and agree that they 
entered into this Agreement based on Participant’s construction of the Project and the Public 
Improvements and CCDC’s agreement to pay the CCDC Reimbursement.  Participant 
acknowledges that if Participant does not construct the Project as depicted in Exhibit B (and 
subsequently amended as provided herein), Participant may not be reimbursed for the full costs 
of the Public Improvements. 

 
CCDC’s payment obligations hereunder shall not constitute a general obligation or debt 

of CCDC, the State of Idaho, or any of its political subdivisions or give rise to a charge against 
their general credit or taxing powers to be payable out of any funds or properties other than the 
eighty percent of the tax increment generated by the Project during the Reimbursement Period.  

 
Notwithstanding the above, CCDC reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to pay off the 

CCDC Reimbursement at any time.  
 

                                                             
1  CCDC and Ada County both operate on a fiscal year beginning on October 1 and ending September 30. 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 8 

As provided by Idaho Code Section 50-2910, the obligations of Agency hereunder shall 
not constitute a general obligation or debt of the Agency, the State of Idaho, or any of its political 
subdivisions or give rise to a charge against their general credit or taxing powers to be payable 
out of any funds or properties other than the monies deposited in the special fund or funds 
provided for herein and pledged hereby to the payment of principal and interest on this CCDC 
Reimbursement. 
 

18. CCDC Reimbursement Assignable.  CCDC shall reimburse Participant by 
paying the CCDC Reimbursement to Participant or to Participant’s assignee.  Participant shall 
have the absolute right to assign its right to reimbursement to its lender, its successor, or other 
entity designated by Participant in writing.  CCDC shall cooperate as reasonably necessary to 
memorialize any such assignment. 

 
19. Subordination of Reimbursement Obligations.  The Parties agree this 

Agreement does not provide Participant with a security interest in any CCDC revenues for the 
River Myrtle District or any other urban renewal plan area, including but not limited to revenue 
from any “Revenue Allocation Area” (as defined in Title 50, Chapter 29 of the Idaho Code) or 
any revenue from CCDC’s parking garages.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, the obligation of CCDC to make the payments as specified in this Agreement shall 
be subordinate to all CCDC obligations that have committed or in the future commit available 
CCDC revenues, including but not limited to revenue from any Revenue Allocation Area or any 
revenue from CCDC’s parking garages, and may be subject to consent and approval by CCDC 
lenders; provided, however, that CCDC (a) shall not grant any other person or entity a security 
interest in CCDC’s tax increment revenues for the River Myrtle District, except as may be 
related to loans, issuance of credit, or the issuance of bonds related to the maintenance, 
operation, or purchase of parking facilities or any other urban renewal project; (b) except as 
permitted in the previous clause, shall not enter into any agreement committing the tax 
increment generated from the Site to any other person or entity; and (c) shall not, without prior 
notice to Participant, modify the Plan in such a way as would (i) adversely affect the 
implementation of the Plan, (ii) adversely affect the ability of CCDC to obtain revenue from the 
Site, or (iii) result in the resetting of the base value of the Site.  Upon reasonable request from 
the Participant, CCDC will provide updates on the availability of funds for the CCDC 
Reimbursement and the most recently adopted annual budget for the River Myrtle District.   

 
20. Indemnification.  Participant shall indemnify, defend, and hold CCDC and its 

respective officers, agents, and employees harmless from and against all liabilities, obligations, 
damages, penalties, claims, costs, charges, and expenses, including reasonable architect and 
attorney fees (collectively referred to in this Section as “Claim”), which may be imposed upon or 
incurred by or asserted against CCDC or its respective officers, agents, and employees relating 
to the construction or design of the Project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Participant shall 
have no obligation to indemnify and hold CCDC and its respective officers, agents, and 
employees harmless from and against any matter to the extent it arises from the active 
negligence or willful act of CCDC or its respective officers, agents, or employees.  In the event 
an action or proceeding is brought against CCDC or its respective officers, agents, and 
employees by reason of any such claim, Participant, upon written notice from CCDC, shall, at 
Participant’s expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding.   

 
21. Insurance Requirements.  Participant shall, or through its contractor, agents, 

representatives, employees or subcontractors shall, at its sole cost, obtain and maintain in force 
for the duration of the construction of the improvements to the Site as part of the Project, 
insurance of the following types, with limits not less than those set forth below and in a form 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 9 

acceptable to CCDC, against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may 
arise from, or in connection with, the performance of the services hereunder by Participant, its 
agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors:   

 
 a. Commercial General Liability Insurance with a minimum combined single 

limit liability of $1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage; with a 
minimum limit of liability of $1,000,000 each person for personal and advertising injury liability.  
Such policy shall have a general aggregate limit of not less than $2,000,000, which general 
aggregate limit will be provided on a per project basis.  The policy shall be endorsed to name 
CCDC and City as additional insureds.   

 
 b. Workers’ Compensation Insurance, including occupational illness or 

disease coverage, in accordance with the laws of the nation, state, territory, or province having 
jurisdiction over Participant’s employees, and Employer’s Liability Insurance.  Participant shall 
not utilize occupational accident or health insurance policies, or the equivalent, in lieu of 
mandatory Workers’ Compensation Insurance or otherwise attempt to opt out of the statutory 
Workers’ Compensation system.   

 
c. Automobile Liability Insurance covering use of all owned, non-owned, and 

hired automobiles with a minimum combined single limit of liability for bodily injury and property 
damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This policy shall be endorsed to name CCDC, including 
its respective affiliates, directors, and employees, as additional insureds.   

 
 d. All insurance provided by Participant under this Agreement shall include a 

waiver of subrogation by the insurers in favor of CCDC.  Participant hereby releases CCDC, 
including its respective affiliates, directors, and employees, for losses or claims for bodily injury, 
property damage covered by Participant’s insurance or other insured claims arising out of 
Participant’s performance under this Agreement or construction of the Project.   

 
 e. Certificates of insurance satisfactory in form to CCDC (ACORD form or 

equivalent) shall be supplied to CCDC evidencing that the insurance required above is in force, 
that, to the extent commercially reasonable, not less than thirty (30) days’ written notice will be 
given to CCDC prior to any cancellation or restrictive modification of the policies, and that the 
waivers of subrogation are in force.  Participant shall also provide, with its certificate of 
insurance, executed copies of the additional insured endorsements and dedicated limits 
endorsements required in this Agreement.  At CCDC’s request, Participant shall provide a 
certified copy of each insurance policy required under this Agreement.   

 
 f. The foregoing insurance coverage shall be primary and noncontributing 

with respect to any other insurance or self-insurance that may be maintained by CCDC.  The 
fact that Participant has obtained the insurance required in this Section shall in no manner 
lessen or affect Participant’s other obligations or liabilities set forth in the Agreement.   

 
22. Use of the Site.  For so long as Participant owns the Site, Participant agrees and 

covenants that the use and development of the Site shall comply with all other provisions and 
conditions of the Plan for the period of time the Plan is in force and effect, which for purposes of 
this Agreement is deemed through December 31, 2025.  
 

23. Local, State and Federal Laws.  Participant covenants that it will carry out the 
construction of the improvements in conformity with all applicable laws, including all applicable 
federal and state labor standards. 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 10 

24. Taxes.  Participant shall pay when due all real estate and personal property 
taxes and assessments assessed and levied on Participant’s ownership interest of the Site.  
This provision or covenant shall run with the land and be binding upon Participant’s successors.  
Participant recognizes CCDC has no authority or involvement in the assessment, tax, or 
collection process for ad valorem taxes, including real property and personal property taxes.  
Participant also recognizes the ability of CCDC to reimburse Participant for the CCDC 
Reimbursement is dependent on the ad valorem assessment and collection process.  
Participant expressly acknowledges and understands that the CCDC Reimbursement is linked 
to the tax increment revenue actually generated from the Site, and in the event insufficient taxes 
are received by CCDC for any reason including a reduction of the tax levy rate or assessed 
values less than assumed by CCDC and Participant or in the event of any tax delinquency or 
contest of value by any owner of parcels within the Site or by any tenant related to personal 
property the actual tax increment received by CCDC will be reduced, which in turn will result in 
lower Annual Payments by CCDC to Participant. 

25. Tax Appeals/Exemptions.  Participant or its successors shall not, without 
CCDC’s written authorization, which shall not be unreasonably withheld if participant does not 
seek to have its assessed valuation reduced below the Estimated Value, contest or appeal the 
assessed value or seek any property tax exemption for any of the parcels within the Site, 
including but not limited to an exemption or reduction under Idaho Code § 63-602NN or Idaho 
Code Section 63-606A, for property taxes assessed for any property tax year up to and 
including property tax year 2025, seeking a lower tax assessment for any of the parcels within 
the Site.  The property tax year runs from January 1st to December 31.  Provided, Participant 
may appeal the assessed value or seek any property tax exemption for the Site if the Ada 
County Assessor determines the value of the Site is greater than the Estimated Value upon 
receipt of CCDC’s written authorization, such authorization shall not be unreasonably withheld 
and shall be provided in a timely manner.  Any appeal of an assessed value or request for 
property tax exemption for the Site for an assessment at less than the Estimated Value requires 
CCDC’s written authorization, which shall be provided in CCDC’s sole discretion.   

26. Default.  Unless a different cure period in the event of a default is provided 
herein, neither Party shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement except upon the 
expiration of forty-five (45) days (ten [10] days in the event of failure to pay money) from receipt 
of written notice from the other Party specifying the particulars in which such Party has failed to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement unless such Party, prior to expiration of said 45-
day period (ten [10] days in the event of failure to pay money), has rectified the particulars 
specified in said notice of default or is diligently proceeding with rectification of those particulars.  
In the event of a default, the nondefaulting Party may do the following: 

 
a. The nondefaulting Party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to 

the defaulting Party and recover from the defaulting Party all direct damages 
incurred by the nondefaulting Party. 
 

b.  The nondefaulting Party may seek specific performance of those elements of 
this Agreement which can be specifically performed, in addition, recover all 
damages incurred by the nondefaulting Party.  The Parties declare it to be 
their intent that elements of this Agreement requiring certain actions be taken 
for which there are not adequate legal remedies may be specifically enforced. 
 

c. The nondefaulting Party may perform or pay any obligation or encumbrance 
necessary to cure the default and offset the cost thereof from monies 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 11 

otherwise due the defaulting Party or recover said monies from the defaulting 
Party. 

 
d. The nondefaulting Party may pursue all other remedies available at law, it 

being the intent of the Parties that remedies be cumulative and liberally 
enforced so as to adequately and completely compensate the nondefaulting 
Party. 

 
e. In the event Participant defaults under this Agreement, CCDC (the 

nondefaulting Party) shall have the right to suspend or terminate its payment 
under this Agreement, as more specifically defined in this Agreement, for so 
long as the default continues and if not cured, CCDC’s obligation for payment 
may be deemed extinguished by CCDC in its discretion.  In addition, if CCDC 
funds shall have been paid, Participant shall reimburse CCDC for any such 
funds Participant received.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, 
Participant shall have no obligation to reimburse CCDC for any portion of 
CCDC Reimbursement and CCDC shall not withhold CCDC Reimbursement 
that: (a) relates to a Phase of the Public Improvements that has been 
accepted; (b) has previously been or is currently subject to CCDC 
Reimbursement; and (c) is not subject to a default notice. 

 
27. Dispute Resolution.  In the event that a dispute arises between CCDC and 

Participant regarding application or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement or a Party’s 
performance of any obligations under this Agreement, the Parties may first endeavor to settle 
the dispute in an amicable manner by mediation.  If the Parties elect to mediate their dispute, 
the Parties will select a mediator by mutual agreement and agree to each pay half of the 
mediator’s costs and fees.  The mediation will take place in Boise, Idaho, unless otherwise 
agreed by the Parties in writing.  Should the Parties be unable to resolve the dispute to their 
mutual satisfaction within forty-five (45) days after such completion of mediation, each Party 
shall have the right to pursue any rights or remedies it may have at law or in equity.  If the 
Parties do not mutually agree to mediate the dispute, either Party may pursue any rights or 
remedies it may have at law.   

 
28. Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.  Except as otherwise expressly stated 

in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the exercise by 
any Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise by it, at the 
same time or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the same default or any other 
default by the other Party.   

 
29. Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Agreement are for 

reference only and shall not be deemed to define or limit the scope or intent of any of the terms, 
covenants, conditions, or agreements contained herein. 

 
30. No Joint Venture or Partnership.  CCDC and Participant agree that nothing 

contained in this Agreement or in any document executed in connection with this Agreement 
shall be construed as making CCDC and Participant a joint venture or partners. 

 
31. Assignment.  Subject to Participant’s right to assign the right to the CCDC 

Reimbursement under this Agreement, Participant’s rights and obligations under this Agreement 
are not assignable.  Provided Participant may assign Participant’s rights or obligations under 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 12 

this Agreement to a third party only with the written approval of CCDC, which approval shall not 
be unreasonably withheld.   

 
32. Notice.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be given in writing 

and shall be deemed properly served or delivered: (a) if delivered in person, or by electronic 
mail transmission with confirmation of receipt; (b) upon deposit for overnight delivery with any 
reputable overnight courier service, delivery confirmation requested; or (c) upon deposit with the 
U.S. Postal Service registered or certified mail and addressed to the Parties at the addresses 
set forth below or such other addresses specified hereafter: 

 
 (a) If to Buyer:    Capital City Development Corporation 
      Attn: John Brunelle 
      121 North 9th Street, Suite 501 
      Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

 With a copy to:   Elam & Burke, P.A. 
     Attn: Ryan P. Armbruster 
     P.O. Box 1539 
     Boise, Idaho 83701-1539  
  
(b) If to Seller:   BVGC Parcel B, LLC 

Attn: J. Thomas Ahlquist 
     101 S. Capitol Blvd., Suite 1700 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

With a copy to:   BV Management Services, Inc. 
     Attn: Cortney Liddiard 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405 
     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  flyfish@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:   BV Management Services, Inc.  
       Attn: Thel W. Casper 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405    
     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  tcasper@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:   Spink Butler, LLP 
     Attn: Geoffrey M. Wardle 
     251 E. Front Street, Suite 200 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
     Phone: (208) 388-1000 
     Email: gwardle@spinkbutler.com  

 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 13 

The party and address to which notices are to be given may be changed at any time by any 
party upon written notice to the other party.   

 
33. Conflicts of Interest.  No member, official, or employee of CCDC shall have any 

personal interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, nor shall any such member, official, or 
employee participate in any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his/her personal 
interests or the interests of any corporation, partnership, or association in which he/she is 
directly or indirectly interested. 

 
Participant warrants that except for its consulting professions advising it in conjunction 

with this Agreement, it has not paid or given, and will not pay or give, any third party any money 
or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement. 

 
34. Non-Liability of CCDC Officials and Employees.  No member, official, or 

employee of CCDC shall be personally liable to Participant in the event of any default or breach 
by CCDC or for any amount which may become due to Participant or on any obligations under 
the terms of this Agreement. 

 
35. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall, except as otherwise provided 

herein, be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Parties 
hereto. 

 
36. Applicable Law/Attorney Fees.  This Agreement shall be construed and 

enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho.  Should any legal action be brought 
by either Party because of breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees, court costs, and 
such other costs as may be found by the court. 

 
37. Severability.  If any provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason be held to 

be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this 
Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 
provisions had not been contained herein. 
 

38. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the 
same instrument. 

 
39. Forced Delay; Extension of Times of Performance.  In addition to the specific 

provisions of this Agreement, performance by any Party hereunder shall not be deemed to be in 
default where delays or defaults are due to war; insurrection; strikes; lock-outs; riots; floods; 
earthquakes; fires; casualties; acts of God; acts of the public enemy; epidemics; quarantine 
restrictions; freight embargoes; lack of transportation; lack of materials or labor at commercially 
reasonable prices or in commercially reasonable quantities; governmental restrictions or priority; 
litigation; unusually severe weather; acts of another party; environmental analysis, or removal of 
hazardous or toxic substances; acts or the failure to act of any public or governmental agency or 
entity (except that acts or the failure to act of CCDC shall not excuse performance by CCDC); or 
any other causes beyond the control or without the fault of the Party claiming an extension of 
time to perform.  An extension of time for any such cause shall only be for the period of the 
forced delay, which period shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the 
cause, if notice is delivered by the Party claiming such extension no later than forty-five (45) 
days after the commencement of the cause.  If, however, notice by the Party claiming such 



TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 14 

extension is sent to the other Party more than forty-five (45) days after the commencement of 
the cause, the period shall commence to run only forty-five (45) days prior to the giving of such 
notice.  Times of performance under this Agreement may also be extended in writing by CCDC 
and Participant. 

40. Inspection of Books and Records.  CCDC has the right, upon not less than
seventy-two (72) hours’ notice, at all reasonable times, to inspect the books and records of 
Participant pertaining to the Public Improvements.   

No inspection by CCDC shall, however, cause any document, information, or record of 
Participant to become a public record subject to public disclosure pursuant to Title 74, Chapter 1 
of the Idaho Code, unless such document, information, or record is actually delivered to CCDC 
by Participant.   

Except as set forth in this Agreement or other agreement executed by the Parties, 
recorded by the Parties, or made part of the records of CCDC, the Parties acknowledge that 
Participant’s documents, records, plans, and information in any form related to the Project shall 
be confidential unless and until such documents are provided to CCDC, and then CCDC shall 
take such action as is permissible under Title 74, Chapter 1 of the Idaho Code to protect the 
confidentiality of documents provided by Participant that have been clearly marked as 
confidential with reference to the applicable section of Idaho Code under which the documents 
are deemed not subject to public disclosure.   

41. Promotion of Project.  Participant agrees CCDC may promote the Public
Improvements and CCDC’s involvement with the Public Improvements.  Such promotion 
includes reasonable signage at the Site notifying the public of CCDC’s involvement with the 
Public Improvements which signage shall not interfere with the construction or operation of the 
Public Improvements or the Site and shall be approved by Participant, in its reasonable 
discretion. 

42. Entire Agreement, Waivers, and Amendments.  This Agreement, including
Exhibits A through D, inclusive, incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the entire 
understanding and agreement of the Parties.  This Agreement integrates all of the terms and 
conditions mentioned herein or incidental hereto and supersedes all negotiations or previous 
agreements between the Parties with respect to all or any part of the subject matter thereof.  All 
waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by the appropriate 
authorities of CCDC and Participant, and all amendments hereto must be in writing and signed 
by the appropriate authorities of CCDC and Participant. 

Exhibit A – Legal Description 
Exhibit B – Project Concept Plan 
Exhibit C – Public Improvements Plan and Narrative
Exhibit D – Public Improvements Cost Estimate 
Exhibit E – Project Timeline and Estimated Value 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have signed this Agreement the day and 
year below written to be effective as indicated above. 

{Signatures on the following page} 



 
TRANSFORMATIVE ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT - 15 

 
 
 
_________________   Capital City Development Corporation (“CCDC”) 
(Date) 
 
     By ___________________________________ 
 John Brunelle, Executive Director 
 
 
 
__________________  BVGC Parcel B, LLC (“Participant”) 
(Date)     an Idaho limited liability company,  

by its Operations Manager 
 

KC Gardner company, L.C., a Utah limited liability 
company 
 

 
      By: _________________________________ 
 Christian K. Gardner  
      Its: Manager  
 



EXHIBIT A - 1 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

 
A PARCEL OF LAND BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 
10, TOWNSHIP 3 NORTH, RANGE 2 EAST, BOISE MERIDIAN, BOISE, ADA COUNTY, 
IDAHO, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT MARKING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SAID SECTION 
10; THENCE SOUTH 08°08’55" WEST 317.89 FEET TO A POINT MARKING THE 
CENTERLINE INTERSECTION OF NORTH 15TH STREET AND WEST FRONT STREET, AS 
SHOWN OF RECORD OF SURVEY NO. 1349, BROADWAY-CHINDEN ALIGNMENT; 
THENCE ALONG THE SAID CENTERLINE OF WEST FRONT STREET SOUTH 56°41’58" 
EAST 760.62 FEET TO AN IRON PIN MARKING THE CENTERLINE INTERSECTION OF 
WEST FRONT STREET AND NORTH 13TH STREET; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 
54°47’10" EAST 50.00 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE LEAVING THE SAID CENTERLINE OF 
WEST FRONT STREET SOUTH 35°12’50" WEST 40.00 FEET TO AN IRON PIN ON THE 
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID WEST FRONT STREET, ALSO SAID 
POINT BEING THE REAL POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG THE SAID 
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE SOUTH 54°47’10" EAST 654.94 FEET TO A LEAD 
PLUG AND TACK IN CONCRETE ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
NORTH 11TH STREET; THENCE ALONG THE SAID NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE SOUTH 09°47’12" EAST 21.08 FEET TO A BRASS CAP; THENCE CONTINUING 
SOUTH 35°34’36" WEST 327.52 FEET TO AN IRON PIN; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 
87°17’01" WEST 12.39 FEET TO A BRASS CAP MARKING A POINT OF BEGINNING OF 
CURVE ON THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST MYRTLE STREET; 
THENCE ALONG THE SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE ALONG A CURVE TO 
THE LEFT 254.67  FEET, SAID CURVE HAVING A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 13°30’38", A 
RADIUS OF 1080.00 FEET AND A LONG CHORD BEARING NORTH 48°01’51" WEST 254.08 
FEET TO A BRASS CAP MARKING A POINT OF TANGENT; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 
54°47’10" WEST 415.66 FEET TO A BRASS CAP ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF- 
WAY LINE SAID NORTH 13TH STREET; THENCE ALONG THE SAID SOUTHEASTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE NORTH 35°12’34" EAST 310.15 FEET TO A BRASS CAP; THENCE 
CONTINUING NORTH 80°12’41" EAST 14.14 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
APN: S1010223318 
 
 



EXHIBIT A - 2 

 
 



EXHIBIT B - 1 

EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT CONCEPT PLAN 

 



MYRTLE  ST

�RONT  ST

13
T�

  S
T

11
T�

  S
T



900 30 60





























LANDS�APE NOTES:







lwilliams
Text Box
EXHIBIT B - PROJECT CONCEPT PLAN



UP

UP

1

12,211 SF

100B108

102B

110

109

10BA

10BB

107

106

105

103
104

102A

101B

101A

10A
A

10AB



900 30 60

























SITE KEYNOTES: SITE LAYOUT NOTES:

SITE DIMENSIONING NOTES:

SITE MATERIAL LEGEND:






PARCEL B: AERIAL VIEW

05/10/2016

NOTES:
Public plaza at the corner of Myrtle and 11th will not include any seemingly private area for
future retail use. The depiction does not include the separation of the private versus public
space which will have to occur.

lwilliams
Text Box
NOTES: Public Plaza at the corner of Myrtle and 11th will not include any seemingly private area for future retail use. The Depiction does not include the separation of the private versus public space which will have to occur.


























































 

 









PARCEL B: PERSPECTIVE



PARCEL B: PERSPECTIVE

OFFICE VIEW FROM MYRTLE & 13TH STREET

05/10/2016



0
7' 14'

21'

Parcel B Office Building- Elevation

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

EFIS

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

METAL PANELMETAL CANOPY

CURTAINWALL

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

MASONRY

EIFS

EIFS

METAL PANEL

EIFS

MASONRY

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL CANOPY

76'

84'

76' 84'



FUTURE SIGNAGE

FUTURE SIGNAGE

Parcel B- OFFICE BUILDING- ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

EFIS

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL CANOPY

METAL PANEL

CURTAINWALL

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

MASONRY

EIFS

EIFS

ALUMINUM CANOPY

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

EIFS

ALUMINUM CANOPY

76'
84'

76'

84'

0
7' 14'

21'



PARCEL B: PARKING GARAGE ELEVATIONS

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAILPERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

FUTURE SIGNAGE

MASONRY

METAL CANOPY

CABLE RAILARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAIL PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

MASONRY

SOUTH ELEVATION

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAIL

PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

METAL
CANOPYARCHITECTURAL

CONCRETE

+48'

WEST ELEVATION



PARCEL B: RETAIL EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

SCALE: 3/32" = 1'-0"

+22'

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

EIFS

METAL
CANOPY

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

METAL
CANOPY

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

+22'

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

EIFS

METAL
CANOPY

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

EIFS

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

EIFS

SOUTH ELEVATION

NORTH  ELEVATION

+22'

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

EIFS

METAL
CANOPY

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

EIFS

EAST  ELEVATION

+22'

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

EIFS

METAL
CANOPY

FIBER
CEMENT
PANEL

EIFS

WEST  ELEVATION



RENDERING OF PUBLIC ART LOCATION AT THE CORNER OF 13TH AND MYRTLE



RENDERING OF PUBLIC PLAZA  AND STREETSCAPES LOCATED AT 11TH AND MYRTLE



RENDERING OF 12TH STREET ALIGNMENT AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOOKING NORTH



RENDERING OF 12TH STREET ALIGNMENT AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOOKING SOUTH



EXHIBIT C - 1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PLAN AND NARRATIVE 
 

 
 
 
 





Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan - 1 

Exhibit C- Public Improvements Plan Narrative 

All elements as previously approved in DRH16-00079 and depicted on Sheets 
L100, SP100, and SP501 submitted in support thereof  

(Ultimate configuration and scope of work, including individual elements, is 
subject to final approval by the City of Boise at the construction stage) 

1. 12th Street Aligned Drive Landscape and Streetscape 

 Interior drive aligned with historic 12th Street orientation to the north of property, 
width of improvements ranging from 33’ to 64’ approximately 340’ in length 

 Traffic rated concrete hardscape for drive aisles from Myrtle Street north to 
center of site and from Front Street south center of site 

 Stamped colored concrete (Harvest Gold, integral color by Innotech), with 
additional coring details to define central pedestrian crossing area, consisting of 7155 
square feet  

 Rolled curb separating all drive areas from pedestrian areas which sidewalks will 
be finished with a standard grey broom finish.   

 34 lighted bollards 

 21 light posts installed  

 5 deciduous shade trees  

 5 4’x4’ tree grate and frame  

 2 Site Benches 

 2 Trash Cans 

2. Front Street Landscape and Streetscape 

 Modified Urban Parkway  Streetscape approved pursuant to DRH16-00079 to 
match landscape and streetscape to the east previously approved for Simplot east of 
11th Street (See Modified Urban Parkway Streetscape - Detail 13) 

 8 foot wide sidewalk 

 8 foot wide landscape strip adjacent to Front Street, with curb and gutter, 
restoration of pavement and striping 

 22 deciduous shade trees, spaced approximately 25’ apart, with assorted other 
shrubs, perennials & groundcover placed within the planting strip 



Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan - 2 

 11 historic light posts installed per Boise City requirements 

 Total linear feet of improvement type along street face – approximately 655 feet 

3. Myrtle Street Landscape and Streetscape 

 Modified Urban Parkway  Streetscape approved pursuant to DRH16-00079 to 
match landscape and streetscape to the east previously approved for JUMP east of 11th 
Street (See Modified Urban Parkway Streetscape - Detail 6) 

8 foot wide sidewalk 

 8 foot wide landscape strip adjacent to Myrtle, with curb and gutter, restoration of 
pavement and striping  

Variable width planting zone located north of sidewalk between sidewalk and 
improvements to include sod, other shrubs, perennials & groundcover  

 22 deciduous shade trees or conifers, spaced approximately 50’ apart, but 
alternating on the north and south sides of the sidewalk to provide for an alternating 
canopy of trees that are spaced approximately 25’ apart, with assorted other shrubs, 
perennials & groundcover placed within the variable width planting zone north of the 
sidewalk 

 6 historic light posts installed per Boise City requirements 

 Total linear feet of improvement type along street face – approximately 670 feet 

4. 11th Street Landscape and Street Scape 

Typical Urban Concrete Streetscape standard applied along 11th Street between Front 
Street and Myrtle Street configured to match approval for Simplot and JUMP – (See 
Urban Concrete Streetscape Standard - Detail 9) 

8 foot wide sidewalk 

4 foot furnishing zone, with curb and gutter, restoration of pavement and striping, 
including bike lane on 11th Street 

 Variable tree and curbside zone of 8’ or more 

 8 deciduous shade trees or conifers, spaced approximately 30’ apart 

 8 4’x8’ tree grate and frame installed per Boise City requirements 

 Installation of suspended pavement system for areas specified by ACHD 



Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan - 3 

 4 historic light posts installed per Boise City requirements 

 Total linear feet of improvement type along street face – approximately 350 feet 

5. 13th Street Landscape and Street Scape 

Typical Urban Concrete Streetscape standard applied along 13th Street between Front 
Street and Myrtle Street  – (See Urban Concrete Streetscape Standard Detail 9) 

8 foot wide sidewalk 

4 foot furnishing zone, with curb and gutter, restoration of pavement and striping 

 8 deciduous shade trees or conifers, spaced approximately 30’ apart 

 8 4’x8’ tree grate and frame installed per Boise City requirements 

 Installation of suspended pavement system for areas specified by ACHD 

 4 historic light posts installed per Boise City requirements 

 Total linear feet of improvement type along street face – approximately 325 feet 

6. 11th and Myrtle Plaza 

 Approximately 1150 square feet located to the west and north of the proposed 
streetscape areas on 11th Street and Myrtle Streets  

Paved with pavers to match existing pioneer corridor in terms of size, material 
and color 

2 additional deciduous trees and 2 4’x4’ tree grate and frame installed per Boise 
City requirements 

3 bollards installed per Boise City requirements 

7. 13th and Myrtle Plaza 

 Approximately 950 square feet located to the east and north of the proposed 
streetscape areas on 13th Street and Myrtle Streets  

Concrete scored flatwork for plaza upon which a piece of public art will be 
installed. 

 Concrete seat wall installed between plaza and landscaping 



Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan - 4 

 Landscaping area with 3 Eastern Red Buds and 3 Karl Fuchs Himalayan Cedars, 
together with assorted other shrubs, perennials & groundcover placed adjacent to the 
plaza 

8. Underground Location of Utilities along 13th Street 

 Presently there are aboveground utility lines that are adjacent to the site along 
13th Street. 

 There is approximately 350 linear feet of aerial utilities adjacent to the site, 
together with 80 feet of aerial utilities over each of Myrtle Street and Front Street 
connecting to the site that at a minimum will be required to be placed underground. 

 The final configuration and cost will be directly related to the requirements of 
Idaho Power, and the length of additional utility facilities north of Front Street and South 
of Myrtle Street that will be required to be included as part of the project.   



EXHIBIT D - 1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS COST ESTIMATE 



11th, 12th, Front, Myrtle Streetscapes
See notes 2-7 on Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan Narrative

# ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY TOTAL COST
1 Site Prep / Surface demolition 167,000
2 SWPP 16,000
3 Earthwork 125,000
4 Paving 108,900
5 Site Concrete (8' Pedestrian Zone) 375,000
6 11th Street Striping 8,500
7 Landscaping 355,900
8 Dry Utilities 192,450
9 Pioneer Pathway Plaza and Landscapping 180,000

10 GC Fee 152,150
SUBTOTAL 1,680,900$      

12th Street Aligned Drive - Landscape and Streetscape
See note 1 on Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan Narrative

11 12th Street Aligned Drive Incl. below
12 7100 +/- SF colored concrete central pedestrian crossing Incl. below
13 Rolled Curb on both sides (woonerf style) Incl. below
14 Lighted bollards, pedestrian level 34 Incl. below
15 Street lights 21 Incl. below
16 Benches 2 Incl. below
17 Trash cans 2 Incl. below
18 Street trees, grates, frame, landscape 4-5 Incl. below

SUBTOTAL 750,000$         

11th Street Utility Relocation
See note 8 on Exhibit C - Public Improvements Plan Narrative

19 Relocation of above ground utility facilites
SUBTOTAL 1,000,000$      

Fees / Contingency
23 Architectural/ Engineering / Soft Costs 15% 514,635
24 Contingency 10% 343,090

SUBTOTAL 857,725$         

Total Streetscape Costs: 4,288,625

CCDC Participation Program

NOTE: costs do not include signal or pedestrian relocation on Myrtle or any city impact and ACHD 
fees.

By: Gardner (formatted by 
CCDC)

Public Improvements Costs 
Actual Eligible Costs To Be Determined by CCDC
Project Name: Parcel B

STREETSCAPE: (In right-of-way)



EXHIBIT E - 1 

EXHIBIT E 
Project Timeline and Estimated Value 

ELEMENT A ELEMENT B ELEMENT C ELEMENT D 

Description Retail Building Commercial 
Building 

100,000 SF 
Office Building 

650 Car Garage +/-; 
250 to 280 Public; 

380 to 400 private parking 
spaces 

Private 
Construction 

Value 
(excludes public 
garage spaces) 

$2,600,000.00 $17,000,000.00 $20,000,000.00 $6.5 Million to $7 Million 

DR Approval June 2016 June 2016 June 2016 June 2016 
Construction 
Drawing Final August 2016 November 2016 November 2017 August 2016 

Submittal for 
Building Permit 

September 
2016 December 2016 December 2017 September 2016 

Building Permit 
Approval 

November 
2016 January 2017 January 2018 November 2016 

Construction 
Financing January 2017 February 2017 January 2018 January 2017 

Commencement 
of Construction January 2017 February 2017 February 2018 January 2017 

Completion of 
Construction October 2018 April 2018 April 2019 October 2017 

4840-0173-6242, v. 10 

srodriguez
Text Box
TBD

srodriguez
Text Box
      TBD

srodriguez
Text Box
      TBD

srodriguez
Text Box
    TBD



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 1 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
Parcel B Project – CCDC Garage Unit 

1101 W. Front Street, Boise, Idaho 83702 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made effective as of 
the last execution date set forth below (the “Effective Date”) by and between CAPITAL 
CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (the “Buyer”) and BVGC PARCEL B, LLC,  an 
Idaho limited liability company or its assignee (collectively, the “Seller”), collectively the 
“Parties”. 

RECITALS 

A. Seller owns that certain real property located at 1101 W. Front Street, 
Boise, ID 83702, and legally described on Exhibit A (the “Property”).  The Property is 
being developed as part of a mixed use development with a variety of commercial, 
retail, and parking uses located therein (the “Project”). 

B. Seller intends to develop and improve the Property and construct 
structured automobile parking with certain other commercial uses thereon (the 
“Garage”). 

C. Seller will create a condominium regime for the Garage, creating various 
units for parking and commercial use.  The area of the Garage to be owned by Buyer 
will be a separate condominium unit (the “CCDC Garage Unit”).  The CCDC Garage 
Unit is graphically depicted on Exhibit B (the “Concept Plans”). 

D. Seller desires to develop, sell, transfer, and convey the CCDC Garage 
Unit and Buyer desires to purchase the CCDC Garage Unit all according to the 
provisions set forth in this Agreement. 

E. Seller and Buyer have simultaneously entered into that certain Type 3 
Special Assistance Participation Agreement in connection with the Property (the 
“Participation Agreement”). 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Seller and Buyer agree as follows: 

1. AGREEMENT TO PURCHASE AND SALE.  Subject to and in
consideration of the mutual terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, Seller 
agrees to sell and convey the CCDC Garage Unit to Buyer and Buyer hereby agrees to 
purchase the CCDC Garage Unit from Seller. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 2 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

2. PURCHASE PRICE.  The purchase price for the CCDC Garage Unit shall 
be the sum of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) (the “Purchase Price”).  Buyer agrees 
to pay the Purchase Price in cash at Closing (as defined below).  

3. FURTHER AGREEMENTS.  

3.1 Minimum Requirements for the CCDC Garage Unit.  The CCDC 
Garage Unit shall be developed, at a minimum, consistent with the following: 
 

• No less than 250 parking spaces in total for the use of the general public 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 

• The total number of handicapped accessible spaces for the garage shall 
meet applicable state and federal legal standards and safe paths from the 
accessible spaces to egress points. 

• No less than 22’ wide drive aisles on the straightaways, with no less than 
23’ 8” wide turning aisles. 

• Parking spaces shall be a minimum of 8’-6” x 18’, there shall be 104 stalls 
that are 9’ x. 18’ and 146 stalls that are 8’-6” x 18’, recognizing that 
structural elements may intrude into and reduce the length of stalls up to 
6”.  The CCDC Garage Unit shall contain at least 40% of spaces that are 
nine (9) feet wide. 

• No compact spaces 
• All parking access control system equipment shall be manufactured by 

Scheidt & Bachmann, shall be approved by Buyer before ordering and 
installation, and shall be compatible with Buyer’s equipment installed in 
the existing Downtown Public Parking System garages owned and 
operated by Buyer. 

• All parking related signage and safety packages (mirrors, concrete 
markings, lighting) as well as their location within the CCDC Garage Unit 
and proposed on the exterior shall be approved by Buyer before 
purchasing and/ or installation. 

• All signs (interior and exterior) shall comply with Buyer’s parking sign 
policy and design standards.  Design and location of all signs shall be 
approved by Buyer prior to Seller incurring any costs related to signs. 

• Buyer shall have final approval over the entity that will manage the 
Garage, which shall be the same entity that operates and manages 
Buyer’s other parking facilities, unless expressly agreed to in writing. 

3.2 Conceptual Plans and Specifications.  The Concept Plans are 
attached hereto as Exhibit B and generally depict the Garage, including the CCDC 
Garage Unit, as approved by the Boise City Design Review Committee in Matter 
DRH16-00079.   

3.3 Final Plans and Specifications.  Seller shall prepare and submit to 
Buyer for review and approval final plans and specifications for the CCDC Garage Unit 
(the “Final Plans”) on or before October 1, 2016.  Buyer agrees to promptly review and 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 3 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

provide any comments regarding the CCDC Garage Unit to Seller within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of the Final Plans.  Buyer and Seller agree to work together in good faith and 
promptly to resolve any issues associated with the Final Plans.  Seller agrees to 
construct the CCDC Garage Unit substantially in accordance with the Final Plans 
subject to changes approved by Buyer and customary industry tolerances, variances, 
and similar matters.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any material substitution of building 
material(s) and any change in the parking access revenue control system equipment 
must be approved by Buyer in writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
conditioned, withheld, or delayed. 

3.4 Condominium Documents.  Seller shall develop the Garage as set 
forth herein and shall condominiumize the Garage, for purposes of sale or lease of an 
interest in the condominium to Buyer as set forth herein.  Parties acknowledge that in 
furtherance of the development and construction of the Garage, that Seller shall prepare 
and submit to Buyer for review and approval a condominium plat for the Garage which 
shall include the CCDC Garage Unit (the “Condominium Plat”) and a declaration 
satisfying the requirements of the Idaho Code to create a condominium (the 
“Condominium Declaration”).  The Condominium Plat and Condominium Declaration 
are collectively referred to herein as the “Condominium Documents.”  The 
Condominium Documents shall be submitted to Buyer on or before June 1, 2017.  The 
Parties agree that as to the CCDC Garage Unit, the forms of the Condominium 
Documents will be subject to mutually agreed upon refinement, adjustment, and 
modification throughout the development of the Garage.  The Buyer’s approval of the 
final form of the Condominium Documents, in writing, is required.  Provided, such 
approval shall not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld, or delayed.  Buyer agrees to 
promptly review and provide any comments to Seller within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
the Condominium Documents.  Buyer and Seller agree to work together in good faith 
and promptly to resolve any issues associated with the Condominium Documents.  
Upon Buyer’s approval of the Condominium Documents, this Agreement shall be 
amended to incorporate the legal description of the Property that Buyer will acquire 
derived from the Condominium Documents as Exhibit A. 

3.5 Parking Management Agreement.  Buyer shall prepare and submit 
to Seller for review and approval a parking garage management agreement for the 
Garage (the “Parking Management Agreement”) on or before June 1, 2017.  The 
Parking Management Agreement shall include appropriate provisions regarding the 
management and operation of the parking units and parking garage areas of the 
Garage and such other provisions as Seller and Buyer determine are appropriate, that 
are not otherwise addressed in the Condominium Documents.  The Buyer’s approval of 
the final form of the Parking Management Agreement, in writing, is required.  Provided, 
such approval shall not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld, or delayed.  Buyer 
agrees to promptly review and provide any comments to Seller within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the Parking Management Agreement.  Buyer and Seller agree to work 
together in good faith and promptly to resolve any issues associated with the Parking 
Management Agreement.   



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 4 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

3.6 Master Declaration, Grant of Easements, and Common Area 
Maintenance Agreement.  Seller and Buyer shall negotiate and approve a Master 
Declaration, Grant of Easements, and Common Area Maintenance Agreement (the 
“Master Declaration and CAMA”) for the Project on or before June 1, 2017.  The 
Master Declaration and CAMA shall include appropriate provisions concerning the 
management and maintenance of the private driveways within the Project and grants of 
easements for the private driveways and pedestrian pathways for ingress and egress.  
Provided, separate easements may be executed for recording purposes for the private 
driveways and pedestrian pathways.  Said easements shall be in the locations generally 
depicted on Exhibit C (the “Site Plan”).  The Buyer’s approval of the final form of the 
Master Declaration and CAMA, in writing, is required.  Provided, such approval shall not 
be unreasonably conditioned, withheld, or delayed.  Buyer agrees to promptly review 
and provide any comments to Seller within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Master 
Declaration and CAMA.  Buyer and Seller agree to work together in good faith and 
promptly to resolve any issues associated with the Master Declaration and CAMA.   

3.7 Additional Documentation.  Seller and Buyer acknowledge that due 
to the complexity of the development of the Project, including the construction and 
creation of the Garage and the CCDC Garage Unit, their respective obligations 
hereunder, and the timing for completion of the construction of the Project, that 
financing of the construction and development of the Project necessitates their 
cooperative efforts.  The documents related to this Project as set forth in this Article 3 
will require their joint efforts to satisfy certain obligations related to the lender financing 
of the development and construction of the Project including, potentially, the execution 
and delivery of various documents related to the financing of the Project, including, but 
not limited to easements, subordinations, assignments and other related instruments 
required from time to time by financial entities for the initial construction loan and 
subsequent permanent financing for the Parties’ respective interests in the Project. 

3.8 Construction.  Seller plans to commence construction of the 
Garage on or before October 31, 2016 (the “Start Date”), and have the Garage 
substantially completed on or before October 31, 2017 (the “Completion Date”).  Buyer 
and Seller understand and agree that the foregoing dates are tentative and may be 
extended for up to one hundred eighty (180) days by Seller by written notice to Buyer.  
Such dates shall also be extended for delays due to Acts of God and other matters 
outside the control of Seller. 

3.9 Environmental Evaluation.  Seller has obtained that: (a) certain 
Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment dated September 4, 2015 prepared by 
Materials Testing & Inspection (the “Phase I”), and (b) the Limited Subsurface 
Investigation and REM-P Screening Level Evaluation dated September 11, 2015 
prepared by Materials Testing & Inspection (the “Subsurface Investigation”) copies of 
which has been provided to Buyer (collectively the Phase I and Subsurface 
Investigation are hereafter referenced as the “Environmental Reports.”)  The 
Environmental Reports set forth certain past histories regarding the Property and 
information that the Buyer shall review and evaluate on its own.   



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 5 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

3.10 Construction and Design Meetings During Construction of the 
CCDC Garage Unit.  During Construction of the Garage, Seller and Buyer shall: 

3.10.1 Invite Buyer (and/or a representative of Buyer) to attend 
regularly scheduled construction progress and design meetings for the CCDC Garage 
Unit to permit Buyer to assess the progress of development and construction and 
assess compliance with the Final Plans, as modified per the terms of this Agreement; 

3.10.2 If requested, provide Buyer with written status reports on the 
construction of the CCDC Garage Unit in sufficient time to allow for their distribution to 
Buyer’s board of directors prior to their regular monthly meetings; 

3.10.3 Provide photos along with monthly status reports and, if 
requested, attend and provide oral status reports on the construction of the CCDC 
Garage Unit at regular monthly meetings of Buyer’s board of commissioners.   

4. BUYER’S CONDITIONS.  If each of the following conditions are not 
satisfied, Buyer may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement without penalty 
unless otherwise stated below.   

4.1 Buyer’s review and approval of the Preliminary Commitment as set 
forth in Article 5, to be provided to Buyer at Seller’s cost. 

4.2 Buyer’s review and approval of the Condominium Documents as 
set forth in Section 3.4. 

4.3 Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon its 
review of the Environmental Reports. The satisfactory nature of the 
Environmental Reports and the environmental condition of the Project and 
Property shall be determined in the sole discretion of Buyer. Buyer shall have no 
less than thirty (30) days following the execution of this Agreement to obtain and 
review the Environmental Reports. In the event Buyer determines that the 
Environmental Reports are not satisfactory, Buyer may provide notice to Seller 
within this thirty (30) day period and terminate this Agreement.   

4.4 Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon its 
securing adequate financing from a financial institution or bond issuance, on or 
before June 30, 2017.  Buyer shall exercise commercially reasonable efforts to 
secure adequate financing as set forth above, including but not limited to taking 
such actions as are reasonably necessary to secure financing or issuance of a 
bond comparable with those efforts previously taken by Buyer to obtain such or 
such efforts as are generally taken by peer entities like Buyer to obtain same.  In 
the event Buyer fails to obtain adequate financing as set forth above, subject to 
the following sentence, Buyer may provide notice to Seller on or before June 30, 
2017, and terminate Buyer’s obligation to purchase the CCDC Garage Unit.  
Provided, if Buyer does not secure adequate financing to purchase the CCDC 
Garage Unit, then Buyer and Seller shall enter into a lease agreement with 
purchase option pursuant to the following terms: 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 6 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

4.4.1 The term of the lease shall be five (5) years. 

4.4.2 The lease shall be for two hundred (200) parking stalls 
located within the CCDC Garage Unit. 

4.4.3 The annual base rent during the initial term of the lease shall 
be $695,000.00.  The annual base rent during any extension period shall 
be the fair market rental value, with the method to determine the fair 
market value being detailed in the lease. 

4.4.4 Buyer shall pay all maintenance and operational costs 
allocable to the CCDC Garage Unit during the term of the lease.  

4.4.5 So long as there is no default under the lease, Buyer shall 
have the option to purchase two hundred (200) parking stalls within the 
CCDC Garage Unit at any time that the lease is in effect.  Prior to closing, 
the CCDC Garage Unit shall be modified to reflect the actual stalls being 
conveyed.  The purchase price shall be $5,000,000.00. Buyer shall 
receive credit towards the purchase price in the amount of the base 
annual rent of $695,000.00 for each year of the lease during which base 
annual rent is actually paid.  

4.4.6 Except for the credit set forth in the foregoing section, Buyer 
shall not be entitled to any other refund, rebate, or return of any of the 
annual base rent paid during the term of the lease.   

4.5 Buyer’s inspection of the CCDC Garage Unit after construction has 
been completed but prior to Closing and determination that the CCDC Garage Unit, as 
constructed, conforms to the Final Plans, in all material respects, as modified by 
agreement of the Parties, and subject to customary industry tolerances and variances. 

5. TITLE AND INSURANCE 

5.1 Within ten (10) days from the execution of this Agreement by both 
Parties, Seller shall provide, at its expense, a preliminary commitment (the “Preliminary 
Commitment”) for standard coverage title insurance for an amount equal to the 
Purchase Price from First American Title Insurance Company, 3540 E. Longwing Lane, 
Suite 230, Meridian, Idaho 83646, Attn:  Tami Dejournett-Albert (the “Escrow Agent”).  
Buyer shall review the exceptions appearing on the Preliminary Commitment for title 
insurance and shall provide a notice in writing to Seller stating which exceptions, if any, 
must be removed at or prior to Closing.  Buyer shall have thirty (30) days following the 
delivery of the Preliminary Commitment to review and provide objections to the 
Preliminary Commitment.  Should Seller, in the opinion of Buyer, demonstrate an 
inability to remove the exceptions on the Preliminary Commitment necessary to transfer 
title to the Property free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, Buyer, at Buyer’s 
option, may choose not to proceed with the transaction at no penalty to Buyer.  Buyer 
shall provide reasonable notice of any unacceptable liens or encumbrances to Seller 
and shall provide Seller a reasonable opportunity to remove or otherwise address such.  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 7 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

In the event Buyer determines that the condition of title set forth in the Preliminary 
Commitment are not satisfactory, Buyer may provide notice to Seller within this thirty 
(30) day period and terminate this Agreement.   

5.2 At Closing, Escrow Agent shall, at Seller’s expense, be prepared to 
issue to Buyer a standard ALTA owner’s policy of title insurance (the “Owner’s Policy”) 
in the amount of the Purchase Price insuring that fee simple title to the CCDC Garage 
Unit is vested in Buyer, subject only to the exceptions appearing on the Preliminary 
Commitment that Buyer deemed acceptable as set forth in Section 5.1 together with 
such other instruments approved by Buyer as are reasonably necessary to create and 
govern the CCDC Garage Unit as anticipated herein (the “Permitted Exceptions”).  
Buyer may, at its cost, obtain extended coverage title insurance.   

5.3 At Closing, Seller shall execute a (i) a special warranty deed (the 
“Deed”) conveying good and marketable title to the CCDC Garage Unit to Buyer in the 
form attached as Exhibit E, free from encumbrances done, made, or suffered by Seller 
except (a) taxes not yet due and payable and (b) matters of record or appearing on the 
land, including the Permitted Exceptions, and (ii) an affidavit of non-foreign status. 

6. CLOSING 

6.1 Closing shall occur through Escrow Agent (the “Closing”).  The 
Closing shall occur on or before thirty (30) days after Seller receives from the City of 
Boise (“City”) a certificate of occupancy for the Garage that the CCDC Garage Unit is 
complete and may be used by Buyer as a public parking garage (the “Closing Date”), 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.  The certificate of occupancy may be 
a temporary certificate of occupancy so long as (a) Buyer is able to utilize the CCDC 
Garage Unit as a public parking garage and (b) Seller is reasonably able to undertake 
the completion of those outstanding items necessary for issuance of a final certificate of 
occupancy by the City, it being anticipated that a final certificate of occupancy may not 
be issued until completion of certain other improvements for the commercial component 
of the Garage, which shall not interfere with the use and operation of the Garage for 
parking of vehicles.   

6.2 On or before the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall deposit with 
Escrow Agent all instruments, documents and monies (payable in cash, by wire funds or 
official bank check), as necessary to complete the transaction in accordance with this 
Agreement, and any other customary closing documents reasonably requested by 
Escrow Agent.  

6.3 Costs and Prorations of Closing 

6.3.1 Seller shall pay all taxes levied and assessed against the 
CCDC Garage Unit for all periods prior to the Closing Date.  Taxes for the year in which 
the Closing occurs shall be prorated as of the Closing Date. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 8 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

6.3.2 Rents, utilities, and other charges and income items shall be 
prorated as of the Closing Date.  Seller shall pay all costs of terminating any existing 
service or maintenance contracts unless otherwise agreed in writing by Buyer.   

6.3.3 Seller shall pay the premium for the Owner’s Policy.  If Buyer 
intends to purchase an extended coverage policy or any other endorsements, then 
Buyer shall pay any additional premium required therefor.  

6.3.4 Buyer and Seller shall each pay one-half (1/2) of Escrow 
Agent’s escrow fees.  Buyer shall pay the cost of recording the Deed. 

6.3.5 All other expenses not specifically referenced in this 
Agreement and incurred by Seller or Buyer with respect to this transaction shall be 
borne and paid exclusively by the party incurring the same without reimbursement. 

6.4 Buyer shall be entitled to possession of the CCDC Garage Unit 
upon Closing, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions. 

7. SELLER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.  Seller makes the 
representations and warranties to Buyer set forth below.   

7.1 Seller has full power and right to enter into this Agreement and to 
sell the CCDC Garage Unit, and that the person executing this Agreement has full 
power and right to execute this Agreement on behalf of Seller. 

7.2 At Closing, there will be no agreements (written or oral) in the 
nature of leases, rental agreements, licenses or other right to use or occupy the CCDC 
Garage Unit, other than as identified in the Permitted Exceptions, that will affect the 
CCDC Garage Unit from and after the Closing Date. 

7.3 At Closing, Seller shall have paid or caused to be paid all costs for 
work performed on the CCDC Garage Unit by Seller or at Seller’s request.  Seller shall 
not allow any mechanic’s liens on account of work done on behalf of Seller or persons 
claiming under Seller to be filed on the CCDC Garage Unit (after the Closing Date). 

7.4 Subject to any information contained in the Environmental Reports 
referenced above, Seller has no actual knowledge of any “Hazardous Materials” (as 
defined below) that may have been used, produced, released, stored, transported, 
disposed of, generated, deposited in, over, under, or upon the Property in violation of 
then applicable law.  The term “Hazardous Materials” shall collectively refer to 
underground storage tanks, petroleum and petroleum products, asbestos, PCBs, urea-
formaldehyde and any hazardous or toxic substances, pollutants, contaminants, wastes 
or materials as defined under any environmental laws.  Buyer acknowledges that (i) 
subject only to those express representations and warranties set forth herein, it is 
acquiring its interest in the CCDC Garage Unit with respect to the environmental 
condition of the Property, on an AS-IS/WHERE IS basis, and (ii) the Property was 
previously utilized as a rail yard and warehousing facility and that has been subject to 
further use as a surface parking lot and construction storage area and that a detailed 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 9 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

history of its prior existence and environmental condition is set forth in the 
Environmental Reports.   

8. WARRANTIES: LIMITED WARRANTY OF CONSTRUCTION.  Unless 
otherwise provided for herein, Seller hereby warrants that for a period of one (1) 
year from the date of Closing, Seller will make all necessary repairs and 
corrections to the CCDC Garage Unit, either interior or exterior, structural or 
nonstructural, that shall become necessary by reason of faulty construction, 
labor or materials, or non-conformity of construction to the Final Plans.  At 
Seller's sole option, Seller may either (1) make such repairs or corrections, (2) 
replace any faulty or non-conforming item or condition or (3) pay to Buyer the 
reasonable cost of such repair, correction, or replacement.  This limited warranty: 
(1) is for the benefit of Buyer only and may not be assigned nor shall it inure to 
the benefit of any other person or entity; (2) shall survive Closing and the delivery 
of the Deed; and (3) is in lieu of all other warranties, oral or written, express or 
implied, except such other express written warranties as Seller may provide to 
Buyer and the warranties described below.  

WARRANTIES OF COMPONENTS.  Seller shall assign and deliver to Buyer 
at closing all guarantees and warranties of all components comprising the CCDC 
Garage Unit to the extent the same are assignable (the “Assigned Warranties and 
Guaranties”).  Seller shall assist Buyer in making any claims under the Assigned 
Warranties and Guarantees. 

9. ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS.  Escrow Agent shall be instructed to, in a 
manner consistent with the terms hereof: receive and hold deposits and other funds; 
disburse such funds in accordance with separate authorization signed by Buyer and 
Seller; prepare closing statements for execution by Buyer and Seller, receive 
documents, secure their execution and acknowledgement, record them in the proper 
sequence, deliver originals to the appropriate parties, and deliver copies of all 
documents signed by either party to that party.  

10. CASUALTY/CONDEMNATION.  If the CCDC Garage Unit is or becomes 
damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, or the subject of a condemnation 
proceeding, Buyer may, at its option, terminate this Agreement by giving notice of such 
termination to Seller prior to the Closing Date.  In the event Buyer does not elect to 
terminate this Agreement, the Purchase Price shall be reduced by the total of any 
insurance proceeds or condemnation award received by Seller at or prior to Closing. On 
Closing, Seller shall assign to Buyer all of Seller’s rights in and to any future insurance 
proceeds or condemnation awards or other proceeds payable or to become payable by 
reason of any taking.  Seller agrees to notify Buyer of any casualty or condemnation 
proceedings within five (5) days after Seller learns thereof (or, in the event Seller learns 
of such proceedings within five (5) days of Closing, Seller shall notify Buyer prior to 
Closing).  Buyer may if it chooses to participate in any discussions with insurers or such 
condemnation proceeding and Seller shall make no settlement or agreement regarding 
the same without Buyer’s written approval. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 10 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

11. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES. 

11.1 If Buyer or Seller defaults under this Agreement, the non-defaulting 
party shall be entitled to all rights and remedies available at law or in equity, including 
but not limited to specific performance and including submitting matters to binding 
arbitration as set forth herein.  

11.2 A party shall be in “default” if a party fails to perform its obligations 
hereunder and fails to cure or remedy such default within ten (10) days (or such longer 
period if a longer cure period is reasonably required) after receipt of written notice from 
the party claiming the default, specifying the nature of such default. 

11.3 In the event of any controversy, claim, or action being filed or 
instituted between Buyer and Seller relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to receive from the other party reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and costs through all levels of action incurred by the prevailing party. 

12. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho. 

13. TIME, SEVERABILITY.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement, and 
each party to this Agreement agrees to promptly perform such acts as are reasonably 
required in connection herewith.  If any provision of this Agreement to any extent is 
found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 
of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

14. NOTICES.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be given 
in writing and shall be deemed properly served or delivered: (a) if delivered in person, or 
by electronic mail transmission with confirmation of receipt; (b) upon deposit for 
overnight delivery with any reputable overnight courier service, delivery confirmation 
requested; or (c) upon deposit with the U.S. Postal Service registered or certified mail 
and addressed to the Parties at the addresses set forth below or such other addresses 
specified hereafter: 

 
 (a) If to Buyer:    Capital City Development Corporation 
      Attn: John Brunelle 
      121 North 9th Street, Suite 501 
      Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

 With a copy to:  Elam & Burke, P.A. 
     Attn: Ryan P. Armbruster 
     P.O. Box 1539 
     Boise, Idaho 83701-1539  
  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 11 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

(b) If to Seller:   BVGC Parcel B, LLC 
Attn: J. Thomas Ahlquist 

     101 S. Capitol Blvd., Suite 1700 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

With a copy to:  BV Management Services, Inc. 
     Attn: Cortney Liddiard 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405 
     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  flyfish@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:  BV Management Services, Inc.   
     Attn: Thel W. Casper 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405    
     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  tcasper@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:  Spink Butler, LLP 
     Attn: Geoffrey M. Wardle 
     251 E. Front Street, Suite 200 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
     Phone: (208) 388-1000 
     Email: gwardle@spinkbutler.com 
 
(c) If to Escrow Agent:  TitleOne Corporation 

Attn: Scott Darling 
1101 W. River Street, Suite 201 
Boise, Idaho 83702 
Phone: (208) 424-8511 
Email: sdarling@titleonecorp.com  

 
The party and address to which notices are to be given may be changed at any time by 
any party upon written notice to the other party.   

15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; CONSTRUCTION.  This Agreement constitutes 
the entire agreement between the Parties, has been entered into in reliance solely on 
the contents hereof, and shall not be modified except in writing signed by both Parties, 
supersedes any previous agreements, written or oral, between the Parties hereto, and 
shall be construed neutrally rather than strictly for or against either party.  All Parties to 
this Agreement have either: (i) been represented by separate legal counsel; or (ii) have 
had the opportunity to be so represented.  Thus, in all cases, the language in this 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 12 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

Agreement shall be construed simply and in accordance with its fair meaning and not 
strictly for or against a party, regardless of which party prepared or caused the 
preparation of this Agreement.  The Parties both acknowledge that they have entered 
into a Type 3 Special Assistance Participation Agreement concurrently with this 
Agreement, and nothing herein is intended to modify or alter that agreement.  

16. BINDING EFFECT.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors 
and assigns of the Parties to this Agreement. 

17. AGREED ENFORCEABILITY.  The Parties specifically acknowledge and 
agree that this Agreement shall be binding and enforceable between the Parties 
notwithstanding that the Condominium Documents and the exact legal description for 
the CCDC Garage Unit will not be available for some period after the execution hereof.  
The Buyer, Seller, and their successors and assigns expressly agree that the Statute of 
Frauds is not applicable in defeat of this Agreement, acknowledging that the CCDC 
Garage Unit is adequately identified so as to avoid ambiguity or confusion, while 
acknowledging the ultimate requirement of construction and condominiumization of the 
Garage.  The CCDC Garage Units are to be constructed and located as shown in the 
Concept Plans.  The CCDC Garage Units include all rights of the owner and occupant of 
the units comprising same as set forth in the Condominium Documents for the Garage to 
be executed and recorded.  Upon completion and recording of the Condominium 
Documents, this Agreement shall be amended to incorporate the legal description for the 
CCDC Garage Unit. 

18. ASSIGNMENT.  Buyer and Seller shall have the right to assign this 
Agreement upon written approval by the other party, not to be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed.  Buyer acknowledges that Seller will be creating a new entity that will develop 
and own the Garage and that will convey the CCDC Garage Units to the Buyer at 
closing.  Provided such new entity has Seller or Seller’s members as members or 
principals thereof, Buyer does hereby consent to such assignment upon its occurrence.   

19. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be signed in any number of 
counterparts and by facsimile, and once so executed by both Parties, each such 
counterpart will be deemed to be the original, but all counterparts together shall 
constitute but one (1) complete and binding agreement. 

20. TIME FOR PERFORMANCE.  Unless otherwise expressly stated in this 
Agreement, all time periods shall be deemed to mean calendar days.  In the event any 
date for the time for performance in this Agreement falls upon a Saturday, Sunday, or 
legal holiday recognized in the State of Idaho, such time for performance shall be 
extended to the next business day. 

21. JOINT AND SEVERAL OBLIGATIONS.  In the event any party to this 
Agreement is composed of more than one person or entity, the obligations of said party 
shall be joint and several. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 13 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

22. NO WAIVER.  No waiver by either party of any default under this 
Agreement by the other party shall be effective or binding upon such party unless given 
in the form of a written instrument signed by such party, and no such waiver shall be 
implied from any omission by such party to take action with respect to such default.  No 
express written waiver of any default shall affect any other default or cover any period of 
time other than the default and/or period of time specified in such express waiver.  One 
or more written waivers of any default under any provision of this Agreement shall not 
be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default in the performance of the same 
provision or any other term or provision contained in this Agreement. 

23. CAPTIONS.  The captions at the beginning of the several paragraphs, 
respectively are for convenience in locating the context, but are not part of the text. 

24. EXHIBITS.  The exhibits attached to this Agreement are incorporated 
herein as if fully set forth. 

25. RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL.  At the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall enter 
into a Right of First Refusal Agreement in the form of the document attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit D (the “Right of First Refusal”).  The execution of the 
Right of Right Refusal is a material consideration to Seller for selling the CCDC Garage 
Unit to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. 

26. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF SUMMARY OF RIGHTS.  
Seller expressly acknowledges that Seller received a document entitled Summary of 
Property Owner’s Rights When Agency Seeks to Acquire Property (the “Summary of 
Rights”), prior to Buyer and Seller finalizing this Agreement.  A copy of the Summary of 
Rights is attached as Exhibit F.  Seller expressly represents it understands the rights 
set forth in the Summary of Rights apply only to situations where Buyer is seeking to 
acquire property through eminent domain.  Further, Seller expressly acknowledges it 
has voluntarily consented to enter into this Agreement, and was not coerced into 
entering this Agreement through threats by Buyer of exercising its powers of eminent 
domain if Seller did not cooperate.  Accordingly, Buyer expressly waives all rights set 
forth in the Summary of Rights as to Owner in a condemnation proceeding.   

27.   TERMINATION.  In consideration of the payment of a termination fee 
which is the lesser of (a) Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) or (b) the amount paid by 
Buyer after the Effective Date to financial consultants, attorneys, and parking 
consultants with respect to this Agreement or the review of the design plans and 
financial information for the design and construction of the CCDC Garage Unit (not 
including attorney’s fees), Seller may terminate and cancel this Agreement at any time 
on or before June 1, 2017, or one hundred eighty (180) days prior to Closing, whichever 
date is later, and in such event, this Agreement shall be null and void and of no force or 
effect. 
 
DATED effective as of the last date set forth below. 
 
 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 14 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

CCDC:  Capital City Development Corporation, 
an Idaho corporation 
  
John Brunelle, its Executive Director 
Date: _______________________ 

  
BVGC PARCEL B:  BVGC Parcel B, LLC  

an Idaho limited liability company,  
by its Operations Manager 

 
KC Gardner company, L.C., a Utah 
limited liability company 
 
By: __________________________ 

 Christian K. Gardner  
 Its: Manager  

Date: ______________________ 
 

   
 
Consented and Agreed: 
TitleOne Corporation 

 
By:       
Name:       
Title:       
Date:       
 
 
Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Property 
Exhibit B – Concept Plans (As Approved) 
Exhibit C – Site Plan 
Exhibit D – Right of First Refusal  
Exhibit E – Form of Special Warranty Deed  
Exhibit F – Summary of Property Owner’s Rights When Agency Seeks to Acquire  

Property 
  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT PAGE - 15 
P:\Implement Plans-Prog-Initiatives\CCDC Participation Program\ACTIVE PROJECTS\Parcel B\Agreement\PSA\Purchase and 
Sale Agreement - Parcel B- in packet.docx 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
STATE OF IDAHO  ) 
    )  ss. 
County of Ada ) 
 
 On this _____ day of _____________, 2016, before me, 
__________________________, the undersigned notary public in and for said county 
and state, personally appeared __________________, known or identified to me to be 
the Chair of the Capital City Development Corporation, the public body corporate and 
politic, that executed the within instrument, and known to me to be the person that 
executed the within instrument on behalf of said Agency and acknowledged to me that 
such Agency executed the same for the purposes herein contained. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 
seal the day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
     __________________________________________ 
     Residing at        
     Commission Expires       
 
 
STATE OF    ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF     ) 

 
On this______ day of __________, 2016, before me ______________________, 

a Notary Public in and for said State, personally appeared ______________, known or 
identified to me to be the __________ of KC Gardner Company, L.C., the Utah limited 
liability company that is the Operations Manager of BVGC Parcel B, LLC, the Idaho 
limited liability company that executed the within instrument or the person who executed 
the instrument on behalf of said limited liability company, and acknowledged to me that 
such limited liability company executed the same. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 

seal the day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 

  
Notary Public for   
Residing at   
My commission expires   

 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT A - 1 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 



Exhibit A – Description of Garage Parcel 

 

A parcel of land being a portion of the Northwest Quarter of Section 10, Township 3 
North, Range 2 East, Boise Meridian, Boise, Ada County, Idaho, and more particularly 
described as follows: 

Beginning at a point marking the Northwest corner of the said Section 10; thence 
S.08°08'55"E. 317.89 feet to a point marking the centerline intersection of North 15th 
Street and west front street, as shown of Record Of Survey No. 1349, Broadway-
Chinden alignment; thence along the said centerline of West Front Street S.56°41 '58"E. 
760.62 feet to a point marking the centerline intersection of West Front Street and North 
13th Street; thence continuing S.54°47'10"E. 50.00 feet to a point; thence leaving the 
said centerline of West Front Street S.35°12'50"W. 40.00 feet to the southwesterly right-
of-way line of said West Front Street and S.54°47'10"E. 338.22 feet along said 
southwesterly right-of-way line to the real point of beginning; thence continuing along 
the said southwesterly right-of-way line S.54°47'10"E. 316.72 feet to the northwesterly 
right-of-way line of North 11th Street; thence along said northwesterly right-of-way line 
the following two (2) courses and distances: (1) S.09°47'12"E. 21.08 feet; (2) thence 
S.35°34'36"W. 206.24 feet; thence N.54°53'30"W. 337.95 feet; thence N.35°06'30"E. 
82.94 feet; thence N.44°19'37"E. 50.13 feet; thence N.35°06'30"E. 89.33 feet to the 
point of beginning, containing 74,012 square feet in area or 1.699 acres. 

 

lwilliams
Text Box
EXHIBIT A - LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY



Proposed Lot 2 7/13/2016

File: Proposed Lot 2.ndpScale: 1 inch= 52 feet
Tract 1: 1.6991 Acres (74012 Sq. Feet), Closure: s32.3935e 0.01 ft. (1/147522), Perimeter=1104 ft.

01 s54.4710e 316.72
02 s09.4712e 21.08
03 s35.3436w 206.24
04 n54.5330w 337.95
05 n35.0630e 82.94
06 n44.1937e 50.13

07 n35.0630e 89.33

s54°47'10"e
316.72

2

s3
5°

34
'36

"w

20
6.

24

n54°53'30"w

337.95

n3
5°

06
'30

"e
82

.9
4

n4
4°

19
'37

"e
50

.13

n3
5°

06
'30

"e
89

.3
3



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT B - 1 

EXHIBIT B 
CONCEPT PLANS (AS APPROVED) 

 



MYRTLE  ST

�RONT  ST

13
T�

  S
T

11
T�

  S
T



900 30 60





























LANDS�APE NOTES:







lwilliams
Text Box
EXHIBIT B - CONCEPT PLANS (AS APPROVED)



Parcel B 
Commercial Unit

CCDC
Garage Unit

PARCEL B COMMERCIAL UNIT

PARCEL B COMMERCIAL UNIT

PARKING STRUCTURE PLANS AND CONDOMINIUM CONFIGURATION

sgallivan
Polygon

sgallivan
Rectangle

sgallivan
Rectangle





CCDC GARAGE UNIT

sgallivan
Polygon



CCDC GARAGE UNIT

sgallivan
Polygon



PARCEL B: AERIAL VIEW

05/10/2016

NOTES:
Public plaza at the corner of Myrtle and 11th will not include any seemingly private area for
future retail use. The depiction does not include the separation of the private versus public
space which will have to occur.

lwilliams
Text Box
NOTES: Public Plaza at the corner of Myrtle and 11th will not include any seemingly private area for future retail use. The Depiction does not include the separation of the private versus public space which will have to occur.


























































 

 









PARCEL B: PERSPECTIVE



PARCEL B: PARKING GARAGE ELEVATIONS

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAILPERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

MASONRY

METAL PANEL

FUTURE SIGNAGE

MASONRY

METAL CANOPY

CABLE RAILARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAIL PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT

METAL
CANOPY

ARCHITECTURAL
CONCRETE

+48'

MASONRY

SOUTH ELEVATION

METAL PANEL

MASONRY

CABLE RAIL

PERFORATED
METAL PANEL

METAL
CANOPYARCHITECTURAL

CONCRETE

+48'

WEST ELEVATION



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT C - 1 

EXHIBIT C 
SITE PLAN 

 



UP

UP

1

12,211 SF

100B108

102B

110

109

10BA

10BB

107

106

105

103
104

102A

101B

101A

10A
A

10AB



900 30 60

























SITE KEYNOTES: SITE LAYOUT NOTES:

SITE DIMENSIONING NOTES:

SITE MATERIAL LEGEND:




lwilliams
Text Box
EXHIBIT C - SITE PLAN



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 1 

EXHIBIT D 
RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 

THIS RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL (this “Agreement”) is entered by and between 
Capital City Development Corporation, an urban renewal agency and a public body, 
corporate and politic, of the State of Idaho whose address is 121 N. 9th St., Ste. 501, 
Boise, ID 83702 (“CCDC”), BVGC PARCEL B, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company 
or its assignee whose address is 101 S. Capitol Boulevard, Suite 1700, Boise, Idaho 
83702 (“BVGC”).  CCDC and BVGC may each individually be referred to hereinafter as 
a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties,” as appropriate under the circumstances. 

RECITALS 

A. CCDC owns that certain real property located in Ada County, Idaho, 
together with all improvements thereon and all rights and appurtenances pertaining 
thereto, which is legally described as Unit ___ of the __________ Condominiums 
(collectively, the “Property”) and described on Exhibit A attached hereto. 

B. BVGC owns the remaining units in the __________ Condominiums, 
including the __________ (the “BVGC Project”).  

C. CCDC desires to grant to BVGC, and BVGC desires to accept from 
CCDC, a right of first refusal on the Property, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter 
set forth.   

AGREEMENT 

In consideration of $1.00 paid to CCDC by BVGC, and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, 
CCDC hereby grants and conveys to BVGC a right of first refusal on the Property on the 
following terms and conditions. 

1. Right of First Refusal.

1.1 Grant of Right of First Refusal.  CCDC hereby grants to BVGC
for a term extending from and after the Effective Date to and including that date which is 
ten (10) years after the Effective Date (the “Refusal Period”), the exclusive right of first 
refusal (the “Right of First Refusal”) to purchase the Property.  The Right of First 
Refusal provides BVGC the opportunity to purchase the Property prior to CCDC’s 
transfer of the Property to a party other than the City of Boise or another public entity; 
provided that such transfer shall be subject to the Right of First Refusal. 

1.2 Notice of Bona Fide Offer.  At such time as CCDC receives a 
bona fide offer for the purchase of the Property or any portion thereof by a third party, 
during the Refusal Period, and the offer is acceptable to CCDC in its sole judgment (the 
“Bona Fide Offer”), then CCDC shall forthwith offer the Property to BVGC, in writing, on 
the same terms and conditions as are contained in the Bona Fide Offer and shall furnish 
BVGC with a true, correct, and complete copy of the Bona Fide Offer at the time that it 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 2 

makes the offer to BVGC.  Any offer to transfer the Property by CCDC to another public 
entity shall not be deemed a Bona Fide Offer. 

1.3 Acceptance of Offer.  BVGC shall have thirty (30) days after the 
receipt of such offer (the “Purchase Period”) to notify CCDC in writing that it intends to 
purchase the Property on the terms of such offer (the “Purchase Notice”).  If BVGC 
declines to purchase the Property, or fails to give CCDC a Purchase Notice within the 
Purchase Period, then CCDC shall be free to sell the Property pursuant to the Bona 
Fide Offer on the terms and conditions contained therein. 

1.4 Closing With Third Party.  In the event BVGC does not timely give 
a Purchase Notice during the Purchase Period, and (a) if the sale to the third party does 
not close within sixty (60) days after the date of closing in the Bona Fide Offer, or (b) if 
the price or other material terms of the Bona Fide Offer change substantially, then 
CCDC shall notify BVGC of such failure to close or the changes intended to be granted 
to the third party purchaser under the Bona Fide Offer, and BVGC will have 15 days 
from the date of receipt of such notice to notify CCDC of its election to purchase the 
Property under the revised terms of the Bona Fide Offer, and if BVGC does not notify 
CCDC of its election to purchase the Property within said 15 days, then CCDC shall be 
free to consummate the sale to the purchaser under the Bona Fide Offer pursuant to its 
revised terms. 

1.5 BVGC’s Obligation to Close.  If BVGC notifies CCDC pursuant to 
Section 1.2 or Section 1.4 that it intends to purchase the Property, then BVGC shall 
close the contemplated transaction on or before the date of closing as specified in the 
Bona Fide Offer.  At closing, CCDC shall convey the Property to BVGC by bargain and 
sale deed. 

1.6 New Bona Fide Offers.  Any new Bona Fide Offer from a third 
party, or any tendering again of a previously tendered Bona Fide Offer, by a person who 
has previously extended an offer shall be treated as a new Bona Fide Offer for 
purposes of this Agreement. 

1.7 Right of First Refusal Not Intended to Fail.  It is intended by the 
Parties that BVGC’s right to purchase the Property under Section 1 of this Agreement 
shall be valid and shall not fail as a result of CCDC receiving a Bona Fide Offer which, 
by its terms, cannot be matched by BVGC (such as an exchange).  Therefore, if BVGC 
is able to perform under any of the terms (except for the exchange of property in lieu of 
payment of money) of any Bona Fide Offer extended by CCDC, then BVGC shall have 
the right to purchase the Property for cash at a price that is the cash equivalent of said 
Bona Fide Offer.  The “cash equivalent” is the cash price that fairly represents the fair 
market value of the Property as evidenced by the offer in question and as agreed by the 
Parties, or if no agreement, then as determined by independent appraisal by an 
appraiser mutually acceptable to the Parties, or if no mutually acceptable appraiser is 
found, then one shall be appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction.  Either Party 
may seek a court order for the appointment of the appraiser if the Parties fail to agree 
on an appraiser.  In all events, the Parties shall share the costs of all appraisals equally.  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 3 

In addition, CCDC agrees not to grant any option or long-term lease or to otherwise 
subdivide, sell, transfer, convey or assign any right, title or interest in and to the 
Property that would serve to defeat the right of first refusal or that would otherwise 
constitute a de facto sale of the Property or portion thereof without complying with the 
terms of this Agreement. 

1.8 Agreement Runs With the Land.  It is the intent of the Parties that 
the Right of First Refusal (to the extent of the Refusal Period) shall not lapse, but shall 
be covenants running with the land and shall be binding upon the subsequent owner(s) 
of the Property or any portion thereof.  

2. Miscellaneous.   

2.1 Modification.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties relative to the subject matter hereof and may only be amended by 
a writing specifically referencing this Agreement and signed by the Parties or their 
successors, legal representatives, assignees, or transferees. 

28. Notices.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be given in 
writing and shall be deemed properly served or delivered: (a) if delivered in person, or 
by electronic mail transmission with confirmation of receipt; (b) upon deposit for 
overnight delivery with any reputable overnight courier service, delivery confirmation 
requested; or (c) upon deposit with the U.S. Postal Service registered or certified mail 
and addressed to the Parties at the addresses set forth below or such other addresses 
specified hereafter: 

 
 (a) If to Buyer:    Capital City Development Corporation 
      Attn: John Brunelle 
      121 North 9th Street, Suite 501 
      Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

 With a copy to:  Elam & Burke, P.A. 
     Attn: Ryan P. Armbruster 
     P.O. Box 1539 
     Boise, Idaho 83701-1539  
  
(b) If to Seller:   BVGC Parcel B, LLC 

Attn: J. Thomas Ahlquist 
     101 S. Capitol Blvd., Suite 1700 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
  

With a copy to:  BV Management Services, Inc. 
     Attn: Cortney Liddiard 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 4 

     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  flyfish@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:  BV Management Services, Inc.   
     Attn: Thel W. Casper 
     901 Pier View Drive, Suite 201 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83702 
     PO Box 51157 
     Idaho Falls, Idaho 83405    
     Phone:  (208) 523-3794 
     Email:  tcasper@ballventures.com 
 

With a copy to:  Spink Butler, LLP 
     Attn: Geoffrey M. Wardle 
     251 E. Front Street, Suite 200 
     Boise, Idaho 83702 
     Phone: (208) 388-1000 
     Email: gwardle@spinkbutler.com 

 
The party and address to which notices are to be given may be changed at any time by 
any party upon written notice to the other party.   
 

2.2 Headings.  The headings of the several sections contained herein 
are for convenience only and do not explain, define, limit, amplify, or aid in the 
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 

2.3 Recitals and Exhibits.  The recitals and exhibits contained herein 
are incorporated herein as if set forth in full.  However, in the event of any conflict 
between such recitals and/or exhibits and the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
this Agreement shall control. 

2.4 Time Is of the Essence.  All time periods in this Agreement shall 
be deemed to refer to calendar days unless the time period specifically references 
business days; provided that if the last date on which to perform any act or give any 
notice under this Agreement shall fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or local, state, or national 
holiday, such act or notice shall be deemed timely if performed or given on the next 
succeeding business day.  Time is of the essence with respect to each and every 
covenant and obligation under this Agreement. 

2.5 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Idaho as an agreement to be performed in the State of Idaho. 

2.6 Recording of Memorandum of Agreement.  The Parties agree a 
Memorandum of this Agreement shall be recorded in the real property records of Ada 
County, Idaho.  The Memorandum shall be in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 5 

2.7 Grammatical Usage.  In construing this Agreement, feminine or 
neuter pronouns shall be substituted for those masculine in form and vice versa, and 
plural terms shall be substituted for singular and singular for plural in any place in which 
the context so requires. 

2.8 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall run with the land and be 
deemed a burden on the Property for the benefit of BVGC and be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective heirs, legal 
representatives, successors and assigns. 

2.9 Additional Acts.  Except as otherwise provided herein, in addition 
to the acts and deeds recited herein and contemplated to be performed, executed 
and/or delivered by the Parties, the Parties hereby agree to perform, execute and/or 
deliver or cause to be performed, executed and/or delivered any and all such further 
acts, deeds and assurances as any Party hereto may reasonably require to 
consummate the transaction contemplated hereunder. 

2.10 Remedies.  In the event of a breach hereunder by any Party, the 
non-breaching Party shall have all remedies available at law or in equity, including 
injunctive or other equitable relief.  In any suit, action or appeal therefrom to enforce or 
interpret this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover its costs 
incurred therein, including reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements, and also 
including reasonable attorney's fees and costs associated with any appeal of a 
judgment.  The prevailing Party will be that Party which was awarded judgment as a 
result of trial or which receives a payment of money from the other Party in settlement of 
claims asserted by that Party. 

2.11 Counterparts.  This agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts and once so executed by all Parties thereto, each such counterpart shall 
be deemed to be an original instrument but all such counterparts together shall 
constitute but one agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be 
executed effective the day and year first above written. 

    
   
 CCDC:  Capital City Development Corporation, 

an Idaho corporation 
 
  
John Brunelle, its Executive Director 
Date: _______________________ 
 

   
 BVGC:  BVGC Parcel B, LLC  

an Idaho limited liability company,  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 6 

by its Operations Manager 
 

KC Gardner company, L.C., a Utah 
limited liability company 
 
By: __________________________ 

 Christian K. Gardner  
 Its: Manager  
Date: _______________________ 
 

    
 

 
 
  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 7 

Exhibit A 
Legal Description of the Property 

[to be inserted] 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 8 

Exhibit B 
Form of Memorandum of Agreement 

 

Recording Requested By and 
When Recorded Return to: 
 
 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY 

MEMORANDUM OF RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL  

THIS MEMORANDUM OF RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL (“Memorandum”) is 
entered by and between Capital City Development Corporation, an urban renewal 
agency and a public body, corporate and politic, of the State of Idaho whose address is 
121 N. 9th St., Ste. 501, Boise, ID 83702 (“CCDC”), BVGC PARCEL B, LLC, an Idaho 
limited liability company or its assignee whose address is 101 S. Capitol Boulevard, 
Suite 1700, Boise, Idaho 83702 (“BVGC”).  CCDC and BVGC are the “Parties”. 

 1. The Parties have previously entered into that certain Right of First 
Refusal.  This Memorandum summarizes the Right of First Refusal Agreement pursuant 
to Idaho Code Section 55-818 and incorporates by reference all of the terms and 
provisions of the Memorandum.  

 2. The Parties have granted each other the Grantee the right of first refusal 
to purchase the Parties property described in Exhibit “A” (the “Property”).  The grant of 
the rights under the Right of First Refusal are made subject to and subordinate to 
certain other rights of offer or refusal granted to third parties. 

3. The terms, conditions and provisions of the Right of First Refusal relating 
to the purchase of the Property shall extend to and be binding upon the heirs, 
executors, administrators, grantees, successors and assigns of the parties hereto for 
the duration of the Right of First Refusal. 

4. In the event of any conflict between the Right of First Refusal and this 
Memorandum, the Right of First Refusal shall control. 

5. Capitalized terms set forth in this Memorandum shall have the same 
meanings ascribed for such capitalized terms in the Right of First Refusal. 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 
 
 
 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 9 

   
 CCDC:  Capital City Development Corporation, 

an Idaho corporation 
 
  
John Brunelle, its Executive Director 
Date: _______________________ 
 

   
 BVGC:  BVGC Parcel B, LLC  

an Idaho limited liability company,  
by its Operations Manager 

 
KC Gardner company, L.C., a Utah 
limited liability company 
 
By: __________________________ 

 Christian K. Gardner  
 Its: Manager  
Date: _______________________ 
 

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
STATE OF IDAHO  ) 
    )  ss. 
County of Ada ) 
 
 On this _____ day of _____________, 2016, before me, 
__________________________, the undersigned notary public in and for said county 
and state, personally appeared __________________, known or identified to me to be 
the Chair of the Capital City Development Corporation, the public body corporate and 
politic, that executed the within instrument, and known to me to be the person that 
executed the within instrument on behalf of said Agency and acknowledged to me that 
such Agency executed the same for the purposes herein contained. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 
seal the day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
     __________________________________________ 
     Residing at        
     Commission Expires       
 
 
STATE OF    ) 
     ) ss. 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 10 

COUNTY OF     ) 
 
On this______ day of __________, 2016, before me ______________________, 

a Notary Public in and for said State, personally appeared ______________, known or 
identified to me to be the __________ of KC Gardner Company, L.C., the Utah limited 
liability company that is the Operations Manager of BVGC Parcel B, LLC, the Idaho 
limited liability company that executed the within instrument or the person who executed 
the instrument on behalf of said limited liability company, and acknowledged to me that 
such limited liability company executed the same. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 

seal the day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 

  
Notary Public for   
Residing at   
My commission expires   

 
  



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT D - 11 

Exhibit A to Memorandum 
Legal Description of the Property 

[to be inserted] 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT E - 1 
 

EXHIBIT E 
FORM OF SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

 
 

Recording Requested By and 
When Recorded Return to: 
 
 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY 

 
SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

THIS SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED made this _____ day of _______________, 
20___, between BVGC PARCEL B, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company (“Grantor”), 
and Capital City Development Corporation, an urban renewal agency and a public body, 
corporate and politic, of the State of Idaho whose address is 121 N. 9th St., Ste. 501, 
Boise, ID 83702 (“Grantee”), witnesseth: 

That Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of One Dollar and No Cents 
($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is hereby 
acknowledged, does, by these presents, grant, sell and convey unto Grantee and its 
successors and assigns forever, all the following described real estate (“Property”) 
situated in the County of Ada, State of Idaho: 

SEE EXHIBIT A ATTACHED HERETO AND INCORPORATED HEREIN. 
Together with all and singular the tenements, hereditaments, and appurtenances 

thereunto belonging or in anywise appertaining, the rents, issues and profits thereof; 
and all estate, right, title and interest in and to the Property, as well in law as in equity, 
except as expressly provided otherwise herein. 

To have and to hold, all and singular the above-described Property together with 
the appurtenances unto Grantee and its heirs and assigns forever.   

Grantor makes no covenants or warranties with respect to title or condition of the 
Property, express or implied, other than that Grantor has authority to grant, sell, and 
convey the Property and holds marketable fee simple title to the Property and that 
previous to the date of this instrument, Grantor has not conveyed the same estate to 
any person other than Grantee and that such estate is at the time of the execution of 
this instrument free from encumbrances done, made or suffered by the Grantor, or any 
person claiming under Grantor, except as set forth herein.   

This conveyance is made further subject to (a) any and all easements, 
restrictions, agreements and encumbrances of record or appearing on the land as of the 
date of this instrument; (b) the recorded instruments relating to the development of and 
the creation of the condominium units and appurtenant common areas constituting the 
Property; (c) the continuing obligations of Grantee to Grantor relating to the Property 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT E - 2 
 

which shall survive the conveyance and not merge herewith; and (d) taxes and 
assessments due but not yet owing as the date hereof.   
GRANTOR: 
 
BVGC Parcel B, LLC  
an Idaho limited liability company,  
by its Operations Manager 

 
KC Gardner Company, L.C., a Utah limited liability company 
 
By: __________________________ 

 Christian K. Gardner  
 Its: Manager  

Date: _______________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF    ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF     ) 

 
On this______ day of __________, 2016, before me ______________________, 

a Notary Public in and for said State, personally appeared ______________, known or 
identified to me to be the __________ of KC Gardner Company, L.C., the Utah limited 
liability company that is the Operations Manager of BVGC Parcel B, LLC, the Idaho 
limited liability company that executed the within instrument or the person who executed 
the instrument on behalf of said limited liability company, and acknowledged to me that 
such limited liability company executed the same. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 

seal the day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 

  
Notary Public for   
Residing at   
My commission expires   



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT E - 3 
 

Exhibit A 
Legal Description to Special Warranty Deed 

 
Those condominium units known ___________________________________ 
 
 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT F - 1 
 

EXHIBIT F 
SUMMARY OF PROPERTY OWNER’S RIGHTS WHEN AGENCY 

SEEKS TO ACQUIRE PROPERTY 
 
The Urban Renewal Agency of the city of Boise City, Idaho, an independent public body 
corporate and politic, organized under the laws of the state of Idaho (“Agency”) has 
been granted the power under the Idaho Constitution and the laws of the state of Idaho 
and the United States to acquire private property for public use; often referred to as 
“eminent domain” or “condemnation.”  The power may only be exercised when three 
conditions are satisfied:  (i) the property is needed for a public use; (ii) the acquisition of 
the property is necessary to such public use; and (iii) the acquisition and use must be in 
the manner which will be most compatible with the greatest public good and the least 
private injury. 
 
In instances where Agency desires to exercise its power of eminent domain for the 
purpose of effectuating economic development, it must be proved by clear and 
convincing evidence that: (1) the subject property be in such condition that it meets all 
of the following requirements: (i) the property, due to general dilapidation, compromised 
structural integrity, or failed mechanical systems, endangers life or endangers property 
by fire or by other perils that pose an actual identifiable threat to building occupants; and 
(ii) the property contains specifically identifiable conditions that pose an actual risk to 
human health, transmission of disease, juvenile delinquency or criminal content; and (iii) 
the property presents an actual risk of harm to the public health, safety, morals or 
general welfare; or (2) for those public and private uses for which eminent domain is 
expressly provided in the Constitution of the state of Idaho. 
 
If Agency desires to exercise its power of eminent domain, it must negotiate with the 
property owner in good faith to purchase the property sought and/or to settle with the 
owner for any other damages which might result to the remainder of the owner’s 
property.  The property owner is entitled to be paid for any reduction in the value of the 
owner’s remaining property.  The value of the property to be acquired is to be 
determined based upon the highest and best use of the property.  If negotiations to 
purchase the property and settle damages are unsuccessful, the property owner is 
entitled to an assessment of damages from a court, jury, or referee as provided by 
Idaho law. 
 
The owner has the right to consult with an appraiser of the owner’s choosing at any time 
during the acquisition process, at the owner’s cost and expense.  Upon request, Agency 
shall deliver to the owner a copy of all appraisal reports concerning the owner’s property 
prepared by Agency.  Once a complaint for condemnation is filed, the Idaho Rules of 
Civil Procedure control the disclosure of appraisals. 
 
The owner has the right to consult with an attorney at any time during the acquisition 
process.  In cases in which Agency condemns property and the owner is able to 
establish that just compensation exceeds the last amount timely offered by Agency by 
ten percent (10%) or more, Agency may be required to pay the owner’s reasonable 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT EXHIBIT F - 2 
 

costs and attorney’s fees.  The court will make the determination whether costs and 
fees will be awarded. 
 
This summary of rights is deemed delivered when sent by United States certified mail, 
postage prepaid, addressed to the person or persons shown in the official records of the 
county assessor as the owner of the property to be acquired.   
 
If Agency desires to acquire property pursuant to Chapter 7, Eminent Domain, of Title 7, 
Idaho Code, Agency or any of its agents or employees shall not give the owner any 
deadlines as to when the owner must respond to the initial offer which is less than thirty 
(30) days.  A violation of this provision shall render null and void any action pursuant to 
Chapter 7, Eminent Domain, of Title 7, Idaho Code. 
 
Nothing in this summary of rights alters the assessment of damages set forth in Idaho 
Code Section 7-711. 
 
Any questions concerning this summary of rights form should be directed to: 
 
Name: John Brunelle  Title: Executive Director (208) 384-4264 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4834-0843-8322, v. 10 



 

 

 
TO:     John Hale, Chairman, CCDC Board Executive Committee 
FM: John Brunelle, Executive Director  
RE:     CCDC Operations Report – June 2016 
 
 
 

 

During this past 

month we’ve had 

the opportunity to 

actually see the 

results of the CCDC 

Participation 

Program. The plans 

and renderings of 

many of our 

projects, such as 

agency-led housing 

projects like The 

Afton, The Fowler, and The Watercooler, have come to life and are in various stages of 

construction.  The Grove Plaza renewal is moving forward rapidly, and our newcomers to 

the plaza, Clearwater, Boise Centre East, and Boise State, will be arriving in just a few 

weeks. The façade on Athlos Academy is taking shape as preservation of the CC Anderson 

Building continues.  There are many more successes from the CCDC program underway, 

and brief stories are regularly updated at www.ccdcboise.com 

 

BUDGET SEASON – Preparation of the FY16 Amended Budget and FY17 Original Budget, 

along with a revised 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan, was a high priority item for all 

agency personnel during the month of June. Controller Joey Chen has prepared the initial 

drafts for review by Executive Committee, and final versions will be the focus of our August 

board meeting.   

http://www.ccdcboise.com/


 

CCDC & LEADERSHIP BOISE –Congratulations are in order for our own Doug Woodruff, 

who has been accepted to the Leadership Boise program! This is an intensive two-year 

commitment that is run by the Greater Boise Metro Chamber of Commerce and will require 

Doug to attend LB events approximately two times per month. Coupled with homework and 

other planning exercises, the requirements are significant but will pay dividends for all 

involved. Please join me in cheering on Doug and his fellow LB Class of ’18 members!  By 

the way, we have a couple of Leadership Boise alums in our midst, Ross Borden '09 and 

Matt Edmond '14.   

ALIVE AFTER FIVE – Downtown Boise’s signature summer series is having a successful 

run on the Basque Block. Here is a note from DBA that mentions CCDC’s Ben Houpt: “Top 

of mind in all our planning for moving Alive After Five to the Basque Block were to be a 

good neighbor to the businesses there. We hire a crew to look after trash clean up on the 

block during and after the event. Thank you also to Ben Houpt at CCDC for assisting our 

staff with additional cleaning the day-after. Together, it’s making a noticeable difference.” 

CENTRAL DISTRICT SUNSET – Significant progress on the closure of the Central District 

has been made, with a committee meeting held in June. A detailed report is included in the 

following pages. 

WHAT’S AHEAD – Among the big projects on the horizon at CCDC are the following: 

downtown multi-use stadium planning; new mixed-use and parking plans in the Westside 

URD; agency involvement in circulator studies; support of 8th Street corridor vision and new 

main Library; and an exploration of many downtown alleyways and the potential for 

innovative redesign and improved usage. 

 
Also coming up in August is the departure of Deah Lafollette, the agency's executive 
assistant and HR officer.  After 11 years at CCDC, Deah and her family will be moving out 
of the Treasure Valley, and we will miss her. Deah has been an important contributor to the 
agency's success for more than a decade and we wish her the best. Kevin Martin will 
assume the HR coordinator duties, adding to his current work as agency accountant. He will 
continue to report to our controller, Joey Chen. And Laura Williams, who joined CCDC one 
year ago as project specialist, will take on additional responsibility for board 
communications, public outreach, supervisory and office management, and assisting the 
executive director with planning and scheduling. Laura will report to me. Thanks to Deah for 
all of her substantial contribution over the years, and happy trails! 
 

 



 

Parcel B Redevelopment  

A development proposal was presented by staff to the CCDC Board of Commissioners on 

June 11th and the Board designated the proposal as a Type 3 assistance. Pursuant to this 

designation, staff has been working with the developer and legal counsel in drafting 

agreements. These agreements are currently scheduled to be presented at the July 18th 

Board meeting for consideration. 

New District Study – THE BENCH 

The potential for a new district in the area has been a topic of CCDC/City conversation. 

General strategy and planning actions to initiate district formation have occurred. A meeting 

to explore the project was held with CCDC Executive Committee members and staff on 

November 27, 2015. Additional work by staff has transpired identifying the necessary steps 

for district creation, a draft timeline, and some preliminary district mapping. The next steps 

involve additional collaboration with the City of Boise Office of the Mayor and PDS. 

Additional draft work has been completed, identifying key questions to discuss between the 

City of Boise and CCDC regarding the desired process. Detailed steps have been identified 

subject to resolution of key questions and preliminary mapping has been done for 

discussion purposes. In collaboration with the City of Boise further actions are planned for 

the fall of 2016. 

Broad Street Improvements 

CCDC issued an RFP for CMGC services in December 2015. Proposals were submitted 

and an RFP for design professional services was issued in January 2016. CMGC and 

Design Professional teams have been evaluated and selections have been made. 

Selections of Jensen Belts Associates and Guho Corp. were approved by The Board in the 

February 8, 2016 meeting. In March, the streetscape package was submitted for DR; the 

project was approved at DR hearing in April. The ACHD Commission approved the design; 

construction drawings are anticipated to be submitted for ACHD permit approval week of 

July 1st. 

PP4: JPA: Public Works Central Addition Geothermal Expansion 

Geothermal plans have been submitted for permit and Guho opened Geothermal pipe and 

fitting in early June. Procurement of pipe and fittings were approved at the June 13, 2016 

Board Meeting. Pipe has been ordered; installation bidding forthcoming with request for bid 

approval by The Board anticipated in August. 

SS: Broad Street (Capitol/2nd)  

Selections of Jensen Belts Associates and Guho Corp. were approved by The Board. The 

contract with Jensen Belts and Guho is complete and streetscape package was submitted 

for DR in March 2016. This project was approved at DR hearing on April 13, 2016. ACHD 

commission then approved the design in May. Construction drawings are anticipated to be 

submitted for ACHD permit approval week of July 1st. 

Development Team:  Todd Bunderson, Doug Woodruff, Shellan Rodriguez,  

  Karl Woods, Matt Edmond, Laura Williams & Jay Story 



 

SS: Fulton Street Concept Plan 

City of Boise has requested that the Fulton Streetscape efforts be postponed to allow a 

higher level planning effort of the overall area. The boundaries of the Cultural District are 

currently being reworked; the Royal Blvd. extension is eminent; a pedestrian and bike 

corridor are being considered for 8th Street; The Afton construction is underway and master 

planning efforts for The Library! continue. CCDC has coordinated with City of Boise and has 

solicited proposals for the requested higher level planning effort of the overall area. 

Proposals have been submitted to CCDC for review.  Contract has been issued to 

LOCI/JBA/QCI for the planning effort. Design team performed initial stakeholder charrette 

on January 21-22, 2016. Alternatives were refined and presented to a larger stakeholder 

group in early March. Stakeholder presentations were conducted and the results have been 

compiled into a prioritized list of public improvements. This list was submitted in May 2016; 

City of Boise and CCDC have submitted comments on this list. A follow-up conference call 

was held in late June 2016; with the final document anticipated to be delivered July 1st. 

Public Art – Whittier Fence 

CCDC has paid our portion of the project to City of Boise to close out FY14 ($10,000).   

Dennis & Margo Proksa of Black Rock Forge in Pocatello were selected to be the artists. 

The fence was fabricated over the winter and is scheduled to be installed 3rd week in July. 

Public Art – Traffic Box Artwork 

City of Boise Arts and History has reissued an RFQ for the Traffic Box Artwork fabrication. 

Contractor selections to provide fabrication and installation of Traffic Box Artwork were 

made on December 15, 2015. Three contractors have installed wraps on four boxes, their 

work was evaluated and the remainder of the wraps has been assigned for installation 

summer 2016.   

5th & Broad – Public Parking 

CCDC is working with Local Construct and Andersen Construction to finalize desired 

parking equipment prior to underground rough-in to ensure utilities are installed in the 

correct locations. CCDC is currently working on rough-in requirements for garage signage 

and final approvals of parking equipment. CCDC is also working with YESCO to submit 

signage package to City of Boise DR for approval. 

Broad Street – Fiber Optic Expansion 

CCDC has coordinated with the City of Boise to scope the work and include it in the Capital 

Improvement Plan. The City of Boise has hired Quadrant Consulting Incorporated to design 

the project. The project will be incorporated in the streetscape improvement package. 

Development of East Boise Industrial Property 

The City of Boise and CCDC have collaborated regarding the development opportunities 



 

and infrastructure improvements needed for some industrial property located in east Boise. 

Some additional assessments are underway. 

5th & Idaho Mixed Use Apartments 

CCDCs participation will be for a Type 4 Participation Agreement for Public Park and 

undergrounding utilities as well as a Type 2 for streetscapes. The Participation Agreements 

were approved in May 2016 and have been executed by all parties. Construction drawings 

have been submitted for review and financing is expected to be secured this fall. Anticipated 

construction date is late Fall 2016. 

617 S. Ash St (Erma Hayman House) 

Staff presented a preservation strategy to the Board in March 2016 and has had follow up 

discussions with City Arts & History to determine how best to preserve the home including 

conveying ownership to the City.  Staff expects to review a detailed preservation strategy 

with CCDC Board in the coming months. CCDC has completed an ALTA survey and is 

working on obtaining a Needs Assessment. The lot line adjustment will be final in the 

coming weeks and will add value to the adjacent property. 

Front & Myrtle Redesign 

CCDC published the RFP on July 6, 2016 with suspense of August 3rd. We expect to have a 

consultant under contract in early September. 

Historical Museum Streetscapes 

Agreement for $150k in streetscape improvements finalized 3/15/2016. Project broke 

ground summer 2016 with expected completion August 2017 and reimbursement October 

2017. 

RMH Company DDA – 620 S. 9th Street – The Afton 

The development is moving forward with Phase I of The Afton.  Soil Remediation costs is 

higher than expected. The developer has requested up to $360,000 in CCDC's 

reimbursement for contaminated soil disposal. A Remediation Agreement is slated for the 

July Agenda for Board approval. 

Julia Davis Park 5th Street Entrance 

Submitted waiver request for smaller curb radii at 5th/Myrtle to ITD on July 5th; this is the 

only outstanding item on construction documents. Tentative schedule by Guho estimates 

construction to be done in September following geothermal work in August. 

Property Development: 503-647 S. Ash Street 

Staff is working on due diligence in order to start the RFQ process, this includes a lot line 

adjustment, ALTA survey and ESA and Capital Needs Assessment.  Staff has met with 

brokers and designers who have expressed interest in the property. Staff is drafting a 

RFQ/P for future approval. 



 

“The Fowler” Local Construct Project – 5th & Broad 

Staff continues to meet onsite on a regular basis to track construction progress. Condo 

declarations have been drafted and parking maintenance agreements will be negotiated in 

coming months.  Staff is attending regular onsite meetings to monitor construction of the 

public parking garage. In June CCDC Board approved an amendment to the Type 3 

Agreement, decreasing the commitment from CCDC 

Disposition 1401/1403 W. Idaho Street 

The land closed on June 1, 2016. The developer is completing site work. 

AC/BC HA 32nd St. Property Concept 

CCDC Staff met with representatives from AC/BC HA design team to discuss CCDCs 

Participation Policy.  Although timing is unknown staff expects to receive a request for 

Participation in coming months. 

West End SS Standards 

City Council approved resolution formally adding streetscape standards to downtown design 

standards and guidelines April 19, 2016. CCDC is maintaining a courtesy copy of the 

streetscape manual on its website until we can link to the document at cityofboise.org 

Brownfield Assessment Grant Application 
EPA Region 10 notified CCDC that CCDC did not win a grant (no grants were awarded in 
Washington or Idaho. CCDC, City of Boise Environmental and Idaho Dept. of Environmental 
Quality staff was debriefed by EPA Region 10 on 6/28. Should we decide to resubmitted 
next year, the RFP is expected to be published in September? 
 
Bike Rack Infill 
Bike rack inventory in progress. Staff has identified three block faces in the downtown core 
needing additional bike racks and will contract for installation this quarter (4Q FY16). 
Working on a strategy to solicit business/user requests for bike racks. 
 
 
DBIP (DT Boise Implementation Plan)  
FY2016 DBIP work is underway; it principally includes conversion of Jefferson St to two-
way and adding bike lanes in conjunction with pavement resurfacing. The ACHD 
Commission will hold a work session on 7/20 to discuss the feasibility of converting 5th & 
6th Streets to two-way. City of Boise, with help from CCDC staff, sent a letter to ACHD 
requesting realignment of State Street to a 4-lane, 48' street section with tree lawns 
between 15th Street and 8th Street. This work would take place with pavement 
rehabilitation in FY2018 and would likely require cost share participation from CCDC. 
 
Protected Bike Lanes 
At its 7/6 meeting, ACHD Commission deferred a decision on the Main/Idaho bike lanes 
indefinitely. CCDC staff is coordinating with ACHD staff on timing of a follow-up; lack of 



 

resolution at some point will impact maintenance work that is scheduled for Main and Idaho 
in 2017. 
 
Wayfinding Project 
CCDC is submitting final comments on legend plans in July. Project manual is expected to 
be complete by the end of August. 
 
Update CCDC Streetscape Manual 
City Council approved resolution formally adding streetscape standards to downtown design 
standards and guidelines 4/19/2016. CCDC is maintaining a courtesy copy of the 
streetscape manual on its website until we can link to the document at cityofboise.org. 
 
COB – Downtown Transportation Plan 
Following the June 13th presentation on the Transportation Action Plan, City and CCDC 
staff will be working to integrate the strategies from the TAP and Parking Strategic Plan into 
FY17 work plans.   
 
Clairvoyant Brewery 
CCDC Board designated the project as a Type 1 Streetscape Grant amounting to 
approximately $65,000. Staff is requesting approval of the participation agreement this 
month. 
 
Overhead Utility Relocation 
CCDC staff is working on undergrounding overhead utility lines in the alley between Main, 
Idaho, 5th and 3rd as an extension of undergrounding to be done as part of the 5th & Idaho 
development. Staff issued a service request and payment to Idaho Power (for facilities in 
the alley right-of-way) and let a contract with Musgrove Engineering (for facilities outside the 
alley right-of-way) on or about 7/14 to perform the necessary engineering, coordination and 
outreach. The design phase is expected to take about 60 days. 
 
 
Midas Property & Jerry’s Market have Sold 
The old Midas building at the corner of 27th & Fairview Avenue has sold to an investor 
group, and the Jerry’s Market property has sold to a developer.  The owners of the Midas 
would love to find an interesting adaptive reuse of the property, while the developers who 
purchased Jerry’s Market are looking to do a mixed use project. 
 
 
CWI Considering a Bond & Strategic Plan Coming in July 
As one of the nation’s fastest growing community colleges since its inception, CWI is 
investigating how to best handle the demand for educational services.  Part of this plan is 
likely to include expansion on its current campus in Canyon County and also ideas on how 
to best grow an Ada County campus.  In the next several months we will be learning more 
on how CWI plans to finance its growth and become a catalyst for further development 
within the West End. 
 
Adare Manor Project Moving Forward 



 

The City of Boise and Adare Manor LLC have entered into a lease option agreement for the 
property located at 2403 & 2409 West Fairview Avenue.  Adare Manor LLC is proposing a 
downtown housing development of ~120 housing units fronting on Fairview Avenue.  The 
$18.5 million development will bring needed housing as well as numerous residents who will 
contribute to the vibrancy of the neighborhood. 
 
 
June Stakeholder Meeting Addresses Connectivity, Parking, & Marketing 
A June meeting brought forward some great news about West End development plans, but 
it also brought to light some concerns with long term connectivity and parking solutions.  By 
2020, there is over $150 million of planned development in the West End and the need for 
over 1500 parking spaces, which could amount to over 10 acres if it were all surface 
parked.  In the coming months and years, these developments need a cohesive strategy to 
realize a synergistic vision 
 
Renovation of the Grove Plaza 
Hard work by construction crews, predictable summer weather and support from 
stakeholders has garnered significant progress on The Grove Plaza renovation.  We are 
especially appreciative of the seamlessly coordinated efforts coming from McAlvain and 
ESI. Thank you and great job to both companies on working together on many complex 
topics. Over the past month, bricks were salvaged for reuse in the renovation; the old 
fountain was demolished making way for the new improved fountain; and, the central plaza 
storm water system was installed--disconnecting the plaza storm drain from the Boise River. 
This week, we accomplished significant progress on the restrooms and attendant booth.  
Structural demo, MEP coring, sleeving and foundation are in place.  Thanks to Boise 
Centre’s flexibility, the interior build-out in the Perch is also done. Another benchmark 
moment was accomplished this week.  The Silva Cell, utility and subgrade work was 
completed in the south half of the central plaza.  This provides space for ESI to begin work 
on the Boise Centre Concourse later this month.  The current detour routes remain effective 
through August.  Expect to see additional fencing on the south spoke but access to remain 
the same.  In our next update, we will have more information about the detour change 
planned for September. 
 
PP3: Gardner – City Center Plaza Project 
The north spoke of the Grove Plaza was turned over to CCDC on July 5.  Progress 
continues on the VRT lid with waterproofing and fixture foundations being placed.  Agency 
staff anticipates a turnover of the VRT lid on August 1. 
 
Boise Centre Ph. 2 Expansion 
GBAD board approved the Phase 2 expansion construction contract on July 12.  
Construction crews will begin mobilizing July 21.  Expect to see additional construction 
fences on the south spoke.  The current public access route will be maintained with the 
additional fence in place.   
 
 

Parking & Facilities Team: Max Clark & Ben Houpt 



 

 
Capitol Terrace Parking Expansion 
Currently there is no word on sale of Capitol Terrace Retail. In the meantime, progress is 
being made with the re-platting of the garage and retail, and the creation of a new 
declaration for the condo association.   
 
 
Exterior Signage for All Garages 
With the finalization of the brand name, logo and new garage names, we are finalizing a 
contract with a local engineering company to assist with the design and bid specs for new 
signage. We hope to have the signs up around the 2016 holiday season.    
 
 
COB – Downtown Transportation Plan 
Following the June 13th presentation on the Transportation Action Plan, City and CCDC 
staff will be working to integrate the strategies from the TAP and Parking Strategic Plan into 
FY17 work plans.  



10 
 

 

 

 

Budget and CIP Development  

After having been reviewed by the Executive Director, the draft FY16 Amended and FY17 

Original budgets were presented to the Executive Committee on July 14.  Also part of the review 

process this year is a well-developed draft of the 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan (FY17 is 

Year 1 of the new, rolling 5-Year CIP).  The Executive Committee will meet a second time to 

make further refinements after which the documents will be prepared for the full Board.  The 

Board has two opportunities to consider the budgets in August, first at its Regular meeting and 

then the planned final adoption at a Special meeting.  Final adoption by Resolution must occur 

prior to September 1.   

July 14   Executive Committee Review 1 

July 27 or 28  Executive Committee Review 2 

After August 1  Property values and estimated levy rates become available 

August 8   Board considers proposed Budgets and CIP 

August 17 & 24  Budgets published in the Idaho Statesman 

August 24   Special Meeting: Public hearing, Budget Resolution, CIP approval 

September 1  Statutory deadline to adopt FY 2017 Budget 

September 30  FY 2017 Budget filed with City Clerk 

October 1   Fiscal Year 2017 begins 

Central District Sunsetting 

The Central District Sunset Working Group met for the third time on June 27 to continue 

formulating the Agency’s first sunsetting plan for its first urban renewal district.  While the formal 

termination date is December 31, 2017, the Agency will receive property tax increment revenue 

assessed in Calendar Year 2017 then distributed in CY 2018.  Because of that, Central’s 

practical sunset date is the end of the Agency’s Fiscal Year 2018 on September 30, 2018.   

Chairman Hale also chairs this Working Group.  The minutes from the June 27 meeting are 

included in this Board meeting packet.  

ACH Vendor Payments 

Having received Executive Committee and Executive Director approval, the process is 
underway to emphasize ACH (Automated Clearing House electronic funds transfer) 
as the Agency’s preferred vendor payment option.  The transition from check-writing 

Finance Team: Ross Borden, Mary Watson, Joey Chen, Kevin Martin & Kathy 
Wanner 



11 
 

to ACH payments will take place gradually over the next couple of years.  Current 
vendors will be invited to switch to being paid via ACH – an easy change requiring 
only vendor banking information and a W9 form.  Some may prefer to continue being 
paid by check.  New vendors will be encouraged to provide their ACH information 
from the outset.  ACH payments will be added to the current twice-per-month check-
run schedule.  The Agency will continue to write checks and will always need to 
maintain that payment option.   

The ACH payment option adds safeguards to the Agency’s current AP check-writing 
process.  After accumulating several ACH payments in the weeks ahead, Finance 
will walk-through the proposed email approval process with the Executive 
Committee and Executive Director.  These sessions will familiarize payment 
authorizers with the new process and provide the opportunity for fine-tuning to 
satisfy expectations of fiduciary duty and transparency.  

COMPETITIVE BIDDING and QUALIFICATION-BASED SELECTIONS 

CCDC – Information Technology Support Services RFP 

Desired Services: management and support of all aspects of the Agency’s IT needs. 

 July 7:   RFP issued to six pre-screened companies. 

 July 22:  Submission deadline. 

A committee will evaluate the proposals, interview the top-ranked companies and make a 

recommendation. The Executive Director will execute a one year contract with the preferred 

company with options to renew annually for four additional years. 

 

ParkBOI – Parking Operator RFQ/P 

Desired Services: complete parking operations for the Agency’s public parking garage system. 

 July 6:  RFQ/P issued.  

 July 20  Pre-submittal meeting (required). 

 August 3: Submission deadline 

A committee will evaluate the proposals, interview the top-ranked companies and make a 

recommendation.  This issue is then expected to be on the Board of Commissioner’s September 

Regular meeting agenda as an Action Item. 

 

CCDC – Front & Myrtle Couplet Alternatives Analysis RFP 

Desired Services: an assessment of existing conditions and an alternatives analysis of options 

that can address connectivity and multi-modal mobility while creating a calmer, more 

economically productive corridor that is better integrated into the busy downtown core. 

 July 6:   RFP issued. 

 August 3:  Submission deadline. 



12 
 

A committee will evaluate the proposals and make a recommendation.  This issue is then 

expected to be on the Board of Commissioner’s September Regular meeting agenda as an 

Action Item. 

 

Broad Street – LIV District Public Infrastructure Improvement Project 

Guho Corp. hired for Construction Manager / General Contractor (CM/GC) services.  

 Status:  CM services still active.  CM/GC Contract Amendment 1 executed for early 

procurement of geothermal pipes and fittings.  Bidding for all subcontractor work soon.   

 

OTHER CONTRACTS ACTIVITY 

Grove Plaza Construction – final execution and recording of the Restroom Easement given to 

the Agency by the Greater Boise Auditorium District. 

 

Grove Plaza Brick-by-Brick – Amendment to the Contract with Fund Raisers LTD to extend 

fundraising sales and engraved brick delivery schedules. 

 

Grove Plaza Original Bricks – Amendment to the Contract with Fund Raisers LTD to extend 

engraved brick delivery deadlines to conform with current construction schedules and for 

engraving section markers to facilitate brick tracking and locating.   

 

Parcel B – Task Order Amendment with Kimley-Horn and Associates for additional services 

related to the detailed review of the Parcel B garage plans for compliance with CCDC design 

standards and public parking requirements. 

 

ParkBOI Parking Operator RFQ/P – Task Order with Kimley-Horn and Associates to assist the 

Agency with updating and modifying the parking management contract to fit best practices in the 

industry.  The Task Order also includes as-needed assistance during the Parking Operator 

RFQ/P process. 

 

ParkBOI Parking Garage Efforts – Task Order with Glancey Rockwell & Associates to develop 

a uniform paint scheme for the lobbies and stairwells of all the Agency public parking garages to 

reflect the “ParkBOI” branding.  GRA will also produce plans and specifications for bidding 

purposes. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

CENTRAL DISTRICT SUNSET WORKING GROUP 
Meeting 3 

2:00 p.m., Monday, June 27, 2016   CCDC Board Room 

MINUTES 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Executive Director Brunelle convened the meeting at 2:06 a.m. with CCDC Board and 
Working Group Chairman John Hale, CCDC Commissioner / Boise City Councilor / 
Idaho State Senator Maryanne Jordan, Counsel Ryan Armbruster, Development Director 
Todd Bunderson and Finance Director Ross Borden present.  Jade Riley, City of Boise, 
absent.  

2. WELCOME NEW MEMBER 
Executive Director Brunelle welcomed Commissioner / Councilor / State Senator Jordan 
to the Working Group.  Commissioner Jordan fills the vacancy left by former 
Commissioner and city Councilor David Eberle.   

3. REVIEW OF ISSUES FROM MEETINGS 1 & 2 
Finance Director Borden reviewed the meeting materials: 1. Meeting 2 Minutes; 2. 
Central District map; 3. Sunset Timeline; 4. Issues Compendium; 5. Estimate of Tax 
Increment Revenue to Taxing Districts after Sunset; 6. Operating Revenues and 
Expenses by Parking Garage; 7. Parking Operations – Net Income Report.  Chairman 
Hale, Executive Director Brunelle, Counsel Armbruster and Development Director 
Bunderson also contributed insights and responded to ensuing questions.   

4. OWNERSHIP OF CENTRAL DISTRICT ASSETS 
Executive Director Brunelle introduced and led the discussion of post-sunset ownership 
of Central District assets.  While no formal decisions or action have yet been taken or 
made, it was agreed that the going-forward assumption is that the city is inclined to 
assume ownership of CCDC-owned 8th Street from Bannock to Main and the Grove 
Plaza including the north, west and south spokes after the district’s termination.  

5. PARKING GARAGES: NET INCOME REPORT 
Chairman Hale commissioned staff to produce the report to include all revenues and 
expenses – operating and non-operating including debt service – to paint a complete 
and accurate financial picture of parking garage ownership.  

6. CITY TOPICS 
Commissioner / Councilor / State Senator Jordan addressed city topics and will convey 
Central District sunset and Working Group issues to city hall.   

7. NEXT MEETING 
It was agreed that the next meeting is best held after the Agency and city have set their 
FY 2017 budgets, or sometime after August.  

8. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 3: 11 p.m.  



13 
 

 

5th & Broad Garage – Task Order with The Parking Consultants to obtain and implement 

parking access and revenue control equipment for the parking garage integral to the under-

construction Fowler apartment building at 5th and Broad streets.  Task Order also includes 

additional consulting services as needed. 

 

10th & Front St Garage – Task Order with KPFF to investigate the concrete spalling in the 

Agency’s public parking garages and work with appropriate entities for warranty repair work.  

The Task Order also includes work to develop plans and specifications for addition repair work. 

 

Utilities Improvements – Agreement with Idaho Power for design and engineering services to 

underground utilities in the alley between Main and Idaho Streets, from 3rd to 5th streets. 

 

Participation Agreements – Facilitated final contracting procedures for The Fowler and 

Clairvoyant Brewing, including resolutions. 

 

Tree Care – Task Order with ProCare Landscape for tree removal and replacement and minor 

brick work in the area of 9th and Front Streets.  

 

Sidewalks and Bricks – Task Order with Capitol Landscape for sidewalk maintenance and 

brick repair work at various locations in Central, River Myrtle, and Westside districts. 

 

Furnishings Maintenance – Work Request with Valley Landscaping to repair and repaint 

benches in Central, River Myrtle, and Westside districts. 

 

Agency Good Will:  Provide copies of the Agency’s CM/GC documents to interested parties at 

CH2M Hill.  Also shared a worker’s compensation waiver, created in-house, with procurement 

professionals at Ada County. 

 



Page 1 
 

 

 

AGENDA BILL 

 

Agenda Subject: 
Parking Structure Design Guidelines Update 

Date: 
July 18, 2016 
 

Staff Contact: 
Max Clark, Parking & Facilities 
Director 
 

Attachments: 
Draft Parking Structure Design Guidelines Update 
 

Action Requested: 
No action required at this time.  Please review draft guidelines for adoption at the August 8th 
Board meeting.     
 

 
Fiscal Notes: 
There is no direct fiscal impact for this measure.  Eventually, if adopted, these standards will 
help assure that agency parking facilities will be constructed to the highest industry standards, 
which will endure highly functional and more user friendly facilities.  It may also mean higher 
initial cash outlay, with longer term financial savings/returns.   
 
Background: 
CCDC first authorized this document in 2008.  Its creation was partially in reaction to a garage 
built for us in 2006 that had some issues with space size and turning radii.  We were anxious 
not to repeat that situation.  The concepts presented in these guidelines will help produce 
functional, well-designed and patron friendly parking structures that will become valued 
infrastructure elements for the downtown. The concepts are presented so that common design 
mistakes can be avoided by being addressed early in the design process.  
 
This document is an update to the original design guidelines document with the specific goal of 
incorporating recent advances in the area of sustainable design standards, operations and 
management strategies. This addition nicely complements the recent Parking Strategic Plan 
recommendations that put a greater emphasis on mobility management strategies, whereby 
garages are expected to begin functioning as hubs for alternative transportation modes.   
 
Since 2006 there have been no garages constructed by/for the agency, but there currently is 
one underway and firm plans of additional parking structures.    
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Please review this document with an eye towards adoption at your August 8th meeting.   
 

Suggested Motion: 
NA 

 



 

DRAFT  
May 2016 



 

P a g e  | i 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction................................................. 1 

2. Project Delivery............................................ 2 

3. Sustainable Design & Accreditation......... 7 

4. Site Requirements....................................... 9 

5. Site Constraints............................................ 10 

6. Concept Design........................................... 11 

7. Circulation and Ramping........................... 13 

8. One-Way vs. Two-Way Traffic..................... 15 

9. Other Circulation Systems........................... 20 

10. Access Design.............................................. 22 

11. Parking Geometrics..................................... 23 

12. Parking Layout Dimensions......................... 25 

13. Parking Layout Efficiency............................ 27 

14. Pedestrian Requirements............................ 28 

15. Accessible Parking Requirements.............. 29 

16. Safety and Security..................................... 31 

17. Lighting.......................................................... 32 

18. Signage and Wayfinding............................ 35 

19. Drainage...................................................... 40  

20. Open or Enclosed Parking Structure..........41 

21. Structural Systems........................................ 42 

22. Durability Design.......................................... 46 

23. Incorporating Other Land Uses.................. 47 

24. Other Considerations.................................. 49 

25. Sustainable Operations & Management   50 

26. Sustainable Ops & Mgmt. Checklist.......    51 

 

 

 

 Acknowledgement:  This document was originally created by Carl Walker, Inc. in 2008.  CCDC requested that Kimley-Horn 
update this document to incorporate changes in industry standards and practices especially in the areas of sustainable design 
best practices. 



 

P a g e  | 1 

1. Introduction 

This document was developed for the Capital City Development Corporation as 

a guide for future parking structure design in Downtown Boise. It contains 

information to help developers and designers incorporate parking structure 

components into proposed projects.  The concepts presented will help produce 

functional, well-designed and patron friendly parking structures that will become 

valued infrastructure elements for the Downtown.  The concepts are presented 

so that common design mistakes can be avoided by being addressed early in 

the design process.  The document should be periodically updated to reflect 

state-of-the-art parking design practices and principles.  

To support this point, this document is an update to the original design guidelines 

document with the specific goal of incorporating recent advances in the area 

of “sustainable operations and management strategies”.  This addition nicely 

complements the recent Parking Strategic Plan recommendations that puts a 

greater emphasis on mobility management strategies.  It includes the following 

categories: 

 
1. Introduction  

2. Project Delivery 

3. Sustainable Design & Accreditation 

4. Site Requirements 

5. Site Constraints 

6. Concept Design   

7. Circulation and Ramping 

8. One-way vs. Two-way Traffic 

9. Other Circulation Systems 

10. Access Design 

11. Parking Geometrics 

12. Parking Layout Efficiency 

13. Pedestrian Requirements 

14. Accessible Parking Requirements 

15. Safety and Security 

16. Lighting 

17. Signage and Wayfinding 

18. Drainage 

19. Open or Enclosed Parking Structures 

20. Structural Systems 

21. Durability Design 

22. Other Considerations 

23. Incorporating Other Land Uses 

24. Other Considerations 

25. Sustainable Operations & Mgmt. 

26. Sustainable Ops & Mgmt. Checklist

 

In any future parking development project it is highly recommended that qualified 

parking structure design specialty firm be engaged in the project due to the unique 

characteristics and design expertise required to develop a successful project.  



 

P a g e  | 2 

2. Project Delivery 

There are four primary project delivery methods commonly used to design and 

construct parking structures.  Two Design Professional’s Handbooks titled the 

Design-Build Project Delivery and the Design/Contract-Build Project Delivery, 

published by the American Council of Engineering Companies (ACEC), are helpful 

references.  

Each method is described on the following pages, along with a graphical 

depiction of the contractual relationships for each: 

1. Design-Bid-Build (D-B-B) projects are those where the owner selects and 

contracts with the lead designer (Parking Consultant or 

Architect/Engineer). They in turn represent the owner in defining the 

project and preparing drawings and specifications to meet the owner’s 

needs for competitive bidding to contractors.  Often on public projects 

the owner is required to select the lowest “responsive and responsible” 

bid, with the contractors’ qualifications often not given consideration.  

The D-B-B method is sometimes referred to as the “traditional” process 

and is still the most common method.  

 

2. Construction Manager - Design-Bid-Build (CM D-B-B) is where the owner 

selects and contracts with the A/E who represents the owner in defining 

the project and preparing drawings and specifications to meet the 

owner’s needs for bidding.  However, the owner also retains a 

construction manager (CM) who works with the A/E during the design 

phases, sets the project schedule, and performs construction cost 

estimates.  The CM bids the work to subcontractors for the various trades.  

This is a better method than D-B-B for projects where the owner wants fast 

track or phased construction. 

 



 

P a g e  | 3 

3. Design-Build (D-B) are cases where the owner retains a D-B contractor 

who in turn retains the A/E so there is a single entity responsible for both 

design and construction.  Often the owner prepares or retains another 

A/E to prepare design build criteria documents as described below.  

Often, the owner can select the D-B team based on qualifications and 

cost, consistent with the bidding documents.  There has been more 

interest in D-B type projects recently because of owners who perceive 

benefits regarding cost, schedule, and risk management. 

 

  

4. Design-Contract-Build (D-C-B) are projects where the owner selects and 

contracts with the A/E. The A/E prepares preliminary documents that are 

the basis for the owner contracting with the contractor early in the 

design process, rather than waiting for final design documents to be 

prepared as for D-B-B.  This method combines the advantages of the D-B-

B and D-B methods while reducing many disadvantages to allow the 

owner to have the most qualified A/E and contractor involved in their 

project from the design phase through the completion of construction. 

 

 

* 

*: Optional but recommended; A/E 

prepares design build criteria documents 

that are basis for contract with 

contractor. 



 

P a g e  | 4 

In recent years there has been an increasing interest and use of Design-Build in the 

construction of parking structures.  Legislation has been enacted in many states to 

allow D-B to be used by public entities because prior laws required publicly funded 

construction contracts to be awarded based upon completed design documents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advantages of Design Build:  

 
 Owner has a single point of responsibility for design 

and construction. 

 Potential for better design and construction 

coordination because the A/E is working for the 

contractor. 

 Owner does not have to arbitrate disputes between 

the A/E and contractor. 

 Owner reduces their risk because the D/B contractor 

is responsible for errors or omissions in the design 

documents. 

 Could be less administrative burden on the owner. 

 Potential for accelerated schedule because the 

contractor is onboard at the beginning and because 

of the overlapping of design and construction work. 

 Potential for lower costs due to the contractor being 

in greater control of the project and due to the 

accelerated schedule. 

 Costs are well defined earlier in the process 

 
 

 

Disadvantages of Design Build: 

 
 The D-B contractor has the incentive to complete 

projects faster and less expensively which can mean 

reduced quality of materials and workmanship. 

 The owner has less involvement and control of the 

design because the A/E represents the D-B 

contractor’s best interests, not the owner’s.  Not only 

is this a disadvantage for the owner, but it creates a 

difficult conflict of interest for the A/E. 

 The owner does not benefit from independent 

advice and input from the A/E and contractor. 

 Greater definition of the project is required up front 

to define goals, objectives, and minimum 

requirements for project function, appearance, 

quality, materials, operation, etc. prior to bidding to 

D-B teams. 

 More risk for D-B teams, which can negate the 

potential cost saving opportunities. 

 
 

 



 

P a g e  | 5 

When owners decide that D-B is right for their project, they can have a better 

chance of achieving a successful project utilizing the following procedures. 

 
 Recommendations Regarding the Design-Build Delivery Method: 

 

1. The owner should retain an A/E at project initiation to prepare the D-B 

criteria documents.  This allows the owner to have more input into the 

concept design and set standards and criteria for the project.  Also, due 

to the uniqueness of parking structures, it is important to have the A/E led 

by a parking consultant or for a parking consultant to have a significant 

role on the design team.     

2. D-B criteria documents should clearly define the project scope, function, 

appearance, quality, materials, and operations.  The level of 

completeness of these documents varies, but generally they are in the 10 

to 30 percent range (between Schematic Design and Design 

Development level of completeness). 

 

3. The owner should use a very transparent selection process to hire the D-B 

contractor, using the D-B criteria documents as the basis of the Request 

for Qualifications/Proposals (RFQ/RFP). 

 

4. The selection process should consider the D-B teams’ technical 

qualifications and experience in addition to cost.  Typically there is a 

weighting of selection criteria such as the experience and expertise of 

the firms and key personnel making up the team, experience of the team 

working together, technical merits of design, project appearance, 

quality and safety programs of the contractor, references, schedule, and 

cost.  The selection criteria and weighting should be defined in the 

RFQ/RFP.  

5. The owner’s A/E who prepared the D-B criteria documents should 

continue on during the final design and construction to represent the 

owner’s interest and help assure that the design and construction are 

completed in conformance with the D-B criteria documents. 

 

Parking structure built for 

Baylor University using the 

Design-Build delivery method  



 

P a g e  | 6 

As an alternative to using the D-B method, the D-C-B or CM methods can often 

result in a project that meets the owner’s best interests because: 

 

o The A/E contracts to the owner, thus representing their interests, not the 

contractors, which should enhance quality 

o Design decisions can more easily be made that are in the best long-term 

interest of the owner, considering factors that will provide the lowest life 

cycle maintenance or operational cost, rather than emphasizing those 

that just provide the lowest first cost or schedule advantage 

o The CM or contractor is onboard early in the design process so the A/E 

and contractor collaborate during design, enhancing innovation and 

opportunities to consider the contractor’s cost saving ideas 

o Similar schedule and cost advantages compared to D-B. 

o Less risk for all parties as responsibilities can be allocated where they most 

belong 

 

Successful parking structure projects have been completed using all four of the 

construction methods discussed above.  Understanding the advantages and 

disadvantages of each and following a process to address them will help assure 

that the completed project is a success for the user, owner, community, designer 

and builder. 
 



 

P a g e  | 7 

3. Sustainable Design and Accreditation  

While it is possible for parking structures to achieve certification, typically only 

occupied buildings receive certification for their sustainable design through the U.S. 

Green Building Councils (USGBC) Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 

(LEED) accreditation program.  However, parking structures that are part of a 

mixed use project can help attain LEED points for the entire building project.  The 

fact that stand-alone parking structures are generally not eligible for LEED 

certification should not discourage including sustainable design elements in parking 

structures.   

Note: The Green Parking Council was recently acquired by the Green Building 

Certification, Inc. (GBCI), the certification body for US Green Building Council’s 

(USGBC) global LEED green building rating system, which will now administer the 

Green Garage Certification Program.  

Examples of sustainable design features for parking structures include: 

 Sustainable Site Development 

o Green roofs 

o Solar panel sunshades on the top levels 

o Alternative transportation accommodations 

 Water Savings 

o Water-efficient landscaping 

o Irrigation using non-potable water 

o Innovative technologies for water retention/detention 

 Energy Efficiency 

o Energy efficient light sources such as natural lighting, fluorescent, 

induction, and light emitting diodes (LED) 

o Photovoltaic solar panels 

o Computerized lighting controls and voltage reduction 



 

P a g e  | 8 

Materials and Resources Selection 

o Reuse of existing facades or shell 

o Use of recycled materials such as silica fume, fly ash, and steel 

o Carbon fiber reinforcement 

o Thin brick façade panels 

o Recycled rubber 

 Indoor Environmental Quality 

o Low VOC products (e.g., paint, sealers and coatings) 

o CO monitoring and venting 

o Maximum natural ventilation and lighting (e.g., interior light wells) 

o Sustainable cleaning products 

 Innovation and Design Process 

o Multi-modal facilities 

o Automated parking facilities on smaller site footprints 

o Designs for 75-100 year life 

o Bicycle storage lockers 

 



 

P a g e  | 9 

4. Site Requirements 

Large and rectangular shaped sites are ideal for parking structures.  Although flat 

sites are generally more economical to develop, sloped sites can provide design 

opportunities such as access on different levels and/or no ramping between levels.  

For a reasonably efficient parking layout, double-loaded parking “bays” range in 

width from about 54 to 60 feet, depending upon the angle of parking and the 

width of the parking space.  The overall width of the structure should be 

determined based upon multiples of the chosen parking bay width.  An ideal 

length for a parking structure is at least 240 feet.  Longer sites provide the 

opportunity to park along the end bays, which provides more parking spaces, 

improves efficiency, and lowers the cost per space.  A longer site also allows for 

shallower ramps which provide improved user comfort.  

 

Generally, parking bays should be oriented parallel to the longer dimension of the 

site and preferably in the predominate direction of pedestrian travel.  Walking 

distance tolerances from parking to a primary destination are typically 200 to 300 

feet for shoppers, 500 to 800 feet for downtown employees, and 1,500 to 2,000 feet 

for special event patrons and students. 

 

Parking 

Bays 

End Bay 

Parking 



 

P a g e  | 10 

5. Site Constraints 

 

Other site issues to be considered when evaluating a potential site for a suitable 

parking facility include the following:  

 

o Site Survey – a topographic survey of the site is a very important precursor 

to develop a conceptual plan.  The site survey should delineate property 

lines, easements, and utility lines. 

 

o Site Slope – The topographic information will define the slope of the site.  

Sometimes the slope of a site can used to reduce internal ramping in a 

parking structure, resulting in significantly lower costs.  A parking structure 

that is built into a hillside can also reduce the visual mass of the facility. 

 

o Geotechnical & Soils – Obtaining a soils report with sample borings and a 

geotechnical analysis early in the design process is prudent.  If soils with 

poor bearing capacity are present on the site, the added cost for 

structural foundations can be significant.  

 

o Codes and Ordinances – Municipal ordinances often specify setbacks, 

building height and bulk limitations, floor area ratio to site area, etc. than 

can significantly affect the allowable area on a site for a parking 

structure.  The local planning organization may also impose development 

guidelines that must be followed. 



 

P a g e  | 11 

6. Concept Design 

Much of the remainder of these guidelines addresses issues and elements of 

parking structures that should be considerations during the conceptual design 

phase. 

Parking Structures for People 

An overall design principal to keep in mind is that parking structures are for people.  

Designing to accommodate the users of a particular structure will help produce a 

better parking structure. 

 Different user types will have different needs.  

 Some user types may need to be physically separated to ensure revenue 

control or for security reasons. 

 Different users require different pedestrian circulation systems. 

 Parking space widths and circulation geometry needs vary depending on 

the user type. 

 Some vehicular circulation system are better for specific user types: 

o Residential – Regular users enter and exit two times a day. 

o Education – May have peak loads in and out. 

o Hotel – Overnight guests, maybe event parking too. 

o Office – Low turnover.  Regular users enter and exit two times a day. 

o Health Care Visitors –Wayfinding very important.  Need to 

accommodate elderly drivers and passengers. 

o Health Care Staff – Shift time overlap and loading.  Security issues, 

particularly at night. 

o Retail – High turnover.  Occasional users - wayfinding to and from 

vehicle. 

o Elderly or Families with Small Children – Wayfinding again important.  

May need larger spaces and more elevators. 



 

P a g e  | 12 

o Events – Easy quick loading and unloading of structure.  Multiple 

vehicular paths.  Consider revenue collection methods, typically a flat 

fee on entry.  Provide queuing space.  Consider pedestrian flow to 

event - avoid crossing traffic. 

o Multiuse Garages – These guidelines focus on parking garage design 

for downtown Boise.  Most of the garages in downtown will serve at 

least two user groups – short-term and long-term parkers – and may 

serve many other user groups.  This is due to the fact that future 

garages will be located in activity centers that include office, 

entertainment, special event, restaurants, retail, lodging, and 

residential land uses – all of which have different parking 

characteristics.  Attention should be given to creating entry, exit, and 

circulation designs that are flexible and adaptable to particular 

situations.  Dual exit lanes that allow parkers with passes to exit quickly 

without having to wait in line with parkers who are paying should be 

considered to lower frustration levels for customers. 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 13 

7. Circulation and Ramping 

The basic circulation element for a parking structure is the continuous ramp with 

parking on both sides of the drive aisle. In continuous ramp structures, some of the 

parking floors are sloped in order for traffic to circulate from one level to another. 

Only on a sloping site that permits direct access to each level from the exterior 

roadways are ramps unnecessary; but they still may be desirable for internal 

circulation. 

 

The basic criteria for choosing a circulation system are the simplicity or complexity 

of the system and the architectural compatibility. Ingress and egress capacities are 

also a consideration in the selection of a circulation system. Some circulation 

systems provide the opportunity for level façades which may be desirable. 
 

A parking ramp slope of 5% or less is preferred, although parking ramp slopes up to 

7% are tolerated by the public in very dense urban areas.  Parking ramp slopes 

should not exceed a 6.67% slope, which is the maximum parking slope permitted in 

the International Building Code (IBC).  The acceptable ramp slope must also 

conform to the current Boise City Building Code. 

 



 

P a g e  | 14 

 

Non-parking ramps are often employed at airports, casinos, large 

retail structures, for special event structures, and on small and 

irregularly shaped sites.  Non-parking ramps consist of circular 

helixes (most common), express ramps (external), and speed 

ramps (internal).    Non-parking ramp slopes should have a 

maximum slope in the 12% to 14% range.  Non-parking ramp 

slopes up to 20% are sometimes considered if covered or 

equipped with snow melt systems.  

 

Parking structures with non-parking ramps tend to be less efficient 

in terms of square feet of structure per parking space which 

directly increases the construction cost per parking space. 

 

A grade difference of 8% or more requires transition slopes so 

vehicles do not bottom out.  Recommended are minimum 10’-0” 

transition slopes at the top and bottom of the ramp that are one-

half of the differential slope.  For instance, two 10’-0” transition 

ramps sloped at 6.25% would be required at the bottom and the 

top of a ramp sloped at 12.5%.  



 

P a g e  | 15 

 

8. One-Way vs. Two-Way Traffic 

One of the primary factors in the design of parking structure is determining the 

traffic flow: one-way or two-way.  Typically, a parking bay for a one-way traffic flow 

is narrower than for a two-way flow.  The available site dimensions will influence the 

parking bay width and thus also influence the circulation pattern.  There are 

advantages and disadvantages to both circulation patterns.    One-way traffic flow 

should never be combined with 90° parking.  In parking facilities with one-way 

traffic flow, the angle of the parking stalls establishes the direction of vehicle traffic. 

   

 Advantages of One-Way Traffic Flow: 
 

 Easier for parkers to enter/exit parking spaces. 

 

 Vehicles are more likely to be centered in angled 

spaces. 

 

 Less circulation conflict and reduced potential for 

accidents. 

 

 Better visibility when backing out of a stall. 

 

 Separation of inbound and outbound traffic and 

improved flow capacity of the circulation system. 

 

 The intended traffic flow is self-enforcing. 
 

 One-way traffic allows the angle of parking to be 

changed to accommodate changes in vehicle 

sizes. 
 

 

 

Advantages of Two-Way Traffic Flow: 
 

 Wider drive aisles allow parkers to pass other 

vehicles. 

 

 Wider drive aisles are safer for pedestrians. 

 

 Better angle of visibility when searching for a 

parking space. 

 

 Traffic flow follows its own pattern rather than one 

that is forced. 

 

 Two-way traffic and 90 parking makes more 

efficient use of parking aisles (more spaces in a run). 

 

 Two-way parking facilities can essentially operate as 

one-way facilities when there is heavy directional 

traffic. 

 



 

P a g e  | 16 

Single Threaded Design 

 

In order to develop a reasonably efficient free-standing parking structure, the 

minimum dimensions needed are about 122 feet in width by 155 feet in 

length.  A width of 122 feet allows for a two-bay facility with two-way traffic 

flow and 90-degree parking.  A facility with two-way traffic and a five-foot rise 

along each bay requires approximately 155 feet in length for a minimum 

floor-to-floor height of about ten feet.  That is, one 360-degree turn within the 

facility equates to a vertical rise of ten feet.  A structure in this configuration 

has sloping floors along both façade sides.  However, sloping floors can make 

façade treatments challenging.   On larger sites that allow a structure length 

of about 255 feet, one bay can be sloped rising 10 feet with opposite façade 

having a “level” floor.   

 

Because of the number of 360º turns needed to ascend in a single threaded 

structure, the number of levels (floors) should preferably be limited to a 

maximum of six, otherwise the number of turns required and the number of 

spaces passed becomes inconvenient.  A structure with a two-bay single 

thread design has a capacity for a maximum of approximately 750 spaces.  

The isometric diagram to the right represents a two-bay single-threaded helix. 

 

Single Threaded Helix with Sloping Floors 



 

P a g e  | 17 

 

Principal Advantages of a Single-Threaded Helix:  

 

 Repetitive and easy to understand for users. 

 

 Potentially more flat-floor parking and level façade elements. 

 

 Better visibility across the structure, which enhances security. 

 

Principal Disadvantages of a Single-Threaded Helix: 

 

 More revolutions required going from bottom to top and top to 

bottom. 

 

 Two-way traffic bays have less flow capacity than one-way traffic 

bays.  Traffic in both directions is impeded by vehicles parking and 

vacating a space. 

 

Single Threaded Helix with One Level Bay 



 

P a g e  | 18 

Double Threaded Design 

 

A facility with a one-way circulation system and angled parking can be provided in 

a double-threaded helix with modules ranging from 54 to 58 feet in width, 

depending upon the angle of parking.  The preferred angles of parking for an 

efficient layout are 60°, 70° and 75°.  A double thread, which requires a ten-foot rise 

along each module, requires 240 feet in length.  More efficient layouts can be 

achieved on longer sites.  The isometric right represents a two-bay double-

threaded helix with one-way traffic.  
 

A double-threaded helix can work with either one-way or two-way traffic flow, 

although one-way traffic is more common.  A two-way double threaded design 

can be configured as two separate structures with no vehicular connection.  A 

double-threaded helix rises two levels with every 360 degrees of revolution, which 

allows for two intertwined “threads” and the opportunity to circulate to an 

available parking space without passing all parking spaces as inbound and 

outbound traffic can be separated.  Because of this, double-threaded helices are 

often recommended for larger facilities with seven or more levels.  A two-bay 

double thread has a functional system capacity for up to approximately 2,000 

spaces with angled parking and one-way traffic flow. 

One Way Double Threaded Design 



 

P a g e  | 19 

 Principal Advantages of a Double-Threaded Helix:  

 

 Efficient circulation and more traffic flow capacity 

 

 Pass fewer spaces both inbound and outbound. 

 

Principal Disadvantages of a Double-Threaded Helix: 

 

 Can be complex and confusing, particularly in finding one’s 

vehicle upon return to the parking facility. 

 

 Two-sloped bays and minimal flat-floor parking. 

 

 

 

 
  

Two Way Double Threaded Design 



 

P a g e  | 20 

9. Other Circulation Systems 

 

There are other parking and circulation systems that are often used in parking 

structures. 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

End-to-End Helix Both Bays Sloped End-to-End Helix One Bay Sloped 



 

P a g e  | 21 

Side-by-Side Helix Two-way Double Threaded w/ Flat Bays One-way Double Threaded w/ Flat Bays 



 

P a g e  | 22 

10. Access Design 

Vehicle entrances should be visible and easily identifiable.  The minimum distance 

of entry/exits from corner intersections is at least 75 to 100 feet (preferably 150 feet).  

Entrances and exits should have clear lines of sight.  It is preferable to enter a facility 

from a one-way street or by turning right from a two-way street and to exit a facility 

by turning right on a low-volume street.  High traffic volumes and left turns can slow 

exiting and cause internal traffic backups.  Consideration should be given to 

acceleration/deceleration lanes on busy streets.  Gates should be located far 

enough away from the street to allow at least one vehicle behind the vehicle in the 

service position (at a ticket dispenser, card reader or cashier booth) without 

blocking the sidewalk.  Entry/exit areas that have parking control equipment should 

have a maximum 3% slope. 

 

It is very important to provide the appropriate number of entry/exit lanes to meet 

projected peak traffic volumes.  The number of lanes is a function of user groups 

served, peak-hour traffic volumes, and service rates of the parking control 

equipment.  It is recommended to have a parking professional prepare a lane and 

queuing analysis to guarantee sufficient entry and exit capacities. 

 

Cross-traffic at entry/exits should be minimized and preferably eliminated. When 

placing vehicle entries and exits together on one-way streets it is preferable to 

avoid “English” traffic conditions where traffic keeps to the left instead of to the 

right.  Pedestrian/vehicular conflicts should be minimized by providing a pedestrian 

walkway adjacent to entry/exit lanes.  Stair/elevator towers should be located so 

pedestrians do not have to cross drive aisles on their way to primary destinations. 
 

Important Issues for Vehicle Entry and 

Exit Lanes: 

 

 The approach and the 

departure area from the lanes 

will also affect the rate of flow 

into or out of the structure.  

Tight turns equal a slower 

throughput. 

 Pedestrian safety at entry and 

exit portals is paramount.  

Consider the vision cone of 

drivers entering or exiting the 

facility. 

 Check and recheck vehicle 

turning radii at all entry / exit 

lanes and adjacent ramps. 

 Vehicle queuing analyses 

should be performed to ensure 

traffic does not back-up onto 

the exiting street system or the 

inside of the facility during peak 

periods of traffic flow. 

 



 

P a g e  | 23 

11. Parking Geometrics 

Parking geometrics refers to parking stall and drive aisle 

dimensions.  Parking dimensions have been developed to 

comfortably accommodate the composite design vehicle, 

which refers to the dimensions of the 85th percentile vehicle in 

the range of vehicles from smallest (zero percentile) to largest 

(100th percentile).  The composite design vehicle is the size of 

a Ford F150 truck (6’-7” x 17’-3”). 

 

The table on this page lists City of Boise parking geometrics by 

parking angle for standard and compact spaces. 
 

 



 

P a g e  | 24 

The city’s parking dimensions for standard spaces exceed industry standards.  The 

table on the following page lists parking geometrics by User Comfort Factor (UCF) 

which correlates with a Level of Service (LOS) approach.  Traffic engineers 

developed the LOS approach to classify traffic conditions on roadways from A (free 

flow) to F (gridlock).  The UCF/LOS approach has been adopted by many parking 

consultants to help classify conditions in parking facilities.  The recommended UCF 

categories for parking geometrics are as follows: 

 

UCF 4 = LOS A = Excellent 

UCF 3 = LOS B = Good 

UCF 2 = LOS C = Acceptable 

 

LOS criteria should be related to the needs and concerns of users.  Generally, users 

with low familiarity and high turnover should be accorded a higher UCF.  If the city’s 

parking standards are not used, we recommend minimum UCF 3 geometrics for 

moderate to high turnover parking (visitor, retail, etc.) and minimum UCF 2 

geometrics for low turnover parking (employee, commuter, resident, etc.). 

 

We recommend using “one-size-fits-all” parking spaces rather than segregating 

standard and small car spaces.  However, if they are used, small car spaces should 

not exceed 15% to 20% of the total capacity of a facility.  

 

Although parking garages can be made to custom designed to fit most sites of 

adequate size, in general, the minimum footprint dimensions for an “efficient 

parking garage” (in terms of square feet per stall)  is approximately 125’ x 300’.  A 

base parking stall dimension, for most uses should be approximately 9.0’ x18.0’. 



 

P a g e  | 25 

12. Parking Layout Dimensions 

 
 

MW 

AW VP 

WP 

W 

Stall Stall
Width Module Vehicle Aisle Width Module Vehicle Aisle 

Parking Projection Width (1) Projection Width Parking Projection Width (1) Projection Width
Angle (WP) (MW) (VP)  (AW) Angle (WP) (MW) (VP)  (AW)

w = 9’-0” w = 8’-6”

45 12'-9" 49'-10" 17'-7" 14'-8" 45 12'-0" 47'-10" 17'-7" 12'-8"
50 11'-9" 51'-7" 18'-2" 15'-3" 50 11'-1" 49'-7" 18'-2" 13'-3"
55 11'-0" 53'-0" 18'-8" 15'-8" 55 10'-5" 51'-0" 18'-8" 13'-8"
60 10'-5" 54'-6" 19'-0" 16'-6" 60 9'-10" 52'-6" 19'-0" 14'-6"
65 9'-11" 55'-9" 19'-2" 17'-5" 65 9'-5" 53'-9" 19'-2" 15'-5"
70 9'-7" 57'-0" 19'-3" 18'-6" 70 9'-1" 55'-0" 19'-3" 16'-6"
75 9'-4" 58'-0" 19'-1" 19'-10" 75 8'-10" 56'-0" 19'-1" 17'-10"
90 9'-0" 62'-0" 18'-0" 26'-0" 90 8'-6" 60'-0" 18'-0" 24'-0"

w = 8’-9”

45 12'-4" 48'-10" 17'-7" 13'-8"
50 11'-5" 50'-7" 18'-2" 14'-3"
55 10'-8" 52'-0" 18'-8" 14'-8"
60 10'-1" 53'-6" 19'-0" 15'-6"
65 9'-8" 54'-9" 19'-2" 16'-5"
70 9'-4" 56'-0" 19'-3" 17'-6"
75 9'-1" 57'-0" 19'-1" 18'-10"
90 8'-9" 61'-0" 18'-0" 25'-0"

Note: (1) Wall to wall, double loaded aisle.

PARKING LAYOUT DIMENSIONS

User Comfort Factor 4 User Comfort Factor 2

User Comfort Factor 3



 

P a g e  | 26 

 

   

Parking spaces adjacent to walls, columns, elevators, stairs, etc. should be 

widened, if possible, by one foot so that vehicle doors can be more easily opened. 

 

End bay drive aisles with two-way traffic should be a minimum of 26’ wide for 

improved turning maneuverability.  Wider end bay drive aisles are recommended 

for high turnover parking facilities.  If possible, it is also suggested for more 

comfortable turns to hold back the first stall on either side of the turning bay.  Small-

Car-Only (SCO) spaces are also recommended at the ends of interior parking rows.  

It is very difficult to make a turn around only one row of parking.  Refer to the 

following graphic. 

 

Double stripes for space striping are recommended as they help parkers center 

their vehicles between stripes, maximizing the space between vehicles (refer to the 

graphic below).  Also recommended is the use of traffic yellow paint for stall striping 

as yellow paint is more visible over time than white paint. 

 
 

 

 

 

9"

8'-6"
9" 9"

8'-6"

9"
9"

70°

9'-1" 9'-1" * 8'-6" 8'-6"

*

*

1'
-0

"



 

P a g e  | 27 

13. Parking Layout Efficiency 

Parking Efficiency is expressed in square feet of construction per parking space.  

Parking efficiency directly correlates with the construction cost per space.  Build less 

structure per space and the cost per space drops.  Non-parking speed ramps for 

example increase the square feet per space.  

Parking efficiency should be calculated considering the total parking structure size 

including the stairs and elevators and non-parking ramps.  Any retail space that is 

incorporated within the structure is also usually included in the calculation.  

Typical ranges of parking structure efficiencies are: 

 Short Span Structural System = 330 to 390 Square Feet per Space 

 Long Span Structural System = 300 to 340 Square Feet per Space 

 Mixed Use Developments with retail, residential and parking can be as high 

as 400+ square feet per space 

 

PARKING EFFICIENCY MAKES A BIG DIFFERENCE – EXAMPLE 

 360 sf / space X 500 spaces X $45 / sf = $8,100,000 

 330 sf / space X 500 spaces X $45 / sf = $7,425,000 

A difference of $675,000 or $1,350 per space! 

 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 28 

14. Pedestrian Requirements 

Pedestrian traffic is equally as important in a parking structure as vehicle traffic.  A 

safe, secure and well signed pedestrian path must be provided.  Pedestrian access 

at the grade level should be separated from vehicular ingress and egress.  

Pedestrian access is usually adjacent to stair/elevator towers.  It is also desirable to 

place a dedicated pedestrian aisle adjacent to a vehicle entry/exit because 

pedestrians are naturally attracted to these openings.  Maximum lines of sight for 

both pedestrians and vehicles should be provided, and mirrors and warning 

devices should be incorporated when necessary.  Access locations should be 

restricted to a few locations for security reasons.   

 

A minimum of two stairs are required to meet code-required means of egress for fire 

exits in parking structures.  Stairs shall be open or glass enclosed and be visible to 

the street for security reasons.  The minimum stair width in parking structures is 44” 

and wider stairs are required for special events.  Travel distance between exit stairs 

is specified in the IBC and is a maximum 300 feet without a sprinkler system and 400 

feet with a sprinkler system.  Stairs are usually placed in dead corners. 

 

Elevators should be located at terminus in the direction of pedestrian travel.  

Hydraulic elevators can be used for up to 5 levels or 50’ to 60’.  Traction elevators 

should be used beyond 5 levels.  The minimum capacity and size is 3,500 lbs. and 

5’-0” x 7’-0”.  The number of elevators is based on the number of spaces, the 

number of levels, user group(s) served, peak-hour flow rates, and the size and 

capacity of the elevator.  A parking consultant can provide a preliminary 

indication of the number of elevators based on a formula that takes into account 

the information presented above.  We highly recommend that elevators have glass 

backs for security reasons.  Enclosed lobbies are recommended for protection from 

the elements on the top level. 



 

P a g e  | 29 

Total Minimum
Spaces Accessible

in Facility Spaces
1 to 25 1
26 to 50 2
51 to 75 3

76 to 100 4
101 to 150 5
151 to 200 6
201 to 300 7
301 to 400 8
401 to 500 9

501 to 1,000 2% of total
1,001 and over 20 plus 1 for each 

100 over 1,000

Required Accessible Spaces

15. Accessible Parking Requirements 

The following table presents the required number of accessible parking spaces 

based on the total number of spaces provided in any given facility.   

 

The accessible parking requirement for an institution like a hospital campus is not 

based on the total parking capacity but rather on the capacities of the individual 

facilities within a parking system, which always results in the provision of more 

accessible spaces overall.  Accessible spaces for the institution do not have to be 

provided in each parking area, but can be supplied at a different location 

provided at least equivalent accessibility in terms of distance, cost, and 

convenience is provided.   
 

All accessible spaces are 8’ wide with either a 5’ or 8’ access aisle.  An accessible 

space and access aisle cannot be placed at a location with a running or cross 

slope greater than 1:50 (2%). 

 

The current 1 to 8 ratio for the provision of van accessible spaces is changing to 1 to 

6, and it is required to round up to the nearest whole number when determining the 

number of van spaces.  The barrier free section of the International Building Code 

(IBC) has the same requirement.  It is recommended to use the new 1 to 6 ratio 

when determining the number of van spaces.  Van accessible spaces require 

minimum 8’-2” vertical clearance and have 8’-0” wide access aisles. 

 

Each accessible space must have a sign showing the international symbol of 

accessibility mounted at least five feet above the pavement.  All van accessible 

spaces must have an additional “Van Accessible” sign mounted below the symbol 

of accessibility (mount minimum of 5’ above pavement with other sign above). 

ADA requires rounding up to the next whole number when calculating the required 

number of spaces based on a percentage or ratio.  For example, a parking facility 

with 810 spaces will have 17 accessible spaces (810 x .02 = 16.2 = 17 spaces), and 3 

spaces will have to be van accessible (17 ÷ 6 = 2.833 = 3). 

 



 

P a g e  | 30 

Accessible stalls cannot share access aisles when the parking is angled.  Access 

aisles for van spaces must be on the passenger side when the parking is angled 

because vehicles cannot back into these spaces. 

 

All accessible spaces must have an accessible route to public streets or sidewalks, 

accessible elevators, or accessible building entrances.  An accessible route must 

have a minimum unobstructed width of 3’.  A vehicle way (drive aisle) may be part 

of an accessible route, although it is preferred to place the accessible route at the 

front of the stalls.  An accessible route can only pass behind other accessible 

spaces.  It is permitted to cross a vehicle way with an accessible route.  Automatic 

or push button door opening devices will be needed if the accessible path includes 

doors that patrons will need to enter/exit. 

 

The running slope along an accessible route cannot exceed 1:20 (5%) and the 

cross slope cannot exceed 1:50 (2%). 

 

It is recommended to cross hatch all access aisles and accessible routes. 

 

Ultimately, accessible parking must be provided as required by existing city building 

and zoning codes.  However, it is recommended that the standard ADA 

requirements detailed in this section be used if they exceed existing city 

requirements. 
 

 



 

P a g e  | 31 

16. Safety and Security 

Because curbs can be a potential tripping hazard, curbs in all pedestrian areas (at 

the end of parking rows, around stairs and elevators, dead corners, etc.) are 

strongly discouraged.  The faces and edge of curbs that remain should be painted 

traffic yellow to enhance visibility. 

 

Glass-backed elevators and glass enclosed and/or open stairways, visible to the 

adjacent street, are highly recommended for enhanced security.  Security fencing 

should be installed below stairwells to eliminate the possibility of a person hiding 

under the stairs. 

 

Lighting that enables users to see and be seen is one of the most important security 

features of a parking structure.  A separate discussion on lighting is included in 

these guidelines. 

 

Other important aspects of security design: 

 

 Short span construction is not recommended.  In short span construction, 

the columns are placed more closely together; thereby adding 

additional obstructions to lines of sight. 

 Security fencing at the ground level should not be climbable.  Security 

fencing ensures pedestrians enter/exit the facility only at designated 

pedestrian points. 

 Landscaping should not provide hiding places. 

 Security cameras are a deterrent to criminal activity. 

 Panic alarms and two-way communication systems are recommended in 

prominent locations on each level.   

    

In general, assure that as much openness as possible is provided in the design to 

improve sight lines, eliminate hiding places, and enhance perceived security. 



 

P a g e  | 32 

Minimum Minimum Maximum
Horizontal Vertical to

Illuminance Illuminance Minimum
on Floor at 5 feet Uniformity

Footcandles Footcandles Ratio

General Parking & Pedestrian 2 1 10:1

Ramps and Corners
Days 2 1 10:1
Nights 1 0.5 10:1

Entrance Areas
Days 50 25 10:1
Nights 1 0.5 10:1

Stairways 7 10:1

Areas

Recommended Parking Structure Lighting Standards

avg.

17. Lighting 

 

 Key Security Measure 

 Enhances User Comfort & Perception of Safety 

 Business Attraction Amenity 

 Permit Safe Movement for Pedestrians and Vehicles 

 Enhances Signage Visibility 

 Typically Light Levels Are Not Code Regulated 

o Except Emergency Lighting @ 1 footcandles Minimum 

 Industry Standards 

o Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IESNA) 

o They Publish Minimum Standards 

o Liability Risk for Non-Compliance 

 

The recommended lighting 

standards listed in the table to 

the right, slightly exceed the 

Illuminating Engineering Society 

of North America (IES) lighting 

standards for parking facilities. 

Staining the ceilings white to 

enhance light levels is 

suggested. 

 

 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 33 

Lighting Entry and Exit Lanes 

 

 Provide Additional Lighting (50 fc) for 10’- 60’ Zone From Building Edge 

(Transitional lighting) 

 Include Daylight Infiltration ( > 15 fc) 

 Typically 10’ X 10’ Spacing of 150 W Fixtures 

 Turn 2/3 of Fixtures Off @ Night 

 

Light Source Types 

 

 High Pressure Sodium 

• Golden White HPS Light 

Color 

• Common Parking 

Structure Lighting 

• Lamp Life = 24,000-

28,500 Hours 

 

 Metal Halide 

• White Light Color 

• Perceived Greater 

Brightness 

• Lamp Life = 15,000 

Hours 

• Operating Cost Slightly 

> HPS 

 

 Light Emitting Diode (LED) 

• Emerging Technology 

• Energy Efficient 

• Long Life 

 Fluorescent  

• White Light Color 

• New Technology – Use 

in Cold Climates 

• Cold Weather 

Ballast (If Temps 

< 50º F) 

• Phosphor 

Coating 

• Sealed Fixtures 

• Lamp Life = 30,000 

Hours 

• Energy Cost Effective 

 

 Induction Lighting 

• White Light – Best color 

rendition 

• Instant Ignition Long 

Life Bulbs = 100,000 

Hours 

• Energy Efficient 

• High Initial Costs 

 



 

P a g e  | 34 

Lighting Expense Reduction Strategies 

We recommend that the exterior bay lighting of “open” parking structures as 

well as roof top lighting be on separate circuits so that these lights can be turned 

off during the day to reduce energy consumption/costs as depicted in the lower 

picture on the right. 

 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 35 

18. Signage and Wayfinding 

 

Parking facilities can be very large, complex, and confusing.  A well-designed 

graphics and signage system will effectively communicate necessary information 

to patrons, reduce confusion, improve safety, and enhance the overall user 

experience. 

 

Sign messages should be simple and succinct.  Messages on signs that are to be 

read quickly, such as vehicular signs, should be no more than 30 characters and 

six words in length. The typeface used should be simple and easy to read, and 

there is a general preference for Helvetica medium in the parking industry.  Signs 

with lower case letters and initial caps are most easily read.  The simple block 

arrow is recommended for parking signs.  If a left turn is required, the arrow 

should be placed on the left side of the sign.  The opposite is true for a right turn.   

 

In parking structures, signs with a dark background and white letters are more 

easily read than signs with a white background and dark letters.  The opposite is 

true in surface lots, where signs with white background and dark letters are 

better.   

 

Vehicle Signs 

Examples of vehicular signs include “Park” and “Exit” directional signs. Vehicular 

signs are ten or twelve inches in height with six or seven inch letters.  Ten-inch 

signs are recommended for precast structures where sign visibility can be a 

problem. Vehicular signs should be centered over the drive lane or centered 

over the drive aisle when signs are mounted back-to-back.   

 



 

P a g e  | 36 

Pedestrian Signs 

Examples of pedestrian signs include “Level #,” “Remember Level #,” “Row 

#,”and “Stair” and “Elevator” identification and directional signs.  Pedestrian 

signs can be all one color or be color-coded by level.  Pedestrian signs should be 

clearly distinguishable from vehicle signs so as not to interfere with vehicular 

traffic.  Pedestrian signs in parking bays are most effective if located 

perpendicular to traffic flow, and they should be placed at the rear of parking 

stalls. Color-coding is often used to help patrons find their vehicles.  It is not 

necessary to provide color-coding in parking facilities that are three levels or less.  

When color coding, it is recommended to use primary and secondary colors 

including red, blue, yellow, orange, purple, and green.  If there are more than six 

levels that need to be color-coded, it is recommended to use white, brown, and 

black.  Confusing colors such as turquoise (blue or green?) and taupe (brown, 

tan, or gray?) should be avoided.   

 

The elevator core area provides an excellent location to utilize super graphics. 

Super graphics is defined as a graphic that covers a large area and is generally 

painted on a vertical surface, such as painted walls or elevator doors, with level 

designation incorporated. 

 

Once colors have been determined, the color coding must appear on each 

parking floor (e.g., on columns and walls) and adjacent to elevator lobbies and 

stairwells – as well as inside elevators. 

 



 

P a g e  | 37 

Level Theming 

“Level Identification Theming” and other wayfinding aids 

provides an opportunity to enhance parking interior 

environment enhancement while also providing a practical 

tools to assist patrons in remembering where they parked.  

Several creative examples or illustrated below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 38 

Entry Signs 

Emphasizing the entrance to a parking facility is important.  Large illuminated 

signs are often used to emphasize the facility entry and attract patrons.  These 

signs often spell out “Parking” or use the International symbol for parking.  

Architectural features, such as an arch, canopy, or some different treatment of 

the façade, are often used to highlight the entry area as well.  A height 

clearance bar is required for all parking structures, including the top (surface) 

level of below-grade facilities to prohibit over-height vehicles.  Generally, the 

height clearance bar is located at the facility entrance(s).  There may be 

instances when the clear height in a parking structure changes from one level to 

another (for example, a higher ground level than typical level to accommodate 

ADA vans), which may require additional height clearance bars within the facility 

itself.  Generally, the height clearance bar is an eight-inch PVC pipe. 

 

Regulatory Signs 

Regulatory signs are often used in parking facilities.  Examples include 

“STOP,” “YIELD,” “ONE WAY,” “NO PARKING” “DO NOT ENTER,” and 

accessible parking signs.  When used it is imperative that they comply with 

local and federal requirements.  The Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 

Devices (MUTCD) provides examples of standard highway signs. 

 



 

P a g e  | 39 

Illuminated Signs 

Illuminated signs are becoming more and more common in parking facilities. 

Technology has advanced significantly in recent years and illuminated signs 

have become more reliable. Generally, illuminated signs are used for the 

following parking applications: 

 

 Entry and Exit Lanes (Open in green/Closed in red) 

 Facility Full Signs 

 Stop (red)/Go (green) 

 Level Space Capacity 

 Directional Control 

 Fee Display 

 Space Count Systems 

 Variable Message Signs 

 

Pavement Markings 

Pavement makings should conform to Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 

(MUTCD) or local standards.  MUTCD specifies that white paint be used for 

markings for traffic flow in the same direction and yellow paint used for traffic 

flow in opposite directions, which implies a warning.   

 

Pavement markings can be an effective way to direct and control traffic flow in 

a parking facility.  However, pavement markings must be re-applied due to wear 

and deterioration from vehicular traffic.  Pavement arrows may enhance traffic 

flow.  They are often utilized on surface lots or the top level of parking structures 

where overhead directional signage is not possible.  Traffic arrows are also 

commonly used in facilities with a combination of one-way and two-way traffic 

flow. 

 



 

P a g e  | 40 

19. Drainage 

 

Proper floor drainage is essential for all types of parking structures in all climates.  

While direct rain or snow may not enter all areas of the parking garage, 

windblown rain and snow and/or vehicles carrying ice, snow and water will 

distribute water throughout the facility.  Heavy rains will also overload top floor 

drains and water will run down the ramped floors to lower levels.  In addition, the 

frequent floor wash-downs (e.g., washing the parking surfaces/floors) that should 

be part of a good maintenance program are a source of water throughout the 

parking facility.  If the floor is not adequately sloped, water is allowed to pond 

and deterioration will accelerate beneath the ponds.  

 

A design slope of 2%, or ¼ inch per foot, is desired, with a minimum design slope 

of 1-½%.  Water should be drained away from exterior columns/walls and 

pedestrian paths.  Washes may be needed in slab corners to achieve drainage 

slopes. 

 

Floor drain locations are determined by the circulation system, number of bays, 

and structural system. The top level drain system should be designed to accept a 

10-year design rainfall or as required by local code.  Three to four inch piping is 

generally used on covered levels. 

    



 

P a g e  | 41 

20. Open or Enclosed Parking Structure 

Natural ventilation requires openings in exterior walls of sufficient size distributed 

in such a way that fresh air will enter the facility to disperse and displace 

contaminated air.  The 2003 and 2006 International Building Code (IBC) states:  

 

“For natural ventilation purposes, the exterior side of the structure shall have 

uniformly distributed openings on two or more sides.  The area of such 

openings in exterior walls on a tier must be at least 20 percent of the total 

perimeter wall area of each tier.  The aggregate length of the openings 

considered to be providing natural ventilation shall constitute a minimum of 

40 percent of the perimeter of the tier.  Interior walls shall be at least 20 

percent open with uniformly distributed openings.”   

 

“Exception:  Openings are not required to be distributed over 40 percent of 

the building perimeter where the required openings are uniformly distributed 

over two opposing sides of the building.”   

 

Setbacks can affect openness as firewalls are required if certain distance 

requirements from property lines and other buildings are not maintained.  Parking 

structures are typically classified as enclosed if other uses (retail, office, 

residential) are located above the parking,  but may remain open if parking is 

above or adjacent other uses.  When a parking structure is positioned below 

grade, areaways can be used to achieve natural ventilation.  The building code 

addresses the geometry required to permit acceptance of an areaway.  

 

Parking structures classified as “open” do not require mechanical ventilation, fire 

suppression (sprinklers), and enclosed stairs. 

   

“Enclosed” 

 “Open” structures are 
allowed much larger 
floor plates and many 
more levels 

 “Open” structures are 
naturally ventilated, so 
do not usually need 
mechanical ventilation 

  “Open” structures do 
not require stairs to be 
enclosed 

  “Open” structures allow 
a lot of natural light  

 

“Open” 

 Enclosed Shafts 
 Mechanical ventilation 
 Increased illumination 
 Increased fire rating 
 Fire sprinklers 



 

P a g e  | 42 

21. Structural Systems 

Following are the advantages and disadvantages of the three primary structural 

systems commonly used in parking structures today: 

 

 Cast-in-Place Concrete 

 Precast Concrete 

 Steel Framed 

 

The selection of the structural system should be given careful consideration.  The 

decision is often made based on the following: 

 

 Owner preference 

 

 Design team preference 

 

 Development Review Agency (or Agencies) input 

 

 Schedule 

 

 Construction budget 

 

 Openness and perceived headroom 

  

 Owner’s tolerance and budget for maintenance 

 

 Local availability of product and labor 

 



 

P a g e  | 43 

Cast-in-Place Concrete 

  Advantages of Cast-in-Place Construction: 

 Monolithic construction so fewer sealant joints 

 

 Positive drainage is easier to achieve 

 

 Post-Tensioning forces reduces slab cracking 

 

 Floor vibration imperceptible 

 

 Flexible column spacing (20’ to 27’) 

 

 Generally no shear walls 

 

 Lower maintenance cost 

 

 Wide beam spacing creates more open feeling 

with perception of higher ceiling 

 

 Accommodates parking structures on irregular 

sites, beneath buildings, and underground 

 

Disadvantages of Cast-in-Place Construction: 

 Potentially higher construction cost 

 

 Quality control is more difficult to attain due to 

exposed weather conditions 

 

 May require architectural cladding to improve 

exterior aesthetics 

 

 Less adaptable to winter construction in cold 

climates 

 

 Longer on-site construction schedule 

 

 Closer expansion joint spacing 

 

 Congestion of tendons and rebar at beam 

column joints 
 

 Larger on-site staging requirement 



 

P a g e  | 44 

Precast Concrete 

  

Advantages of Pre-Cast Construction: 

 

 Quality control because members are 

fabricated at a plant 

 

 Potentially lower construction cost in some 

regions 

 

 Shorter on-site construction schedule 

 

 Greater expansion joint spacing (up to 300 feet) 

 

 More adaptable to winter construction 

 

 Architectural façade spandrels also serve as 

structural load bearing elements 

 

Disadvantages of Pre-Cast Construction: 

 

 More propensity for leaking at the joints 

 

 Higher maintenance cost for sealants 

 

 The close spacing of thee tee stems creates the 

perception of lower ceiling height 

 

 Tee stems can block signage and interfere with 

lighting distribution 

 

 Shear walls affect architecture at the exterior 

and reduce visibility at the interior 

 

 Reduced drainage slopes 

 

 More bird roosting ledges 

 

 Might not be performed by local subcontractors 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 45 

Steel Framed 

 

 

 

 

Advantages of Steel Construction: 

 

 Flexible column spacing of 18’ to 22’ 

 

 Generally no shear walls 

 

 Can be performed by local subcontractors 

 

 Shorter on-site construction schedule 

 

 Potentially lower construction cost 

 

 Easily accommodates vertical expansion 

 

 

Disadvantages of Steel Construction: 

 

 Erection concerns due to mixing foundation, 

steel, and precast subcontractors 

 

 Not recommended where the steel is required 

to be fire rated by the building code 

 

 Depending upon code requirements, steel 

structure may need to be fireproofed 

 

 Steel painting for corrosion protection 

 

 Maintenance of steel paint system 

 

 Steel delivery times can fluctuate 

 

 Extensive bird roosting ledges on the beam 

flanges 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 46 

  

22. Durability Design 

It is recommended to perform an analysis in the schematic design phase to 

determine which durability elements should be included in the design of a 

parking structure.  These elements include sealers, deck coatings, concrete 

additives, corrosion inhibitors, and epoxy coated reinforcement.  Durable 

parking structures also require quality concrete (low water-to-cement ratio), 

adequate concrete cover, proper concrete curing, and good drainage.  

Tradeoffs between initial costs and long-term maintenance costs should be 

considered.  Enhanced durability systems should be provided in areas with 

severe exposure, such as supported structure near vehicular entries and snow 

storage areas on the roof level.  Deck coatings (membrane) are recommended 

over occupied space and over electrical and storage rooms.   

 

The design of a parking structure should at a minimum conform to the intent of 

American Concrete Institute’s Guide for the Design of Durable Parking Structures 

(ACI 362). The design life of a parking structure should be 60 years.   

 



 

P a g e  | 47 

23. Incorporating Other Land Uses 

Many cities today are encouraging or requiring the design of parking structures 

that enhance the urban environment.  Design Guidelines have been established 

that require parking structures to have level façades on the street sides (no 

exposed ramps) and pedestrian-active uses on the ground level.  Even if not 

required by local code, there has definitely been a trend away in recent years 

from stand-alone, single-purpose parking structures. The development of ground-

floor retail space in parking structures is often encouraged as even second-rate 

retail space will typically generate more income per square foot than a good 

parking space.  This is an important consideration as most new parking structures 

are not self supporting.  When selecting a site for the development of a parking 

structure, the site that offers the best possibility for ground-floor retail space 

should be an important consideration. 

 

 New parking structures should incorporate other land uses (e.g., first 

level commercial space or commercial/residential space wrapping 

one or more sides) whenever physically/financially possible. 

 

 First level commercial space will increase first level floor-to-floor heights 

and may necessitate adjustments to the structure’s ramping scheme 

(e.g., inclusion of non-parkable speed ramps). 

 

 Designs should minimize the impact of commercial space on the first 

level circulation system. 

 

 Designs may need to consider loading dock space and garbage 

space in the parking structure. 

 

 Restaurant space will need adequate ventilation, which may impact 

parking efficiency on the levels above the space. 

 

 Entry/exit locations should be adequately positioned to account for 

adjacent traffic patterns and roadway conditions.  Entry/exits should 

provide for easy identification and access from adjacent streets. 



 

P a g e  | 48 

 

 Parking demand for the integrated commercial/residential land uses 

should be included in the parking supply and demand analysis for the 

structure. 

 

 If there is no current market for additional commercial space, the 

parking facility could be designed to accommodate additional land 

uses in the future when market conditions warrant. 



 

P a g e  | 49 

24. Other Considerations 

There are other aspects of parking structure design that will not be specifically 

addressed but should be kept in mind, including: 

 

 Zoning Requirements (permitted uses, setbacks, easements, etc.) 

 Building Code Compliance  

 Subsurface Conditions and Foundations 

 Aesthetics 

 Fire Rating, Fire Protection and Life Safety 

 Mechanical Systems 

 Storm Drainage and Water Storage 

 Parking Access and Revenue Control Equipment 

 Impact of Mixed Uses (retail, residential and office) 

 Parking Office Requirements 

 Maintenance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

P a g e  | 50 

25. Sustainable Parking Operations and Management  

This chapter identifies the many areas that can be addressed when a program 

wishes to enhance the sustainability of their parking operations program. Ideas 

are presented for the parking operator or owner to consider, whether the 

parking system includes one or multiple facilities, and whether it is an established 

system or a new one.     

In the introduction to the Green Parking Garage Certification manual it is noted 

that “as an asset class and building type, historically parking has lagged in the 

sustainability movement. Yet, parking and mixed‐use structures constitute a 

substantial portion of the built environment. Additionally, parking and 

transportation have significant environmental impacts, especially regarding 

carbon emissions, pollution, and fuel consumption.” 

Parking sits at the critical intersection of the built environment and transportation 

modes. As such, parking structures create new opportunities to advance 

sustainability – both in how we plan, design, and maintain parking structures (the 

built environment) and our commuting and travel options (transportation 

modes). 

Note: A more comprehensive discussion of these concepts as well as a 

structured approach to developing a parking operations and management 

program that is designed to meet specific sustainability goals can be found in 

the book “The Sustainability of Parking” jointly published by the International 

Parking Institute and the National Parking Association.  (See CHAPTER 5, 

Sustainable Parking Operations and Management.) 

It should be noted that, while this chapter references programs geared toward 

reducing greenhouse gasses and other climate change related issues, we are 

not saying that carbon emission reductions is necessarily the ultimate goal, but 

that it is one example of “measurable outcomes” if your program has adopted a 

climate change based philosophy.  Many other ways to quantify sustainable 

parking and transportation program impacts exist and more are being 

developed as these programs evolve. 



 

P a g e  | 51 

26. Sustainable Parking Operation and Management Checklist 

The following check list of sustainable parking and transportation demand 

management strategies was developed after reviewing several current texts on 

this topic as well as reviewing programs such as LEED, Green Globes and the 

Green Parking Council. This checklist provides a wide range of options in a 

number of categories designed to promote: 

 Increased energy efficiency and performance 

 Reduced environmental impact 

 Efficient parking space management 

 Integrated sustainable mobility services and technologies 

 Enhanced performance as mobility hub 

 Stronger community relationships 
 

The Green Parking Council uses a standard that is organized into four major 

categories: Management. Programming Technology/Structure Design and 

Innovations. 

 Management highlights ways in which garage operations can maximize 

the use of a parking asset while minimizing waste. Embracing these 

practices ensures facility staff utilizes resources to their full potential. 

 Programming guides garages to new revenue sources, greater customer 

satisfaction and stronger community relations. Green garage programs 

ensure effective vehicle ingress/egress, provide access to alternative 

mobility solutions, and leverage the garage’s potential as a public space. 

 Technology and Structure Design outlines the physical attributes a garage 

can deploy to increase energy efficiency, lower waste and support 

customer mobility choice. 

 Innovations focuses on emerging sustainability initiatives and concepts 

that while not yet in the mainstream usage provide creative ideas and 

inspiration for potential future adoption. 

 



 

P a g e  | 52 

The Sustainable Parking Operation and Management Checklist is organized into 

the following categories: 

1. Planning  

2. Parking Management 

3. Facility Design/Layout 

4. Demand Reduction / Transportation Demand Management (TDM) 

5. Alternative Transportation Support Programs 

6. Wayfinding and Parking Guidance 

7. Use of Recyclables 

8. Energy Savings/Generation Strategies 

9. Water Management 

10. Facility Maintenance and Cleaning 

11. Electric Vehicle Charging  

12. Green Garages 

 

1. Planning 

 Integrated Parking and Transportation Planning 

 Develop a parking strategic plan in conjunction with a larger 

community-wide transportation plan 

 Parking Requirements or Guidelines 

 Ensure parking requirements or guidelines (where exempt) are 

appropriate and “right-sized” for the environment 

 Flexible Zoning Code Standards  

 Adopt flexible zoning code standards that take multiple factors into 

account 

 Environment Specific Parking Ratios 

 Develop a parking space-to-gross square foot (GSF) ratio goal that 

reflects “essential need” 

 Use the target ratio in parking planning appropriate for the 

environment 

 Shared Parking 

 Promote shared parking whenever possible  



 

P a g e  | 53 

 Utilize the ULI “Shared Parking Model” to promote the “rightsizing” 

of parking development, (taking advantage of complementary 

peak parking accumulation patterns by certain combinations of 

land-uses when the parking resources can be effectively shared. 

 Encourage and design parking facilities to support shared parking 

 Parking Location Planning 

 Consider providing public parking in locations that strategically 

supports an area or district 

 Plan for some additional public supply when a new development is 

created to anticipate adaptive reuse and in-fill projects in the area 

 Strategically consider the proximity of parking facilities to transit 

resources to promote a “Park Once” environment. 

 Life Cycle Cost Assessment 

 Conducting a life cycle cost assessment especially of durability 

design elements, may increase initial facility development costs, 

but can provide significant savings in terms of long-term life cycle 

costs for a parking facility. 

2. Parking Management 

 Charge for Parking 

 Charging market rates for parking makes the public aware of the 

fact that parking is never free and promotes consideration of 

alternative 

 Implement “Demand-Based Parking Pricing” strategies 

 Coordinate on and off-street parking rates 

 Set pricing for on-street parking to promote short-term, high 

turnover parking 

 Set off-street pricing to encourage longer-term parking 

 Develop a parking allocation program based on “essential need”.  

 The way we allocate our resources gets to heart of a parking 

program’s philosophy and core principles. If sustainability is 

considered a core value, then decisions related to parking 

resource allocation should reflect sustainability principles. For 

example, at the Seattle Children’s Hospital, all parking is provided 



 

P a g e  | 54 

only on a daily fee basis (monthly parking charges were eliminated. 

With no sunk costs related to monthly parking passes, other 

commute options are encouraged. 

 Develop parking policies designed to meet the needs of multiple 

parking patron types (i.e. commercial, retail, residential, etc.) 

 Reserved Parking Areas 

 In general the use of “reserved parking” is discouraged in that it 

promotes inefficiency in utilizing available resources and limits the 

ability to share and over-sell spaces 

 Implement or expand reserved areas for car/vanpools 

 Implement or expand reserved areas for hybrid/low emission 

vehicles 

 Discounted Parking Rates and special offers 

 Offer “Clean Air Car Discounts” or “Green Parking Permits” (i.e., 

reduced parking rates) for car/vanpools 

 Offer “Clean Air Car Discounts” or “Green Parking Permits” (i.e., 

reduced parking rates) for hybrid/low emission vehicles 

 Technology 

 Help drivers exit the garage with little or no idle time with traffic 

control (i.e. pay-on-foot kiosks, automatic vehicle identification 

(AVI) technology, etc.) 

 Evaluate space availability systems to reduce the search time for 

spaces within parking facilities 

 Special Programs / Events 

 Participate in annual events such as “Parking Day” to promote 

awareness of program alternatives 

 Offer tire inflation stations to encourage proper tire pressure which 

can contribute to increased fuel economy 

 Work with local TMAs or Transit Agencies to develop and promote 

“Transportation Fairs” or other community-based programs to 

educate and encourage the use of transportation alternatives 

 



 

P a g e  | 55 

3. Facility Design/Layout 

 Facility Design 

 Consider “Green Roofs” (vegetation), “Blue Roofs” (retains water), 

or “Cool Roofs” (roof coated with a light colored, solar reflective 

materials) 

 Facility Lighting 

 Light with energy-efficient fixtures / Reevaluate lighting types 

(consider replacement with LED or fluorescent lights to reduce 

power usage) 

 Develop a fluorescent lamp recycling program 

 Stain or paint interior parking garage surfaces to maximize 

reflectivity and enhance facility lighting without increasing energy 

costs 

 Consider the use of sensors/timers to reduce light levels in certain 

zones when not in use, or during daylight hours 

 Evaluate individually powered solar parking lot lights 

 Parking Layout 

 Assess current parking space layouts, and consider options to 

maximize use of existing spaces 

 

4. Demand Reduction / Transportation Demand Management (TDM) 

 Evaluate changes to parking pricing that could reduce parking demand 

 Belong to an organized Transportation Management Association 

 Provide easy access to alternatives 

 Consider restricting parking availability 

 Offer discounted transit passes and sell them along with parking 

permits 

 Develop a “commute options” program to make patrons more 

aware of the alternatives to driving alone 

 Offer a “parking Cash-Out” option 

 Commute bonus for alternative commute—up to $65/month 

(pre-tax deduction) 



 

P a g e  | 56 

 Develop an on-line commute management system that allows 

employees to claim commute bonus, track parking charges and 

plan alternative commute trips and find carpool/vanpool partners. 

 Offer an option to the traditional “monthly parking contract” – 

Consider offering a “Parking Scratch-off Card” 

 "Unbundle" monthly parking by offering a punch card option 

instead of a traditional access card 

 Drivers only pay for days they drive 

 Creates an incentive to consider alternatives to driving 

 Support Active Transportation Program Development 

 Promote zero-impact modes of travel 

 Add or expand secured parking facilities for bikes  

 Company bike or a free bike for an employee who commits to bike 

to work at least 2 days/week  

 Implement a program of providing temporary bike racks to handle 

seasonal demand peaks for bike parking. The temporary bike rack 

pictured to the right takes up only one on-street parking spaces 

 Implement or participate in promoting a bike-share program 

 Offer parking for bicycles 

 Offer bike sharing (or have one nearby) 

 

 Marketing and Communications 

 Improve marketing of transportation alternatives 

 Improve TDM marketing outreach to include direct participation in 

all new student and employee orientations 

 Solicit and convey vanpool and bus club customer testimonials 

about their positive experiences as members 

 Solicit/Expand transportation department's participation in the 

larger community “Sustainability Committees” or “Transportation 

Master Planning processes” 

 Promote an increase in funding for pretax transit and downtown 

shuttle programs 

 Generate/Expand car-sharing program participation through user-

based promotional efforts 



 

P a g e  | 57 

 Fleet Management  

 Reduce campus fleet vehicles' reliance on fossil fuels 

 Increase percentage of "alternative fuel" vehicles in fleet 

 Expand car-share fleet to meet daily vehicle trip demand of 

departments, employees, and students  

 Integrate campus or corporate fleet management with carsharing 

programs providing faculty, staff, and students with instant access 

to a fleet of vehicles within walking distance from campus or 

downtown offices  

 Offer reserved or discounted parking for vanpool or carpool 

customers 

 Provide reserved or discounted parking for fuel efficient vehicles 

 Provide reserved or discounted parking for alternative fuel vehicles 

5. Alternative Transportation Support Programs 

 Provide or support a range of transport alternatives 

 Increase the amount and types of bike parking 

 Become a funding partner for campus or community bike rental 

programs 

 Invest in changing rooms/showers 

 Partner with bike concierge services 

 Provide reduced priced parking in remote “ride sharing” collector 

lots, supported by transit of shuttle programs 

6. Wayfinding and Parking Guidance 

 Improve parking signage and information 

 Help drivers find your parking facility more easily with enhanced 

signage and wayfinding outside of your garage 

 Consider incorporating parking availability data into external and 

internal parking signage 

 Help patrons locate available spaces more quickly and efficiently 

with internal wayfinding 

 Evaluate or implement parking guidance systems to improve 

parking efficiency 



 

P a g e  | 58 

 Develop a parking availability/location mobile device application 

to reduce the circling of vehicles 
 

7. Use of Recyclables 

 Recyclable Resources 

 Replace all light bulbs in office environments with compact 

fluorescent bulbs 

 Replace concrete parking and traffic products with those made 

from 100% recycled rubber (e.g., wheel stops, speed humps, sign 

bases, etc.) 

 Implement a parking garage lighting recycling program (especially 

if fluorescent lighting fixtures are in use.) 

 Offer recycle bins for patrons & employees 

 Purchase recycled, organic or local products 

 Recycle disposed materials, use local labor, or source local or 

recycled materials when undergoing new construction or 

renovations 

8. Energy Saving/Generation Strategies 

 Energy Related Strategies 

 Have climate controlled occupied areas (programmable 

thermostats/sensor controls) 

 Have an open air design with no ventilation system in the parking 

areas 

 Ventilate the decks with variable controlled air flow (i.e. VFD) or 

sensor activated (i.e. DCV) technology 

 Generate renewable energy (i.e. solar PV, wind turbines, 

hydroelectric)  

 Cover parking lots and garage roofs with solar panels.  
 Generate renewable energy strategies (i.e. solar PV, wind turbines, 

etc.)  
 



 

P a g e  | 59 

9. Water Management 

 Water Saving 

 Replace plumbing fixtures with water-saving fixtures 

 Use water-efficient landscaping (e.g., xeriscaping/native plants to 

reduce irrigation needs) 

 Develop a storm water management plan 

 Capture “grey water” for use in watering parking landscaped 

areas 

10. Facility Maintenance and Cleaning 

 Maintenance, Recycling and Environment Enhancements 

 Implement on-site wastewater treatment 

 Use sustainable cleaning supplies/Clean with green, non-toxic 

cleaning products 

 Apply low- or no- VOC (Volatile Organic Compound) coatings to 

all surfaces 

 Make interior spaces tobacco free 

 Add recycling containers for all facilities where they are convenient 

to patrons and staff 

11. Electric Vehicle Charging  

 Promote the use of non or reduced emission vehicles 

 Provide charging stations for electric vehicles 

 Develop electric vehicle charging system specifications 

12. Green Garages 

 Consider third party sustainability certifications, such as LEED or Green 

Globes 

 Adopt a standard that all parking construction will seek a LEED ®-based 

equivalency rating of “Silver” or better when feasible and/or Green 

Parking Council standards. 

 Adopt a standard for new garage development that solar arrays that 

generate up to 50% of the facility’s power needs must be integrated 


	7-18-16 Board Meeting Agenda
	CONSENT
	Paid Invoice Report
	Meeting Minutes 5-9-16
	Meeting Minutes 6-13-16
	Agenda Bill - Reso 1454 - Clairvoyant Brewery T1
	Reso 1454 Clairvoyant Brewing - with Attachment


	ACTION ITEMS
	Agenda Bill - Reso 1453 - 620 Remediation
	Agenda Bill- Reso 1455 - Parcel B Approval

	INFORMATION
	July Operations Report
	Central District Sunset Working Group Minutes
	Agenda Bill - Parking Structure Design Guidelines
	Parking Structure Design Guidelines_2016





